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REPORT ON OPERATIONS 
Preamble
The 2015 accounting framework is characterised by new financial statement schedules and accounting 
standards prepared for universities, following adoption of the accruals accounting required by Law 240/2010. 
This is the first experience at the national level and was, for most Italian universities, a “cultural” and technical 
turning point. For the University of Trento and several other universities that were early adopters due to the 
informative benefits of the new system, this entailed changes in the criteria for the recognition and classification 
of some items and related effects, described in the notes to the financial statements.
The most significant effects for the University of Trento arising from the adoption of the new accounting 
standards and financial statements schedules concerned:
1. the recognition of revenues (and related receivables) from tuition fees;

2. the use of accruals and deferrals for adjustments to accrued revenues arising from projects and contracts;

3. the classification of grants received according to the type of paying authority;

4. the classification of personnel costs;

5. the classification of costs for services according to the type of expenditure and the nature of the assignor;

6. the classification of IRAP tax under taxes and duties and no longer under social security contributions;

7. the classification of receivables and payables according to the status of creditor/debtor;

8. the specific recognition requirements for provisions for risks;

9. the recognition under deferred income of the grants received at the relevant time, including in relation to the 
university-owned land.

The new regulatory provisions require the financial statements that are usually prepared by the University to be 
accompanied by the reclassifications of the Income and Expenditure Account by missions and programmes and 
the Statement of Financial Accounting, as well as by a Report on operations. Pending specific instructions from 
the Ministry and/or guidance by the Commission on the accruals accounting in universities, the 2015 Report 
on operations substantially complies with the relevant statutory provisions, showing information from a more 
operational point of view in support of a better understanding of the various components of the unified financial 
statements.
The introduction of the accruals accounting for all state universities will make it possible, as soon as the final 
2015 accounts are available, to make useful – but heretofore impractical – comparisons, between the various 
revenue/cost structures, as well as of the various capital and financial profiles. This transaction should provide 
important elements about the possibility of building key profitability, liquidity and capital ratios for the sector, 
which to date are not yet available.

Analysis of  the performance and results of  operations 
The 2015 financial year closed with a profit for the year of Euro 2.6 million (Euro -1 million compared to the 
previous year), substantially in line with the average results recorded in the last five years. Higher financial costs 
were not offset by increased operating revenues (about Euro +2.6 million, equal to +1.4%) and reduced, albeit 
limited, operating costs (Euro -0.5 million), and, in fact, they increased by about Euro 3.7 million (+42.2%).

Operating revenues 
Positive changes were recorded in own revenues, and in particular in that arising from tuition fees and revenues 
from research for competitive projects.
Fees and dues passed from Euro 20.6 million to Euro 21.5 million (+4.6%). Overall, the student population was 
stable, with around 16,000-16,500 enrolments a year, even though the component of students enrolled in the 
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master’s degree (“laurea magistrale”) programme involving higher tuition dues, is growing (they passed from 
2,957- 19.5% in the academic year 2008/2009 to 3,703 – 22.4% in the academic year 2014/2015). Also tuition 
fees were largely unchanged. One explanation for the increase in revenues is the progressive shift of students 
to higher tuition fee programmes, as defined on the basis of the ICEF (Indicatore della Condizione Economica 
Familiare, Family Economic Status Indicator) indicator, and, to an increasingly lesser extent, to the exit from the 
system of students still linked to the older tuition system. However, average fees per student were in line with 
those recorded at national level.
Academic year Italy1 UniTrento
2009/2010 1,170.57 1,024.34
2010/2011 1,239.84 1,156.84
2011/2012 1,283.78 1,252.35
2012/2013 1,323.39 1,304.36
2013/2014 1,357.23 1,353.95
2014/2015 n.a. 1,376.12

Source: MIUR - Statistics Office: Survey on Tuition Fees: processed by Ufficio Studi UniTrento)
1 including non-state universities 

A portion of revenues from fees and dues was used to set aside the provision for merit awards. In 2015 part 
of the resources allocated for merit awards, in agreement with student representatives, was used to fund new 
student services (primarily international mobility, job placement services, language training and the addition of 
new courses). The accounting effects of this transaction will be recognised in the accounts in future financial 
years, at the time when these programmes will be implemented 
Another reason for changes in fees and dues was an increase in revenues arising from other educational 
activities (e.g.: single courses, admission tests, advanced courses, etc.).
Income from competitive research funding passed from Euro 14.5 million to Euro 15.4 million (+6.4%). Positive 
changes essentially arose from EU research funding (Euro +1 million) and other research grants awarded by the 
MIUR (Ministero dell’istruzione, dell’Università e della Ricerca, Ministry of Education, Universities and Research) 
(Euro +0.6 million). The increases were due, on one side, to the effects of the funding opportunities made 
available by Horizon 2020, the scientific research and innovation programme of the European Commission 
that provides funding for research projects or actions designed to develop innovative processes and services 
and that is, simultaneously, an opportunity for the production system and helps to improve people’s lives. On 
1 December 2014, in fact, the first 100 Horizon 2020 calls closed, which funded 4,315 projects at a European 
level in 2015, with an average success rate of about 14% in Europe and about 12% in Italy. Despite growing 
competitive pressures in securing funding at an international level, the University was still able to obtain funds 
for 12 cooperation projects (acting as a coordinator for 2 of them) and 4 Marie Sklodowska Curie scholarships 
for research abroad, with a success rate in line with the national one (11.75%). The fact of having been awarded 
ERC (European Research Council) grants (POC, Proof of Concept – Professor Pugno) confirms the leading 
position of the University of Trento as Italian Host Institution selected by Italian and foreign researchers for 
carrying out their research project financed within the calls launched by the European Research Council.
Revenues from EU research grants account for 72.2% of total competitive research funding grants. This result 
seems to reflect quite closely the national context where, in fact, government funding for research activities is in 
a state of relative freeze. Only at the end of 2015 was the MIUR-PRIN (Progetti di Rilevante Interesse Nazionale, 
Projects of Significant National Interest) calls launched, with about Euro 92 million to fund research activities 
characterised by close cooperation among universities, research entities and other research organisations (both 
public and private), as well as by greater attention to the diffusion and dissemination of results.
Evidence of the positive spill-over of research funding on scientific production is the significant ranking of the 
University of Trento at the national and international level. Specifically, in 2015 the University ranked 198th, thus 
qualifying for the first time as one of the top 200 world universities according to the prestigious Times Higher 
Education (THE) classification.
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Grants, which increased by about Euro 2.7 million between 2014 and 2015, accounted for 74.5% of operating 
revenues. The increase was partly due to the MIUR awarding the “Fondo Giovani” (Young People Fund) and by 
the funding granted by the Autonomous Province of Trento. Although the new Planning Policy Guidelines (Atto di 
Indirizzo), which were signed in 2015, left the total amount of grants relatively unchanged, it also provided for the 
consolidation of personnel costs previously incurred within the programmes financed by the related quota (Euro 
2.8 million) for the first time.

Operating costs 
Personnel costs, which make up the most significant cost aggregate under total operating costs, rose by 0.8%, 
passing from Euro 90.6 million to Euro 91.4 million, including now also the cost of employees who, even though 
they participate in the University’s activities, are not permanent staff. The main cost items concerning research 
and teaching staff are made up of those concerning teaching staff and assistant professors (Euro 46.3 million, 
equal to 71.3% of total costs) and scientific assistants (Euro 13.2 million, equal to 20.4%).
The cost of teaching staff and assistant professors remained almost stable, even though the composition 
in terms of tiers/roles changed significantly, as direct consequence of the Extraordinary Plan for Associate 
Professors (Piano Straordinario Associati) and of the implementation of Law 240/2010 and the consequent 
implementation of a recruitment model based mainly on fixed-term assistant professors and the phase-out of 
the previous assistant professor roles.
The table below shows the comparison in terms of the number of teaching staff members and related 
breakdown by tiers/role between Italian Universities and the University of Trento in 2011 and 2015, respectively.

Title 
2011 2015

Italy UniTrento UniTrento/ 
Italy

Italy UniTrento UniTrento/ 
ItalyNo. % No. % No. % No. %

Full Professor 15,294 26.4% 179 31.8% 1.2% 13,178 24.1% 178 30.3% 1.4%
Associate Professor 16,608 28.6% 179 31.8% 1.1% 20,050 36.6% 254 43.3% 1.3%
Assistant Professor 26,138 45.0% 205 36.4% 0.8% 21,552 39.3% 155 26.4% 0.7%
Total 58,040 100.0% 563 100.0% 1.0% 54,780 100.0% 587 100.0% 1.1%

Source: Cineca, Ufficio Docenti

Since 2011 the university system has lost more than 3,000 professors due to the nearly total hiring freeze, which 
was considerably limited for the University thanks to the specific measures provided for in the Stability Pact 
entered into with the Autonomous Province of Trento. In Italy the effects of this restriction is clear in the change 
in the number of full professors (retired professors are not replaced). The decrease in the number of assistant 
professors can be explained both with the limits placed by the restriction and with the Extraordinary Plan for 
Associate Professors, which channelled personnel toward the higher qualification of associate professor.
For the University of Trento, thanks to the hiring freeze close to 100%, the numbers between 2011 and 2015 
increased but the composition appeared (as a result of the Extraordinary Plan for Associate Professors only) 
even more tilted between tiers I and II with respect to assistant professors. On the other hand, it should be 
stressed that, with the introduction of fixed-term contracts for up to eight years for assistant professors entering 
the system, it is natural for the number of assistant professors to be lower than that of associate professors.
The cost for scientific assistants is made up of research grants (accounting for 73.3% of total costs) and other 
types of these agreements. The total cost of grants increased by Euro 0.8 million between 2014 and 2015.  
This figure is also evident in the table below, which reports the number of research fellows compared to the data 
recorded at national level based on the ratio to total professors.
If the number of research fellows is also increased in Italy over time, the (relative) positive change is more in 
favour of the University of Trento, which invests grants for this type of staff under both competitive and  
non-competitive funding schemes.
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Year Title Italy UniTrento

2011
Research fellows 17,883 221

Professors 58,040 563
Fellows/Professors 30.81% 39.25%

2014
Research fellows 21,410 424

Professors 54,780 587
Fellows/Professors 39.08% 72.23%

2015
Research fellows n.a. 452

Professors n.a. 587
Fellows/Professors n.a. 77.00%

As regards financial income and costs, an increase of more than Euro 4 million (+35.0%) was recorded in the 
charges incurred for discounting of receivables, whose expected date of collection is beyond twelve months. As 
mentioned above, this item contributed to reduce the result for the year.

Balance Sheet assets and liabilities 
The most significant operating items reported in the Balance Sheet showed a reduction in fixed assets and an 
increase in current assets, on the asset side, and an increase in net assets and a decrease in payables on the 
liability side.
Net property, plant and equipment decreased by about Euro 7.2 million (-3.7%), against an increase in intangible 
assets (Euro +1.7 million as a result of leasehold improvements for assets under development and payments on 
account), mainly due to accrued depreciation that was well above the increases recorded during the period.
The main interventions that have been reported under the positive changes described above concerned, among 
other things, the “Fabio Ferrari” Science and Technology District, where building works were completed and 
the systems were installed which were required for the operation of the CIBIO (Centro di Biologia Integrata, 
Centre for Integrative Biology) and Industrial Engineering research laboratories. Furthermore, operations were 
completed for the first most complex lot of works under the Manifatture Tabacchi – Rovereto project, i.e. 
those that involved the building 14 where the new laboratories and research spaces of the CiMeC (Centro 
Interdipartimentale Mente/Cervello, Center for Mind/Brain Sciences) have been established.
Receivables under current assets passed from Euro 189.0 million to Euro 218.4 million (Euro +29.5 million, i.e. 
+15.6%) due to the combined effect of:
• an additional increase in receivables due from the Autonomous Province of Trento (Euro +21.1 million, equal 

to 11.6%) as a result of the failure to pay grants, mostly those from the Planning Policy Guidelines;
• the recognition of receivables from students for the amount of fees still to be paid (second instalment), which 

were not recognized before the adoption of the new accounting standards (Euro +9.0 million);
• an increase in receivables from others (private parties). 

Changes in net assets were such as to set off, for the most part, the changes of opposite sign recorded 
in provisions for risks and charges. The higher “capitalisation”, in fact, was due to the reclassification of a 
considerable amount of provisions for risks previously set aside as a result of the application of new accounting 
standards.
Against reclassifications of provisions of about Euro 26.7 million, an amount of Euro 15 million was recognised 
as an increase in restricted reserves and non-restricted assets, while the remaining portion was recognised for 
operations connected to the management of capital grants.

Risks and uncertainties 
It is a well-known fact that the transfer of the relevant responsibility from the University of Trento to the 
Autonomous Province of Trento called for the latter to bear all the costs for the same functions as quantified 
in the implementing measure (Legislative Decree 142/2011). The same regulation permits the University to 
participate, on a par with all the other state universities, in the allocation of state incentive funds. However, in the 
implementation phase it became clear that the actual disbursement of the funds awarded was not carried out, 
both because the ministerial measures did not consider our University as one of the beneficiaries (for example 
the inter-ministerial decree issued on 28 December 2012 in relation to “Extraordinary plan for the recruitment of 
second-tier professors”) and because the auditing bodies challenged the lawfulness of the ministerial measures 
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that consider our University as one of the beneficiaries of these incentives (e.g. the recently-issued Ministerial 
Decree no. 78 of 28 February 2016 – 2016 extraordinary plan for the recruitment of fixed-term assistant 
professors).
The University of Trento filed an appeal with the Regional Administrative Court (Tribunale Amministrativo 
Regionale, TAR) against the Ministerial Decree bearing the “Extraordinary plan for the recruitment of second-
tier professors”, considering it as impinging on the right to participate enshrined in the implementing measure 
(Article 5, paragraph 2, of Legislative Decree 142). The rising expectation to bring to an end – successfully for 
the University – the long-drawn negotiations between university and Autonomous province, MIUR and MEF 
(Ministero dell’Economia e delle Finanze, Ministry of Economy and Finance) as an alternative to a decision by the 
competent jurisdictional authority on the proper application of the principle of participation, go hand in hand with 
the uncertainty generated on recruiting activities, among others. This situation is particularly significant in this 
phase and, among other things, the University should make its choice during 2016 in the matter of three-year 
staff planning.
Another situation of uncertainty concerns the receivables from the Autonomous Province of Trento as the 
funding related to the awarded grants have not been transferred yet. So far the University has met its cash 
requirements thanks to the use of reserves (merely financial reserves) – arising from the provisions for merit 
grants, the provisions set aside for special requirements (now transformed into capital reserves) and the 
substantial available funds generated by the acquisition of EU-funded projects and coped with a slowdown 
in the implementation of building plans. However, a large quantity of these resources is expected to be used 
for operating outlays and the start of the building plan, approved by the Board of Directors, as required by the 
Planning Policy Guidelines. It was agreed that after the closing of the accounts a repayment plan would be 
implemented, consistent with the University’s financial requirements, that would stabilise cash inflows and set 
additional annual instalments for the repayment of cumulative receivables outstanding.
Complex are also the changes in the regulatory framework concerning all public authorities which disregards 
the specificity of the research world and the needs of international competition. These issues affect heavily the 
performance of the University because they imply lower funding and greater costs due to the complexity of 
procedures, offset only in part by the alleged benefits, as well as, most of all, the diminished ability to compete 
in scientific production, which affects extensively the ranking of the University, the funding allocated by the State 
to our University and the receipt of competitive funding. Finally, some effects are not negligible, which arise from 
the obligations recently provided for as regards procurement, and in particular the effects on the possibility of 
selecting suppliers of essential services independently. 
The growth rates of personnel costs cannot be forecast in the medium term, as they are linked to the automatic 
“ISTAT [Istituto Nazionale di Statistica, National Statistics Institute] index adjustment” mechanism as regards 
teaching staff members and to national collective bargaining as regards technical and administrative staff.  
As the ISTAT index adjustment to which teaching staff members’ salaries are linked reflects any increase in pay 
for public servants, today the situation seems still “stuck” at the 2011 levels.

Relations with subsidiary or associated entities 
Although it does not meet the definition of subsidiary and associated entities according to the statutory 
provisions, it is worth noting that, during 2015, a key agreement was entered into with Fondazione Edmund 
Mach (FEM) to establish the Centro Agricoltura Alimentazione Ambiente (Agriculture, Food and Environment 
Centre). The University intends to start with the Foundation common research and education activities in 
food, genetics applied to agriculture and the environment with training projects in the field of wine-making and 
viticulture (with the creation of the three-year degree based entirely in Trento which, when fully operational, will 
see the attendance of 250 students) and the integration into the University of PHD programmes already active 
in the Foundation, as well as the development of other training projects in the future in the key fields in which 
the Mach Foundation operates. The commitment to the joint project developed by the Foundation in terms of 
resources allocated to the academic staff alone will exceed Euro 0.5 million a year as early as 2017.
The year just ended saw the University’s disengagement from the Trento Rise Association, which is now in 
liquidation and the participation in the Hub Innovazione Trentino (HIT) consortium, which pursues the objective 
of implementing a single platform for the entire research system in the Trentino region (University of Trento, 
FBK [Fondazione Bruno Kessler], FEM) for innovation and entrepreneurship, with the participation of Trentino 
Sviluppo S.p.A.. Moreover, the consortium intends to build a common base for the joint participation in large 
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European projects in the field of innovation (European Institute of Innovation & Technology). Operational 
procedures were started after the end of the financial year for the winding-up of the Create-Net association, 
which are expected to be completed at the end of 2016.

Outlook 
The main factors that will affect future operations include:
1. the choices made within the long-term strategic plan that the University’s governing bodies started in April 

2016. Obviously new development actions (if any) shall necessarily include medium-term economic and 
financial sustainability assessments;

2. decisions in the area of planning by teaching staff for the three-year period from 2016 to 2018, with the 
uncertainty, outlined above, of University of Trento’s access to specific incentive funds provided by the MIUR 
and with the measures to contribute to fulfil the obligations provided for in the provincial stability pact, which 
are still to be formalised;

3. the reaching of a fully operational stage by the new system to attribute three-year salary raises for teaching 
staff on an evaluation basis. This event will entail a foreseeable increase, albeit limited, in personnel costs;

4. the revision of the student tuition model, which should become operational starting from the academic year 
2017/2018, accompanied by the adjustment of the operational systems and an adequate communication 
campaign intended for the student community;

5. the development of the building plan which would likely lead to the opening of the new University’s central 
library, “Alle Albere”, by 2016, the award of the works for the construction of the new DICAM (Dipartimento 
di Ingegneria Civile, Ambientale e Meccanica, Civil, Environmental and Mechanical Engineering Department) 
library in Mesiano and additional significant investments at the Ex Manifatture Tabacchi complex in Rovereto.

Significant events after the end of  the year 
As indicated in the 2015-2018 Planning Policy Guidelines for the University and research, in early 2016 the 
Autonomous Province undertook formally, based on the upcoming amendments to the rules on balanced 
budgets expected in 2016, to agree with the University on a multi-year repayment plan for outstanding 
receivables. At the same time, the Provincial Government’s commitment is aimed at bringing the annual 
distributable cash flows into line with provisions set aside on an accruals basis in its financial statements, thus 
limiting the growth rates of debt positions recorded in particular in the last three-year period.
The year also saw the completion of the delivery of the publications of the 2011-2014 Research Assessment 
Exercise (Valutazione della Qualità della Ricerca, VQR), coordinated by ANVUR (Agenzia Nazionale di Valutazione 
del sistema Universitario e della Ricerca, National Agency for the Evaluation of the University system and 
Research) and aimed at assessing the findings of scientific research carried out by universities and research 
institutes during the period from 2011 to 2014. The results should be presented in due time for the award of the 
2017 FFO (Fondo di Finanziamento Ordinario, Ordinary Financing Fund).
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BALANCE SHEET
ASSETS

31.12.2015 31.12.2014
Amounts in Euro Amounts in Euro

A) Non-current assets
I. Intangible assets

1) Start-up, expansion and development costs - -
2) Patent and intellectual property rights - -
3) Concessions, licences, trademarks and similar rights 35,507 63,503
4) Assets under development and payments on account 1,302,496 797,774
5) Other intangible assets 59,321,866 58,073,255

TOTAL 60,659,869 58,934,532
II. Property, plant and equipment

1) Land and buildings 159,000,417 163,706,459
2) Plant and equipment 25,498,605 26,115,483
3) Scientific equipment 5,091,416 5,347,473
4) Library assets, works of art, antique and museum works 55,700 55,700
5) Furniture and fittings 1,232,000 1,378,386
6) Assets under construction and payments on account 226,280 1,731,125
7) Other property, plant and equipment 50,411 67,218

TOTAL 191,154,829 198,401,844
III. Financial assets

1) Equity investments - -
TOTAL - -

TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS (A) 251,814,698 257,336,376

B) Current assets
I. Inventories - -

TOTAL - -
II. Receivables

1) Due from MIUR and other central Authorities 783,663 2,477,244
2) Due from Regions and Autonomous Provinces 202,629,664 181,531,638

2a) Due from Regions - -
2b) Due from the Autonomous Province of Bolzano - -
2c) Due from the Autonomous Province of Trento 202,629,664 181,531,638

3) Due from other Local Authorities 1,235,287 1,629,029
4) Due from the European Union and other International Organisations 97,896 79,544
5) Due from Universities 599,110 389,943
6) Due from students for fees and dues 9,050,463 -
7) Due from subsidiary companies and entities - -
8) Other receivables (due from public entities) 8,076 8,076
9) Other receivables (due from private parties) 4,015,668 2,806,893

TOTAL 218,419,827 188,922,367
III. Financial assets 800 -

TOTAL 800 -
IV. Cash and cash equivalents

1) Bank and postal deposits 21,730 872,027
2) Cash on hand 10,190 14,422

TOTAL 31,920 886,449

TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS (B) 218,452,547 189,808,816

C) Accrued income and prepaid expenses
c1) Accrued income for ongoing projects and research 7,811,036 8,670,629
c2) Other accrued income and prepaid expenses 858,301 1,507,922

TOTAL 8,669,337 10,178,551

TOTAL ACCRUED INCOME AND PREPAID EXPENSES (C) 8,669,337 10,178,551
TOTAL ASSETS 478,936,582 457,323,743

Memorandum accounts 142,709,914 5,198,656
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LIABILITIES
31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Amounts in Euro Amounts in Euro
A) Net assets

I. University endowment fund 495,091 495,091
TOTAL 495,091 495,091

II. Restricted assets
1) Third-party restricted funds - -
2) Restricted funds as decided by institutional bodies - -
3) Restricted reserves (for specific projects, legal obligations, or other reasons) 4,000,000 -

TOTAL 4,000,000 -
III. Unrestricted assets 

1) Operating result for the year 2,632,226 3,612,226
2) Operating results relating to previous years 54,215,739 39,165,237

2a) Prior-years results 42,777,463 39,165,237
2b) FTA reserve for the accounting standards of Universities (Ministerial Decree 19/2014) 11,438,276

3) Reserves required by the Statute - -
TOTAL 56,847,965 42,777,463
TOTAL NET ASSETS (A) 61,343,056 43,272,554

B) Provisions for risks and charges
I. Provisions for risks and charges 31,037,817 54,415,176

TOTAL 31,037,817 54,415,176

C) Employee severance pay
I. Employee severance pay 387,827 364,605

TOTAL 387,827 364,605

D) Payables
I. Payables

1) Mortgages and Due to banks 25,158,316 25,000,000
2) Due to MIUR and other central Authorities 5,444,249 3,618,661
3) Due to Regions and Autonomous Provinces 198,664 4,057,240

3a) Due to Regions - -
3b) Due to the Autonomous Province of Bolzano - -
3c) Due to the Autonomous Province of Trento 198,664 4,057,240

4) Due to other local Authorities 2,444,929 665,501
5) Due to the European Union and other International Organisations 3,328 6,461
6) Due to Universities 852,862 763,137
7) Due to students 235,658 2,855,259
8) Advances - -
9) Due to suppliers 10,374,549 11,447,878
10) Due to employees 2,532,362 1,701,946
11) Due to subsidiary companies or entities - -
12) Other payables 4,986,141 4,734,167

TOTAL 52,231,058 54,850,250

E) Accrued expenses and deferred income and investments grants
I. Accrued expenses and deferred income and investment grants 

e1) Deferred income for ongoing projects and research 25,439,384 27,225,540
e2) Investment grants 251,814,698 243,866,496
e3) Other Accrued expenses and deferred income 56,682,742 33,329,122

TOTAL 333,936,824 304,421,158
TOTAL LIABILITIES 478,936,582 457,323,743

Memorandum accounts 142,709,914 5,198,656
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INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT 
31.12.2015 31.12.2014

Amounts in Euro Amounts in Euro
A) OPERATING REVENUES 

I. OWN REVENUES 
1) Revenues from teaching 22,187,239 21,485,587
2) Revenues from commissioned Research projects and technology transfer 5,530,079 5,876,306
3) Revenues from competitive Research funding 15,428,720 14,504,788

TOTAL OWN REVENUES 43,146,038 41,866,681
II. GRANTS

1) Grants from MIUR and other central Authorities 1,277,538 2,495,035
2) Grants from Regions and Autonomous Provinces 128,606,240 125,650,579
3) Grants from other Local Authorities 1,987,535 1,580,334
4) Grants from the European Union and other International Organisations 1,407,997 1,213,766
5) Grants from Universities 360,669 335,450
6) Grants from others (public entities) - -
7) Grants from others (private entities) 4,203,609 3,821,288

TOTAL GRANTS 137,843,588 135,096,452
III. REVENUES FOR WELFARE ACTIVITIES - -
IV. REVENUES FOR DIRECT MANAGEMENT OF RIGHT TO EDUCATION PROJECTS - -
V. OTHER SUNDRY REVENUES AND INCOME 4,055,038 5,513,495
VI. CHANGE IN INVENTORIES - -
VII. CAPITALISATION OF INTERNAL CONSTRUCTION COSTS - -

TOTAL REVENUES (A) 185,044,664 182,476,628
B) OPERATING COSTS 
  VIII. PERSONNEL COSTS 

1) Costs for research and teaching staff 65,296,396 64,663,546
a) professors/assistant professors 46,577,836 46,315,562
b) scientific assistants (collaborators, research fellows, etc.) 13,322,645 13,207,428
c) professors under fixed-term contracts 1,516,679 1,416,510
d) language experts 1,488,537 1,507,576
e) other teaching and research staff 2,390,699 2,216,470

2) Costs for managerial and technical-administrative staff 26,055,888 25,926,748
TOTAL PERSONNEL COSTS 91,352,284 90,590,294
IX. COSTS FROM CURRENT OPERATIONS 

1) Student support costs 18,767,327 21,650,716
2) Right to education costs - -
3) Research and publishing costs 1,412,298 1,657,293
4) Transfers of coordinated projects to partners - -
5) Purchase of consumables for laboratories 2,666,605 2,275,528
6) Change in inventories of consumables for laboratories - -
7) Purchase of books, magazines and bibliographical material 2,864,309 156,470
8) Purchase of services and technical-managerial assistance 19,891,787 19,024,665
9) Purchase of other materials 1,974,228 1,503,685
10) Change in inventories of materials - -
11) Leases and rentals 1,574,933 1,803,911
12) Other costs 6,950,207 7,075,314

TOTAL COSTS FROM CURRENT OPERATIONS 56,101,694 55,147,582
X. DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION AND WRITE-DOWNS

1) Amortisation 2,307,399 3,660,893
2) Depreciation 12,574,968 13,627,003
3) Write-downs of non-current assets - -
4) Write-down of current receivables and of cash and cash equivalents 1,428,023 2,162

TOTAL DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION AND WRITE-DOWNS 16,310,390 17,290,058
XI. PROVISIONS FOR RISHS AND CHARGES 8,325 1,297,064
XII. SUNDRY OPERATING EXPENSES 297,062 271,904

TOTAL OPERATING COSTS (B) 164,069,755 164,596,902
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31.12.2015 31.12.2014
Amounts in Euro Amounts in Euro

DIFFERENCE BETWEEN OPERATING REVENUES AND COSTS (A-B) 20,974,909 17,879,726
C) FINANCIAL INCOME AND CHARGES 

1) Financial income 3,850,954 3,192,568
2) Interest and other financial charges (16,363,240) (11,994,605)
3) Foreign exchange gains and losses (10,260) (3,137)

TOTAL FINANCIAL INCOME AND CHARGES (12,522,546) (8,805,174)
D) VALUE ADJUSTMENTS TO FINANCIAL ASSETS

1) Revaluations - -
2) Write-downs - -

TOTAL VALUE ADJUSTMENTS TO FINANCIAL ASSETS - -
E) EXTRAORDINARY INCOME AND CHARGES 

1) Income 96,901 315,684
2) Charges (115,132) (250,309)

TOTAL EXTRAORDINARY INCOME AND CHARGES (18,231) 65,375
F) CURRENT, DEFERRED AND PREPAID INCOME TAXES (5,801,906) (5,527,701)
NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 2,632,226 3,612,226

CASH FLOW STATEMENT
CASH FLOW USED IN/GENERATED FROM CURRENT OPERATIONS (4,403,196)
NET RESULT 2,632,226
Adjustment to items that have had no effect on liquidity 
AMORTISATION, DEPRECIATION AND WRITE-DOWNS 16,318,715
NET CHANGE IN PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES (23,377,359)
NET CHANGE IN EMPLOYEE SEVERANCE PAY 23,222
CASH FLOW USED IN/GENERATED FROM CHANGES IN CAPITAL (8,066,843)
(INCREASE) DECREASE IN RECEIVABLES (30,925,483)
(INCREASE) DECREASE IN INVENTORIES -
(INCREASE) DECREASE IN PAYABLES (217,238)
CHANGE IN OTHER WORKING CAPITAL ITEMS 23,075,878
A) CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES (12,470,039)
INVESTMENTS IN FIXED ASSETS 
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (5,327,953)
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (4,032,736)
FINANCIAL ASSETS (8,325)
B) CASH FLOW USED IN/GENERATED FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES/DISINVESTMENTS (9,369,014)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES 
CAPITAL INCREASE 15,438,276
- FTA RESERVE FOR UNIVERSITY ACCOUNTING STANDARDS (MINISTERIAL DECREE 19/2014) 11,438,276
- RESTRICTED RESERVES (FOR SPECIFIC PROJECTS, LEGAL OBLIGATIONS OR OTHER REASONS) 4,000,000
NET CHANGE IN MEDIUM/LONG-TERM LOANS 5,546,248
- European Investment Bank LOAN (2,401,954)
- GRANTS TO INVESTMENTS 7,948,202
C) CASH FLOW FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES 20,984,524
D) CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR (A+B+C) (854,529)
NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 886,449
NET CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF THE YEAR 31,920
CASH FLOW FOR THE YEAR (854,529)
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NOTES TO THE 2015 UNIFIED UNIVERSITY 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
These Unified University Financial Statements have been prepared by using the schedules and principles set out 
under Ministerial Decree no. 19 of 14 January 2014, which were applied to all Italian Universities with effect from 
the financial statements for the years ended after 1 January 2015.
In accordance with Article 2 of Ministerial Decree 19/2014, the Financial Statements comply with the principles 
of clarity and of a true and fair view of the financial position, cash flows and results of operations for the year.
They have been prepared on an accrual basis of accounting, which was made mandatory for all the universities 
starting from the 2015 financial year, but that has been implemented by the University of Trento since more than 
a decade.
As required by the abovementioned decree, these Unified University Financial Statements are made up of:
• Balance Sheet;
• Income and Expenditure Account;
• Cash Flow Statement;
• Notes to the 2015 Unified University Financial Statements.

Below are the Annexes attached to the Financial Statements:
• Report on operations;
• Breakdown of expenditure by missions and programmes;
• University Unified Statement of Financial Accounting;
• Statements of Income and Expenditure - SIOPE.

These Notes to the Financial Statements have a twofold purpose:
• to state the information required to be given under Ministerial Decree 19/2014, the Italian Civil Code and other 

relevant provisions of law;
• to provide any further indications necessary to give an overview of the financial position, cash flows and 

results of operations of the University, even though they are not required by specific provisions of law, for 
a better understanding of the accounting figures in the above-mentioned documents and of the basis of 
preparation used.

FIRST-TIME ADOPTION OF ACCOUNTING STANDARDS OF UNIVERSITIES 
With effect from the 2015 financial year the financial statement schedules adopted are those set out under 
Ministerial Decree 19/2014. For an analysis of performance, it has been deemed appropriate to reclassify the 
figures relating to the previous year according to the new schedules, thus ensuring their comparability.
As required by Ministerial Decree 19/2014, the first-time adoption date for the new principles set out for 
universities is 1 January 2015; therefore, any and all changes in balance sheet balances arising from the  
first-time adoption of the new accounting standards, which were previously recognised according to the 
previous accounting standards, have been charged to the specific net asset reserve set aside for this purpose.  
The comparative balance sheet and income statement balances at 31 December 2014 are still to be valued 
according to the previous accounting standards, although they have been reclassified as described in the 
previous paragraph.
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ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AND POLICIES 
The accounting standards and policies adopted in the preparation of the Financial Statements are those 
provided for in Article 4 of Ministerial Decree 19/2014, applied by considering the clarifications provided in the 
Manuale Tecnico Operativo (Technical and Operational Manual) issued by the Commissione per la Contabilità 
Economico Patrimoniale delle Università (Commission for Accruals Accounting of Universities) and, for any 
and all matters not expressly regulated, in compliance with the accounting standards issued by the Italian 
Accounting Board (Organismo Italiano di Contabilità, OIC).
The amounts below are in euros and have been rounded off to the whole number.

NON-CURRENT ASSETS
These are recognised at their cost of acquisition, including any related additional charges and less relevant 
amortisation and depreciation, amortised and depreciated on a-straight-line-basis depending on the nature of 
the items and their possible estimated useful lives. Non-deductible VAT is expensed to increase the cost of the 
asset to which it relates.
During the year of purchase, non-current assets are amortised and depreciated at a reduced 50% rate, as the 
average date of activation is assumed to be in mid-year.
The amortisation rates applied to the various items of intangible assets are:

INTANGIBLE ASSETS
Type of investment Amortisation rate
Concessions, licences, trademarks and similar rights 20.00
Owned software 33.33
Costs for leasehold improvements 3.00

PATENT AND INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY RIGHTS 
In the case of patents and intellectual property rights, costs are prudentially recognised in the Income and 
Expenditure Account, save for the cases where the University is the holder of the right to use and the future 
economic benefits of such rights have been determined. In this case they can be capitalised.

LEASEHOLD IMPROVEMENTS 
They are classified under “Other intangible assets”. A 3% rate was applied to leasehold improvements because 
these assets are leased out or given under a gratuitous loan for use for an indefinite period.
Where it is possible however to estimate the term of the lease agreement or of the gratuitous loan for use, the 
rate applied reflects a useful life that is considered as the lower of the term of the lease agreement and the 
estimated useful life of the asset. While capitalising leasehold improvements, it must be borne in mind that, 
starting from 2011, account has been taken of the fact that plants can be separated from the asset under lease 
or gratuitous loan for use agreements in which they are envisaged, with an adequate classification of the assets 
that meet these requirements under “Plant and equipment” (general plants) of property, plant and equipment. 
They are subject to a depreciation rate of 7.5% (reduced to a half in the first year of entry into service, in the 
event that the condition already referred to above is fulfilled in relation to the reduction of the rate to a half), 
which is deemed to represent the average useful life of this type of asset.

ASSETS WITH A VALUE OF LESS THAN EURO 516.46 
Intangible assets with a cost of less than Euro 516.46 are recognised directly in the Income and Expenditure 
Account. This accounting treatment has been adopted as the value of the investments of an individual 
insignificant amount is substantially constant every year and such investments are mainly covered by grants: 
therefore, a separate valuation of these assets is not considered necessary to give a fair view of their value.

PERMANENT IMPAIRMENT LOSS 
In the case where, regardless of the amortisation previously accounted for, a permanent impairment loss is 
calculated, the fixed asset is impaired accordingly; if the reasons for the impairment are no longer obtained in 
the following years, the original amount is written back.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property, plant and equipment are entered at purchase or construction cost, including any directly related 
additional charges and indirectly related charges for the portion reasonably related to the asset, as adjusted by 
the relevant accumulated depreciation.
Non-deductible VAT is expensed to increase the cost of the asset to which it relates.
The property, plant and equipment acquired prior to the transition to accruals accounting (2001 financial 
year) are not accounted for. For further details on the value of such assets, reference should be made to the 
paragraph on property, plant and equipment.
Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line-basis according to the estimated useful lives of 
the assets; these rates are reduced by a half in the year of purchase.
The assets acquired as part of a project financed by third parties are 100% depreciated in the first year of 
operation.
The rates applied are:
Type of investment Depreciation rate
Land and buildings

Properties and buildings 3.00
Light constructions 10.00

Plant and equipment
General plants 7.50
Technical plants 10.00
Computer systems 25.00
Computer equipment 33.33

Scientific equipment
Technical equipment 20.00

Furniture and fittings
Furniture and fittings 12.00

Other property, plant and equipment
Motor vehicles and other means of transport 20.00
Other property, plant and equipment 12.00

A 12% rate, which represents the estimated useful life, was applied to “Other property, plant and equipment” 
which, it being a residual category, may include various types of investments.
Land made up of areas is not depreciated.

LIBRARY ASSETS 
With effect from the 2015 financial year, the University-owned books, magazines and databases acquired by the 
University’s Library System (Sistema Bibliotecario) are fully expensed during the year, as permitted by Article 4, 
paragraph 1, letter b, of Ministerial Decree 19/2014. This accounting treatment has been adopted as the value 
of the investments in library assets is substantially constant every year: therefore, a separate valuation of these 
assets is not considered necessary to give a fair view of their value.

ASSETS OF CULTURAL, HISTORICAL, ARTISTIC AND MUSEUM-RELATED VALUE OR 
ASSETS RECEIVED AS DONATIONS, LEGACY, THROUGH WILL AND TESTAMENT OR 
THANKS TO OTHER GRATUITIES 
These are included in property, plant and equipment and are not subject to depreciation, because they tend to 
not lose value over time.
In the case of donations, legacy or other gratuities, donated assets are measured and capitalised on the basis of 
the value indicated in the deed of donation or, in absence thereof, on the basis of a valuation report prepared by 
a sector expert. No donations, legacy or other gratuities are reported which were made during 2015.
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ASSETS WITH A VALUE OF LESS THAN EURO 516.46 
Property, plant and equipment with a cost of less than Euro 516.46 are recognised directly in the Income and 
Expenditure Account. This accounting treatment has been adopted as the value of the investments of an individual 
insignificant amount is substantially constant every year and such investments are mainly covered by grants: 
therefore, a separate valuation of these assets is not considered necessary to give a fair view of their value.

PERMANENT IMPAIRMENT LOSS 
In the case where, regardless of the depreciation previously accounted for, a permanent impairment loss is 
calculated, the fixed asset is impaired accordingly; if the reasons for the impairment are no longer obtained in 
the following years, the original amount is written back.

AVAILABLE THIRD-PARTY ASSETS 
The assets made available by third parties, including those granted by the Government and the local Authorities 
for free and perpetual use, are not included under fixed assets, but are stated under memorandum accounts at 
their acquisition value or, if it is not available, at their cadastral value. There are no cases in which the University 
holds perpetual rights in rem over them.

FINANCIAL ASSETS
EQUITY INVESTMENTS 
Equity investments are entered al their acquisition value, as adjusted by permanent impairment losses (if any), as 
specified in the Technical and Operational Manual referred to in the MIUR Directorial Decree 3112 of  
2 December 2015. The Provision for write-down, which was equal to the full amount of the equity investments 
at 31 December 2015, has been entered as a reduction in “A) III Financial assets” under the Balance Sheet 
assets, which are then equal to zero as in the previous year.
The equity investments, which are expected to be or have already been disposed of at the reporting date of the 
financial statements, are recognised as “Financial assets” under current assets.

GUARANTEE DEPOSITS RECEIVABLES 
Guarantee deposits receivables on utilities are recognised at their nominal value under financial assets when 
their collection is expected to occur beyond twelve months; otherwise, they are recognised as receivables under 
current assets.

CURRENT ASSETS 
INVENTORIES 
Inventories are recognised directly in the Income and Expenditure Account, as permitted by the accounting 
standards in the case that they are of an insignificant amount within the specific context of the University’s 
operations.

RECEIVABLES AND PAYABLES

Receivables are stated at their nominal value. They are adjusted at their presumed realisable value through a 
Provision for bad debts. Payables are stated at their nominal value..
The breakdown of receivables due within and beyond twelve months is estimated on the basis of the estimated 
date of collection.
Receivables whose estimated date of collection is beyond twelve months were discounted so as to separate the 
financial component that is recognised on an accruals basis under “interest and other financial expense” (or C.2).
The University recognises the receivables claimed from the entities reported in the “Elenco delle pubbliche 
amministrazioni” (List of Public Authorities) published and updated by the ISTAT [National Statistics Institute] 
(Official Gazette – General Series 227 of 30 September 2015) on an annual basis, under “Receivables from 
others (public entities)”. 
The Provision for bad debts is calculated taking into account the losses arising from currently available and 
certain elements and information, as well as the risks of non-collection, which are prudently estimated based on 
the ageing of receivables and the historical trend in the average percentage of collectability.
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TRANSLATION OF FOREIGN CURRENCY ITEMS 
Transactions denominated in foreign currency accounted for at the exchange rate prevailing at the date of the 
transaction are recognised at the spot exchange rate at year-end. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising 
from the translation of foreign currency receivables and payables are credited or debited, respectively, to the 
Income and Expenditure Account for the period.
Unrealised foreign exchange gains, if any, are accrued to a specific undistributable reserve until realised. 
Significant changes (if any) in exchange rates after the year-end are reported in the notes to the financial 
statements. However, foreign currency transactions are substantially not significant, given the activities carried 
out by the University.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
Cash and cash equivalents (bank deposits, including those in the Cash Pooling system, cheques, money and 
revenue stamps) are entered at their nominal value.

ACCRUALS AND DEFERRALS
Accrued income and prepaid expenses are made up of revenues accrued in the year and receivable in 
subsequent years and costs incurred by the closing date of the financial year, but accruing in subsequent years. 
Accrued expenses and deferred income are made up of costs accrued in the year but payable in subsequent 
years and revenues collected by the closing date of the year, but accruing in subsequent years.
These items only include portions of costs of revenues that are common to two or more financial years, the 
amount of which varies according to maturity. Accruals and deferrals are used, within the financial statements of 
the universities, to measure revenues from contracts on an accruals basis, to recognise capital grants, to charge 
the accrued amount of tuition fees, to account for revenues to fund scholarships and long-term contracts (e.g. 
PDH scholarships, research grants, etc.). For these cases, reference should be made to the respective chapters 
on accounting policies.

CONTRACTS 
Contracts, both annual and long-term, are valued at cost. Should the costs recorded during the year be higher 
than revenues, accrued revenues are measured by entering an amount equal to the difference between the two 
values under accrued income. Otherwise, should revenues be higher than costs, the excess portion of revenues 
is deferred to subsequent years through the use of deferred income.
These are the main principles used for the recognition of contract work in progress:
Contract costs
• The costs considered are only direct costs, which do not include the cost of staff employed;
• The purchase, if any, of assets or the disbursement of scholarships/research grants related to the contracts 

are attributable to it in full;
• Third-party contract costs also include general structure costs estimated to be 10% of the estimated 

consideration, less qualified expenses, mainly including scholarships and research grants, as well as the 
purchase of technical and scientific equipment;

• Costs can be attributed to the contract even after the consideration has been received in full and all the 
related documentation has been submitted.

Contract revenue
• Under the accounting procedure of the University, the funders’ monies are recognised as a revenue (under 

items A.I Own revenues or A.II Grants, depending on the nature of the projects) upon being invoiced, 
regardless of the state of completion of the project.

• At the end of the year any revenue recognised in excess of the portion of costs as indicated above is adjusted 
against an entry under e1) “Deferred income for ongoing projects and research”. If the revenue recognised 
is lower than the costs incurred, revenue is added from c1) ”Accrued income for ongoing projects and 
research”.
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Contract margin
The residual margin, upon completion, resulting from the difference between overall contract costs and total 
revenue, can be considered:
• To allocate an additional amount to the remuneration of staff pursuant to and within the limits of Article 12 of 

the “University Regulations for contracts and agreements for activities on behalf of third parties”;
• To be given, upon indication of the Scientific Director, to the Structure and intended for financing activities of 

prominent interest to the Scientific Director;
• To define the expenditure budget for the purchase of further assets, services, scholarships or other, even if it is 

unrelated to the initial contract.
Expected losses
It if is expected that the estimated costs of an individual contract will exceed the estimated total revenues, the 
probable loss for the completion of the contract is recognised as a decrease in work in progress reported under 
accrued income. If this loss is higher than the value of work in progress, the excess amount is recognised under 
an appropriate provision for risks and charges.
The probable loss is recognised during the year in which it is expected to arise on the basis of an objective and 
reasonable assessment of the existing circumstances. The loss is recognised regardless of the percentage of 
completion of the contract.

NET ASSETS 
Net assets include:
• The University’s Endowment fund;
• Restricted assets: consisting of Funds, Reserves and Capital grants restricted in accordance with the will of 

the third-party donors;
• Unrestricted assets: consisting of Reserves deriving from results of operations from previous years, the 

Reserves set aside upon first-time adoption of the accounting standards principles of universities, as well as 
Reserves required by the University’s Statute.

As these are the first Unified University Financial Statements prepared in the application of the new Ministerial 
Decree 19/2014, tables have been prepared for the reconciliation of the balances obtained according to the 
previous accounting standards and those obtained in the application of the new accounting standards, so as 
to allow the comparability of figures. As an addition to these tables, the Notes to the Financial Statement also 
report a specific description of the main adjustments made to the Balance Sheet and Income and Expenditure 
Account items.
Any changes in the balance sheet items, which were previously recognised according to the previous 
accounting standards, arising from the first-time adoption of the new accounting standards of universities, 
have been charged to an appropriate net asset reserve set aside for this purpose. The Notes to the Financial 
Statements describe the individual items that entail the adjustment to the opening balance of the allocations of 
the results for the year and/or other Net Asset Reserves.

PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES
Provisions for risks and charges are allocated to cover losses or payables, whose existence is certain or 
probable, for which however the amount or date of occurrence could not be determined at the year-end.  
The provisions reflect the best estimate possible based on available information at the year-end.
Risks which may give rise to a probable liability are indicated in the notes to the financial statements, without 
setting aside any specific provision for risks and charges.
Provisions are used only after the occurrence of the event for which they were set aside. Their release is direct, 
with a debit entry in provisions for risks and charges. If the release from provisions is not enough to cover 
the charge for which such provision was set aside, the difference is charged to the Income and Expenditure 
Account as follows:
• as a non-recurring component (item E)2)) if the difference is due to calculation errors, errors in applying the 

accounting standards, oversights or wrong measurement of transactions already existing at the reporting date 
of the financial statements;
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• as a recurring item if the difference arises upon occurrence of the event only and therefore it was not possible 
to make a better estimate in previous years (item B)IX.12).

The reduction or resolution of uncertainties can result in the need to review the provision set aside in previous 
years.
If the excess provision gives rise to errors of any nature whatsoever, the adjustment is charged to extraordinary 
income (item E)1)). In other cases, the reduction in or write-off of the provision must be accounted for in positive 
income components under “other sundry revenues and income” (item A)V)).

SEVERANCE PAY
The severance pay covers, in the case of a termination, the termination pay entitlement accrued to the language 
experts who are employed on an open-end contract and paid to the Italian Social Security Institution. The 
provision is the balance between the amounts accrued to employees at the reporting date of the financial 
statements, less any advances formerly paid to employees, and the amounts claimed by the University against 
the Italian Social Security Institution for payments made until 31 December 2015.

PAYABLES FOR HOLIDAYS, LEAVE AND HOURS TO MAKE UP FOR
As required by the Technical and Operational Manual under the MIUR Directorial Decree 3112 of 2 December 
2015, with effect from the 2015 financial year a payable is recognised for holidays, leave and hours to make up 
for, accrued but not yet taken by the subordinate employees as at the reporting date of the financial statements. 
However, the prohibition on conversion into cash remains applicable pursuant to Legislative Decree 95/2012, 
converted into Law 135/2012, which requires that personnel holidays, time-off and leave be mandatorily taken 
as prescribed accordingly, and the payment in lieu of holidays is due only under specific circumstances indicated 
in the Civil Service (Funzione Pubblica) order dated 8 October 2012.

COSTS AND REVENUES
These are recognised according to the principles of prudence and accruals and in accordance with the 
standards stated in these notes to the financial statements.
As at the reporting date of these Financial Statements any fair estimates were made in order to recognise 
reasonably certain revenues and probable costs accrued during the year.

GRANTS
Operating grants
Operating grants are the grants not given specifically and purposely to investments in movable assets and 
properties.
These are recognised as revenue on an accruals basis at the time when there is reasonable certainty that the 
requirements for receiving the grant are met and that the grants will be given, regardless of the amount assigned 
by the Funding Entity, in accordance with Ministerial Decree 19/2014, which provides for those “operating 
grants“ that are certain and cashable to be entered as income items in the Income and expenditure Account.

Capital grants
Capital grants are the grants assigned by the Funding Entity:
(i) specifically and purposely to investments in movable assets and properties;
(ii) for long-term investments envisaged in the University development plans. 
Capital grants are recognised as deferred income at the time of purchase of the assets covered by the grants 
(property, plant and equipment and intangible assets) and are gradually taken to the Income and Expenditure 
Account (item A) II.) so as to decrease the amortisation and depreciation accrued in the year in accordance 
with Ministerial Decree 19/2014, which provides that “Universities must account for capital grants in the Income 
and Expenditure Account, on the basis of the useful life of the asset, charging the grant under revenues and 
deferring a portion every year until the end of the amortisation or depreciation period, while amortising or 
depreciating the capitalised asset for its entire value”.
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If the capital grant provided has not been used and there is only a generic restriction on the investment, the 
relevant amount is recognised under restricted Net Asset reserves, if the recognition of the related receivable in 
the Balance Sheet is not subject to any uncertainty concerning the actual collection of the grant.

UNIVERSITY TUITION FEES AND DUES
University tuition fees and dues due by the students are recognised according to the general matching principle, 
deferring the portion that is not accrued.
The receivable is considered certain and collectible upon completion of enrolment for the academic year, which 
occurs when the first instalment of the tuition fee is paid.
Adequate analyses, as detailed in the relevant paragraph describing the specific item in the Notes to the 
Financial Statements, are carried out in order to set aside a fair provision for bad debts that is such as to adjust 
the receivable from students at the best estimate of presumed realisable value.

MAINTENANCE COSTS 
Ordinary repair and maintenance costs are fully expensed as incurred.
Non-routine maintenance costs, if incurred to increase the life of the asset, are charged as to increase the 
assets to which they relate, as they help to extend the useful lives of the assets or, in any case, provide more 
profitability and/or any improvement in production capacity, efficiency or safety. 
The costs of buildings under construction and refurbishment, such as costs of non-routine maintenance of more 
than one year, are carried at cost, including directly and indirectly related charges, for the charge reasonably 
related to the asset, and are not depreciated until the date they actually enter operation. These also include 
designing and work supervision expenses and other technical directly related assets; they do not include indirect 
costs as they cannot be charged objectively. 
Until 2010, any expenses for general plants, even those that can be severed from the building owned, were 
carried under “Land and buildings” and depreciated using the same rate as the building to which they referred. 
Starting from 2011, the severability of plants and assets was considered, and plants are adequately recorded 
under “Plant and equipment” in property, plant and equipment and a depreciation rate of 7.5% is applied 
(reduced by a half for the first year of operation), which is deemed to represent the average useful life of this type 
of asset.

INCOME TAXES
Current income taxes are recognised on the basis of the estimated tax expense for the year, with reference to 
applicable regulations and taking into account applicable exemptions. In particular, as regards the IRAP tax 
(Regional Tax on Production Activities), the pay method was adopted and the cost is booked to the Income and 
Expenditure Account F) item “Current, deferred and prepaid taxes”.
There are no cases that may result in deferred taxes in respect of temporary differences between the value 
attributed to assets and liabilities under civil law provisions and the value attributed to such assets and liabilities 
for tax purposes.

DERIVATIVES
The University has not used derivative finance instruments nor has it entered into hedging transactions, interest 
rate swaps or currency swaps or securities transactions or other similar transactions that have been legally 
completed but have not been performed yet, under which certain rights and obligations have arisen and result in 
potential assets and/or liabilities that cannot be immediately recognised in the Balance Sheet.
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OFF-BALANCE-SHEET ARRANGEMENTS
These are arrangements or other deeds, even connected among them, whose effects are not shown in the 
Balance Sheet, but which may expose the University to risks or generate significant benefits for the University 
and whose knowledge is useful for an assessment of the financial position, results of operations and cash flows.
The University has no off-balance sheet arrangements in place, except as commented on in the paragraph on 
“receivables from Regions and Autonomous Provinces”.

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
With reference to the information required by Article 2427, paragraph 22-bis, of the Italian Civil Code, it should 
be pointed out that the Notes to the Financial Statements report the related parties with which commercial and 
financial transactions were carried out at arm’s length.
Below are the related parties as identified by making reference to the international accounting standards 
adopted by the European Union:
• Associazione Trento Rise in Liquidation
• Fondazione Graphitech
• Hub Innovazione Trentino Scarl
• Microsoft Research Scarl
• Scienze Mente Cervello Scarl.

GUARANTEES, COMMITMENTS, THIRD-PARTY ASSETS AND RISKS
Risks relating to unsecured or collateral guarantees given on third-party liabilities are indicated in the 
memorandum accounts for an amount equal to the amount of the guarantee given. Commitments are shown in 
the memorandum account at their nominal value, as inferred from the relevant documentation.
Available third-party properties and land are entered under memorandum accounts at their acquisition value or, 
if it is not available, at their cadastral value. There are no cases in which the University holds perpetual rights in 
rem over them.
As required by Decree 19/2014 the total amount of guarantees, commitments, third-party assets and risks is 
reported under “Memorandum accounts” at the bottom of the Balance Sheet assets and liabilities.
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BALANCE SHEET ANALYSIS
The Balance Sheet Asset items of the 2015 Unified University Financial Statements are compared to the 
corresponding items in the 2014 financial statements, as reclassified according to the new accounting 
standards. The format used for the balance sheet is consistent with the schedules introduced and required by 
Ministerial Decree 19/2014.

ASSETS
A) NON-CURRENT ASSETS
INTANGIBLE ASSETS (I.)
This group includes non-physical assets whose useful life is spanned over more years. For the principles 
adopted, reference should be made to the section on “Accounting policies and standards”.
Balance at 31.12.2014 58,934,532
Balance at 31.12.2015 60,659,869
CHANGE 1,725,337

Below is a breakdown of changes in intangible assets:

Description Value at 
31.12.2014

Increases for 
the year

Decreases for 
the year

Amortisation 
charge

Value at 
31.12.2015

Concessions, licences, trademarks and similar rights 63,503 720 - (28,716) 35,507
Assets under development and payments on account 797,774 504,722 - - 1,302,496
Other intangible assets 58,073,255 3,527,294 - (2,278,683) 59,321,866
TOTAL 58,934,532 4,032,736 - (2,307,399) 60,659,869

“Concessions, licences, trademarks and similar rights” relate to the purchase of licences for the use of software.
“Assets under development and payments on account” relate to purchases or interventions on intangible assets 
which at year-end have not yet been completed or whose full ownership is still to be acquired. The increases 
fully relate to the continuation of the refurbishment works of the building 10 at the former Manifattura Tabacchi 
tobacco factory in Rovereto.
“Other intangible assets” include leasehold improvements and own software costs. The former relate to building 
works made on properties granted to the University under gratuitous loan for use or lease agreements. The table 
below presents the costs recorded for the improvements broken down by property.

Description Value at 
31.12.2014

Increases for 
the year

Decreases for 
the year Amortisation Value at 

31.12.2015
Rovereto District 30,506,996 1,743,492 - (1,104,554) 31,145,934
Faculty of Sociology - via Verdi 14,516,903 62,885 - (542,499) 14,037,289
Block 0 - Povo Scientific Facility 6,409,040 1,064,824 - (280,449) 7,193,415
Mesiano - Engineering 4,975,943 585,865 - (212,717 5,349,091
Rector’s Office and other offices 1,492,723 45,979 - (48,876) 1,489,826
Library - via Santa Croce 47,023 17,461 - (33,392) 31,092
Law 66,602 - - (2,425) 64,177
TOTAL LEASEHOLD PROVEMENTS 58,015,230 3,520,506 - (2,224,912) 59,310,824
Own Software 58,025 6,788 - (53,771) 11,042
TOTAL OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 58,073,255 3,527,294 - (2,278,683) 59,321,866

The increase in leasehold improvements (Euro 3,520,506) is mainly attributable to the continuation of works at 
the Rovereto District facilities and specifically in relation to the building 14 at the former Manifattura Tabacchi 
tobacco factory - amounting to Euro 1,684,683 and at Block 0 of the Povo Scientific Facility in an amount of 
Euro 1,064,824. Significant interventions have also been made at a number of plants at the Engineering offices 
located in Mesiano in a total amount of Euro 576,075.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (II.)
This group includes durable assets necessary for the conduct of the University business. For the principles 
adopted, reference should be made to the section on “Accounting standards and policies”.
Balance at 31.12.2014 198,401,844
Balance at 31.12.2015 191,154,829
CHANGE (7,247,015)

Below is a breakdown of changes in property, plant and equipment:

Description Value at 
31.12.2014

Increases for 
the year

Decreases for 
the year

Depreciation 
charge

Value at 
31.12.2015

Land and buildings 163,706,459 737,000 - (5,443,042) 159,000,417
Plant and equipment 26,115,483 3,371,263 (143) (3,987,998) 25,498,605
Scientific equipment 5,347,473 2,532,508 (303) (2,788,262) 5,091,416
Library assets, works of art, antique and museum works 55,700 - - - 55,700
Furniture and fittings 1,378,386 186,386 - (332,772) 1,232,000
Assets under construction and payments on account 1,731,125 152,396 (1,657,241) - 226,280
Other Property, Plant and Equipment 67,218 6,087 - (22,894) 50,411
TOTAL 198,401,844 6,985,640 (1,657,687) (12,574,968) 191,154,829

Land and Buildings (II.1.)
This item includes the land and buildings owned by the University.
Description
Historical cost 192,598,804
Prior years’ depreciation charges (28,892,345)
BALANCE AT 31.12.2014 163,706,459
Acquisitions during the year 737,000
Disposals during the year -
Depreciation charges for the year (5,443,042)
BALANCE AT 31.12.2015 159,000,417

The sum of the historical cost and the acquisitions for the year amounting to Euro 192,598,804 represents 
the total acquisitions made after 1 January 2001, since at the time of passage from financial accounting to 
accruals accounting the value of pre-existing real estate properties was not separately recognised because 
their acquisition had been financed in full by the Autonomous Province of Trento. An appraisal carried out at a 
later stage revealed an estimated market value at 31 December 2003 of Euro 96,633,000, of which only Euro 
25,351,647 had been recognised in the period from 2001 to 2003. As a result, although the appraisal is old, it 
can be stated that the market value at the time of passage to accruals accounting was in excess of the book 
value.
Below is the breakdown of land and buildings:

Land 
Description
BALANCE AT 31.12.2014 13,469,880
Acquisitions during the year -
BALANCE AT 31.12.2015 13,469,880

This balance is made up of the areas owned by the University, which mainly include the “Sanseverino” square 
and the land hosting the parking area for the original headquarters of the Former faculty of Sciences.
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Buildings 

Description Historical cost
Prior years’ 

depreciation 
charges

Changes during 
the year

Depreciation 
charge for the 

year

Balance at 
31.12.2015

Humanities - via Tomaso Gar 34,402,959 (2,578,270) 8,386 (1,032,213) 30,800,862
Lo 2 - Scientific Facility in Povo 29,494,535 (1,316,491) 301,666 (889,361) 27,590,349
Lo 1 - Scientific Facility in Povo 25,732,897 (3,451,685) 13,277 (772,186) 21,522,303
Mattarello - loc. Regole 15,890,863 (2,627,885) 7,855 (476,844) 12,793,989
Palazzo Fedrigotti - Rovereto 16,540,797 (4,696,100) 49,267 (496,963) 11,397,001
Law - via Verdi 12,843,794 (3,252,976) 3,005 (385,359) 9,208,464
Villa Gherta Property Complex - Povo 8,577,874 (641,055) 26,289 (257,731) 7,705,377
Cavazzani Building and area 9,028,984 (2,470,709) 809 (270,882) 6,288,202
Former Cassa Rurale Building - Povo 4,872,592 (1,375,277) - (146,178) 3,351,137
Molino Vittoria area - via Verdi 5,143,885 (1,773,297) 6,686 (154,417) 3,222,857
District 0 Laboratories - Povo 4,163,977 (1,178,146) - (124,919) 2,860,912
Via Rosmini Buildings 3,146,726 (330,882) - (94,402) 2,721,442
Mesiano - Engineering – Laboratories 3,384,023 (1,123,180) 1,647 (101,545) 2,160,945
Finestra sull’Adige Apartments 1,945,087 (816,676) - (58,353) 1,070,058
Economy - via Inama 1,120,740 (238,930) 186,009 (36,412) 1,031,407
Villazzano Building 908,690 (282,200) 128,831 (29,193) 726,128
Sports Building area 457,198 (117,547) 1,443 (13,738) 327,356
Via Tomaso Gar Building (online teaching) 462,828 (145,364) - (13,885) 303,579
Former CTE Building - via Briamasco 2 68,712 (11,239) 1,830 (2,089) 57,214
TOTAL 178,187,161 (28,427,909) 737,000 (5,356,670) 145,139,582

The most significant amount relates to the continuation of the works for the completion of the New Scientific 
Facility - Block 2 at Povo with an increase of Euro 301,666.

Light constructions
Description
Historical cost 941,764
Prior years’ depreciation charges (464,437)
BALANCE AT 31.12.2014 477,327
Acquisitions during the year -
Disposals during the year -
Depreciation charges for the year (86,372)
BALANCE AT 31.12.2015 390,955

Plant and equipment (II.2.)
This relates to the acquisition and installation of plants intended for the performance of technical, scientific, 
teaching and administrative activities.
Description 
Historical cost 55,639,523
Prior years’ depreciation charges (29,524,040)
BALANCE AT 31.12.2014 26,115,483
Acquisitions during the year 3,371,263
Disposals during the year (143)
Depreciation charges for the year (3,987,998)
BALANCE AT 31.12.2015 25,498,605

Most of the acquisitions - Euro 2,164,361 - are attributable to Block 2 - Povo Scientific Facility and are made up 
of: general plants - Euro 1,580,770, IT equipment - Euro 542,246 and Technical, scientific and IT systems - Euro 
41,345.
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Scientific equipment (II.3.)
Description
Historical cost 46,728,008
Prior years’ depreciation charges (41,380,535)
BALANCE AT 31.12.2014 5,347,473
Acquisitions during the year 2,532,508
Disposals during the year (303)
Depreciation charges for the year (2,788,262)
BALANCE AT 31.12.2015 5,091,416

Most of the acquisitions - Euro 1,232,288 - are attributable to Block 2 - Povo Scientific Facility, of which 
an amount of Euro 768,388 was paid directly by using the central Authority’s funds, while the remaining 
operations are broken down as follows among the three departments based in the facility: Euro 222,722 for the 
Department of Industrial Engineering, Euro 215,518 for the Centre for Integrated Biology and Euro 25,661 for 
the Department of Engineering and Information Science.

Library assets, works of  art, antique and museum works (II.4.)
This item includes the works of art that form part of the University’s assets.
Description
Historical cost 26,226,360
Prior years’ depreciation charges (26,170,660)
BALANCE AT 31.12.2014 55,700
Acquisitions during the year -
Disposals during the year -
Depreciation charges for the year -
BALANCE AT 31.12.2015 55,700

As specified in the preamble, with effect from the 2015 financial year, the University-owned books, magazines 
and databases acquired by the University’s Library System (Sistema Bibliotecario) are fully expensed during the 
year, as permitted by Article 4, paragraph 1, letter b, of Ministerial Decree 19/2014. Therefore, the University has 
taken steps to bring the financial position into line with the new accounting standards, as well as to reverse the 
historical cost of Euro 26,170,660 and the related depreciation fund of the same amount, which were reported 
in the Balance Sheet assets at 1 January 2015.
The residual amount not reclassified relates to works of art that, as such, are not subject to depreciation.

Furniture and fittings (II.5.)
Description
Historical cost 7,372,677
Prior years’ depreciation charges (5,994,291)
BALANCE AT 31.12.2014 1,378,386
Acquisitions during the year 186,386
Disposals during the year 0
Depreciation charges for the year (332,772)
BALANCE AT 31.12.2015 1,232,000

Most of the acquisitions were made at the following facilities: Block 2 - Povo Scientific Facility - Euro 68,944, 
Economy - via Inama - Euro 44,866, Nursery at Via Santa Margherita - Euro 34,151.

Assets under construction and payments on account (II.6.)
These relate to building works on owned properties that have not yet been completed.
Description
Historical cost 1,731,125
Prior years’ depreciation charges -
BALANCE AT 31.12.2014 1,731,125
Balance of changes for the year (1,504,845)
Depreciation charge -
BALANCE AT 31.12.2015 226,280
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Below are the changes in “Assets under construction and payments on account” during the year:
Description Value at 31.12.2014 Changes Value at 31.12.2015
New Library Sanseverino 1,657,241 (1,657,241) -
New Library Le Albere - 151,971 151,971
New Library - Engineering 73,884 425 74,309
TOTAL 1,731,125 (1,504,845) 226,280

The most significant change is the write-off of design costs previously incurred for the new library that was 
initially expected to be built in Sanseverino (Euro 1,657,241). This project has been definitively abandoned and 
following a decision confirmed by the Board of Directors the new University Library will be built at the “Le Albere” 
complex in the building designed by Renzo Piano, replacing the previous project prepared by Mario Botta for 
the building located at Piazzale Sanseverino. Against this write-off, a reduction of the same amount was made in 
grants for investments, as described in the specific section of Liabilities E) e2) “Grants to investments”, and then 
no net impact through profit or loss.

Other property, plant and equipment (II.7.)
This item includes motor vehicles and other means of transport, as well as other property, plant and equipment 
not included in previous items.
Description
Historical cost 829,108
Prior years’ depreciation charges (761,890)
BALANCE AT 31.12.2014 67,218
Acquisitions during the year 6,087
Disposals during the year -
Depreciation charges for the year (22,894)
BALANCE AT 31.12.2015 50,411

This aggregate remained substantially unchanged compared to 2014, with a slight increase of Euro 6,087 
relating to the purchase of mobile phones and tablets.

FINANCIAL ASSETS (III.)
This group includes financial assets intended to remain permanently among the University’s assets. The item for 
the year only includes the equity investments held by the University, which are broken down below.
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Changes
Equity investments 240,924 289,251 (48,327)
TOTAL 240,924 289,251 (48,327)
Provision for write-down of equity investments (240,924) (289,251) 48,327
TOTAL EQUITY INVESTMENTS - - -

The Provision for write-down, as described in the preamble in the Notes to the Financial Statements, is equal to 
the full amount of the investments themselves. The amount of the provision had been already reclassified at 31 
December 2014, separating it from the previous item of the Provision for other risks and charges under which it 
was included.

Description Value at 
31.12.2014

Increases for the 
year

Decreases for the 
year

Value at 
31.12.2015

Interest in “Fondazione Graphitech” 98,165 - 98,165
Share in Consortium Capital Trentino School of Management 
Soc. cons. r.l. 96,627 - 96,627

Interest in Microsoft Research-Unitn Centre for 
Computational & Systems Biology Scarl 12,500 - - 12,500

Interest in Scienze Mente Cervello Scarl 10,000 - - 10,000
Interest in Hub Innovazione Trentino Scarl - HIT Scarl - 10,000 - 10,000
Interest in Distretto tecnologico trentino consortium company 5,000 - - 5,000
Interest in Car Sharing Trentino 5,000 - - 5,000
Spin-off of RSens SRL 1,507 - - 1,507
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Description Value at 
31.12.2014

Increases for the 
year

Decreases for the 
year

Value at 
31.12.2015

Spin-off of Smart Hydrogeological Solutions srl 1,000 - - 1,000
Start-up of Intellegit srl - 625 - 625
Spin-off of OKKAM SRL 500 - - 500
Spin-off of Hydromates srl 1,500 - 1,500 -
Spin-off of SIM IDRA SRL Società di Ingegneria 800 - 800 -
Write-off of equity investments as a result of the lack of the right to reimbursement of quotas paid 
Interest in Consorzio C.N.I.S.M. 15,000 - 15,000 -
Interest in Consorzio C.I.N.I. 10,329 - 10,329 -
Interest in Consorzio I.N.S.T.M. 7,747 - 7,747 -
Interest in Consorzio Interuniversitario Biostrutture Biosistemi 5,165 - 5,165 -
Interest in Consorzio C.N.I.T. 5,165 - 5,165 -
Interest in Consorzio Criospazio 5,164 - 5,164 -
Share in Common Fund CREATE-NET 5,000 - 5,000 -
Interest in Consorzio C.I.N.F.A.I. 2,582 - 2,582 -
Interest in Associazione Green Building Council Italia (G.B.C. 
Italia) 500 - 500 -

TOTALS 289,251 10,625 58,952 240,924

The changes that occurred during 2015 related to:
• in compliance with the accounting standards of Universities set out under Ministerial Decree 19/2014 and 

the relevant guidelines laid down in the Technical and Operational Manual adopted by the MIUR Directorial 
Decree 3112 of 2 December 2015, the write-off of the equity investments in Interuniversity Consortia and 
associations for which the quotas paid at the time, totalling Euro 56,652, as detailed above, are not expected 
to be reimbursed;

• establishment of the start-up business of Intelligit S.r.l, for which the University has paid a quota of Euro 625;
• establishment of HIT Scarl with a capital quota attributable to the University for Euro 10,000, corresponding to 

25%;
• liquidation of the Hydromates srl spin-off and repayment of the entire quota of Euro 1,500 paid at the time;
• putting Sim Idra srl in liquidation in mid-December 2015 and consequent reclassification to “Financial assets” 

under current assets (B) III).
The sole equity investments recognised in the accounts at 31 December 2015, with quotas exceeding 20% 
of the quota capital, are those held in HIT Scarl (25.00%), Scienze Mente Cervello Scarl (41.67%), Fondazione 
Graphitech (46.88%) and Microsoft Research Unitn Centre Scarl (50%).
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(B) CURRENT ASSETS
INVENTORIES (I.)
The University does not operate warehouses and therefore there are no inventories to be measured.

RECEIVABLES (II.) 
Balance at 31.12.2014 188,922,367
Balance at 31.12.2015 218,419,827
CHANGE 29,497,460

The total amount of receivables is shown net of the “Provision for bad debts”, which includes the amounts set 
aside prudentially to cover possible losses due to insolvency.
Accruals to the provision have been calculated to adjust receivables at their presumed realisable value, taking 
into account the losses arising from currently available and certain elements and information, as well as the risks 
of non-collection, which are prudently estimated based on the ageing of receivables and the historical trend in 
the average percentage of collectability.
Below are the total net receivables recognised in the accounts:
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Due from MIUR and other central Authorities 783,663 2,477,244 (1,693,581)

2a) Due from Regions - - -
2b) Due from the Autonomous Province of Bolzano - - -
2c) Due from the Autonomous Province of Trento 202,629,664 181,531,638 21,098,026

Due from other local Authorities 1,235,287 1,629,029 (393,742)
Due from the European Union and other International Organisations 97,896 79,544 18,352
Due from Universities 599,110 389,943 209,167
Due from students for fees and dues 9,050,463 - 9,050,463
Due from subsidiary companies and entities - - -
Other receivables (due from public entities) 8,076 8,076 -
Other receivables (due from private entities) 4,015,668 2,806,893 1,208,774
TOTAL 218,419,827 188,922,367 29,497,460

Below is the breakdown of receivables due from the Autonomous Province of Trento by portions due within 12 
months, beyond 12 months and beyond 5 years, as estimated on the basis of expected unchanged collection 
times during the next 15 years.
Below is the breakdown of maturity:

Description Within 12 months Beyond 12 months Beyond 5 years Total
2C) Due from the Autonomous Province of Trento 13,549,323 54,022,955 135,057,386 202,629,664

Receivables whose estimated date of collection is more than one year were discounted so as to separate the 
financial component recognised on an accruals basis. The discount rate is unchanged from the previous year 
at 2.5%. The unaccrued financial component is therefore reported under deferred income and amounts to Euro 
35,650,000. The economic impact of the discounting process is on the other hand detailed in the following 
paragraph on financial income and charges.
Collection of receivables due from the Autonomous Province of Trento is estimated to take place in equal 
instalments of the total over a 15-year period, considering the available resources of the Autonomous Province 
of Trento against the release of funds appropriated in previous years. 
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The detailed information for each receivable item is provided below.

1) Due from MIUR and other central Authorities 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change 
Due from MIUR 14,193 1,370,556 (1,356,363)
Due from other central Authorities 899,470 1,220,475 (321,005)
TOTAL GROSS RECEIVABLE 913,663 2,591,031 (1,677,368)
Provision for bad debts (130,000) (113,787) (16,213)
TOTAL RECEIVABLE FROM MIUR AND OTHER CENTRAL AUTHORITIES 783,663 2,477,244 (1,693,581)

Receivables “Due from MIUR” showed a decrease of Euro 1,356,363 compared to 2014; the receivable was 
collected during 2015 which related to the settlement of the last award of the operating grant (Law 590/82) for 
Euro 1,370,556, which had been allocated by the MIUR in the 2010 financial year.
Receivables “Due from other central Authorities” mainly include receivables from other Ministries or research 
institutes for the funding of scholarships for PhD schools, the financing of the European Erasmus programme, 
the refund of expenses to the University staff seconded to other entities and research funding. The decrease 
of Euro 321,005 was mainly due to the lower receivable from the Socrates National Agency recognised in the 
accounts; pre-financing, equal to 80% of the appropriation for “Erasmus Plus” mobility scholarships in the 
academic year 2015/2016, was settled during the year, in advance compared to the previous year.

2) Due from Regions and Autonomous Provinces 

2C) Due from the Autonomous Province of  Trento
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Operating grants for Planning Agreement - 10,572 (10,572)
Capital grants for Investments and Building Planning Agreement 14,485,477 20,324,715 (5,839,238)
Research grants Planning Agreement 14,718,083 15,757,526 (1,039,443)
Yearly capital grants for Building 14,789,683 8,795,044 5,994,639
Operating grants for Planning Policy Guidelines – base fee 131,819,255 113,553,810 18,265,445
Operating grants for Planning Policy Guidelines – programme fee 21,616,082 19,002,082 2,614,000
Operating grants for Guidelines – Activities of common interest 1,186,955 1,175,499 11,456
Capital grants for Planning Policy Guidelines – building fee 3,970,545 2,845,545 1,125,000
Items for specific activities (research projects, training activities, activities on 
behalf of third parties, etc.) requested by the Autonomous Province of Trento 106,853 66,845 39,738

TOTAL GROSS RECEIVABLE 202,692,663 181,531,638 21,161,025
Provision for bad debts (62,999) - (62,999)
TOTAL RECEIVABLES FROM THE AUTONOMOUS PROVINCE OF TRENTO 202,629,664 181,531,638 21,098,026

The amount due from the Autonomous Province of Trento rose from the prior year by Euro 21,098,026 and 
mainly relates to the financing included in the Planning Policy Guidelines.
In 2015 the expenses incurred for University building were covered for Euro 1,125,000 by the share of building 
funding awarded under the Planning Policy Guidelines for the 2015 financial year, whilst the remaining amount 
of Euro 8,612,371 was covered by the provincial government’s grants that cover the loan for University building 
entered into on 30 April 2014 with the European Investment Bank (EIB).
In fact, the interventions related to the EIB loan are financed by the Autonomous Province of Trento through 
annual grants awarded to the University for the realisation of the intervention plan for University building and are 
already provided for in the Planning Agreement.
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In particular, the following limits of commitments are provided:

Grant resolution Ref. 
commitment

Available 
from Duration Instalment Description

Discounted 
value  

(4.25% rate)

Collections 
in 2015

Remainder 
at 

31.12.2015

Resolution 1170 of 14.06.2013 315000-2013 2013 10 years 3,120,000
PC 1738 

of 30 July 
2010

24,993,967 2,617,732 22,376,235

Resolution 1170 of 14.06.2013 315000-2014 2014 10 years 3,120,000
PC 1738 

of 30 July 
2010

24,993,967 - 24,993,967

Commitment reduction 
(Resolution 619 of 28.04.2014) 315000-2014 2014 10 years (1,338,264) (10,589,308) - (10,589,308)

TOTAL 4,901,736 39,398,626 2,617,732 36,780,894

During 2015 the Autonomous Province of Trento settled an amount of Euro 2,617,732 corresponding to the 
instalments for the repayment of the EIB loan paid by the University during the year.
In the table below, column Y reports a breakdown of receivables, excluding Euro 14,789,683 relating to the 
amount of building works financed by the EIB and Euro 106,583 relating to other institutional and commercial 
activities not financed under the Planning Agreement and the Planning Policy Guidelines, which are claimed by 
the University from the Autonomous Province of Trento and which are recognised in the Balance Sheet Assets 
under “Receivables from the Autonomous Province of Trento”.
The same table, under column X, shows details of “grants assigned but not collected” which reflect the amount 
of funds assigned and as yet unpaid to the University. 

Financial Statements of the Autonomous Province of Trento Financial Statements of the University 

A B C X = A+B-C A B C Y= A+B-C

Description of APT 
budget elements

Grants 
assigned 
but not 

collected at 
31.12.2014

New 
allocations 

2015

Collections 
2015

Grants 
assigned 
but not 

collected at 
31.12.2015

Receivables 
31.12.2014 Posted 2015 Collections 

2015
Receivables 
31.12.2015

Cost element 311000 
Planning Agreement 11,400 (828) 10,572 - 10,572 - 10572 -

Cost element 317000 
Planning Agreement 18,790,488 2,027,211 16,763,277 15,757,526 987,768 2,027,211 14,718,083

Cost element 313000 
and 155000 Planning 
Agreement

34,701,855 (33,100) 5,852,922 28,815,833 20,324,715 13,685 5,852,922 14,485,478

Planning Policy 
Guidelines - Base fee 117,178,809 111,024,600 92,759,155 135,444,254 113,553,810 111,024,600 92,759,155 131,819,255

Planning Policy 
Guidelines -  
premium fee

8,782,800 2,195,700 - 10,978,500 - - - -

Planning Policy 
Guidelines -  
programme fee

19,396,082 2,614,000 - 22,010,082 19,002,082 2,614,000 - 21,616,082

Planning Policy 
Guidelines - activities of 
common interest

1,184,989 196,000 193,543 1,187,446 1,175,498 205,000 193,543 1,186,955

Planning Policy 
Guidelines – building 
fees

2,845,545 1,125,000 - 3,970,545 2,845,545 1,125,000 - 3,970,545

TOTAL 202,891,968 117,121,372 100,843,403 219,169,937 172,669,748 115,970,053 100,843,403 187,796,398

Receivables and “grants assigned but not collected” from the Autonomous Province of Trento have been 
reconciled with the data confirmed by the Provincial government in writing.
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3) Due from other Local Authorities 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Due from other Local Authorities 1,385,288 1,652,519 (267,231)
TOTAL GROSS RECEIVABLE 1,385,288 1,652,519 (267,231)
Provision for bad debts (150,001) (23,490) (126,511)
TOTAL RECEIVABLE FROM OTHER LOCAL AUTHORITIES 1,235,287 1,629,029 (393,742)

Receivables “Due from other Local Authorities” include amounts due from local authorities to fund scholarships 
for PhD schools, to reimburse seconded staff, to fund research projects, for various services, especially 
healthcare benefits, rented classrooms, media services and conferences.

4) Due from the European Union and other International Organisations 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Due from the European Union and other International organisations 97,896 79,544 18,352
TOTAL GROSS RECEIVABLE 97,896 79,544 18,352
Provision for bad debts - - -
TOTAL RECEIVABLE FROM THE EUROPEAN UNION  
AND OTHER INTERNATIONAL ORGANISATIONS 97,896 79,544 18,352

Receivables “Due from the European Union” include receivables relating to the final balances due for the 
financing of research projects.

5) Due from Universities 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Due from Universities 634,109 419,149 214,960
TOTAL GROSS RECEIVABLE 634,109 419,149 214,960
Provision for bad debts (34,999) (29,206) (5,793)
TOTAL RECEIVABLE FROM UNIVERSITIES 599,110 389,943 209,167

Receivables “Due from Universities” mainly include receivables from the Universities of Verona and Florence 
for the funding of scholarships for PhD schools, from the University of Udine for the portion of fees and dues 
payable to the University of Trento inter-university degree course in Oenology and Viticulture, from other 
Universities for the funding of research projects, to reimburse seconded staff, various services (healthcare 
benefits, conferences, etc.).

6) Due from students for fees and dues 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Due from students for degree courses and specialist degree 9,487,463 - 9,487,463
Due from students for graduate schools 78,000 - 78,000
TOTAL GROSS RECEIVABLE 9,565,463 - 9,565,463
Provision for bad debts (515,000) - (515,000)
TOTAL RECEIVABLE FROM STUDENTS FOR FEES AND DUES 9,050,463 - 9,050,463

Receivables “Due from students for fees and dues” include the amount still to be collected for fees and dues 
from the students enrolled on courses in the academic year 2015/2016 and payable in two instalments, expiring 
on 30 September 2015 and on 31 March 2016, respectively.
The new accounting standards provide that, upon completion of enrolment, the total amount of tuition fees and 
dues is recognised as a receivable due from the student.
Therefore, the increase of 100% in receivables from students compared to the value posted in 2014 was fully 
due to the application of the new accounting standards. In 2014, in fact, receivables from students for fees 
and dues unpaid by 31 December had not been recognized for the academic year 2014/2015. Receivables 
for portions of fees and dues accrued in the year had been accounted for according to the method of accrued 
income.
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The “Provision for write-down of receivables from students”, introduced with the new accounting standards, 
relates to provisions set aside for receivables not collected from students following changes in the amount owed 
as a result of:
• redetermination of the assigned income bracket;
• dropouts;
• assignment of partial or total exemption from fees;
• graduation;
• transition from a three-year degree to a master’s degree or post-graduate programmes.
Accruals to the “Provision for bad debts” have been calculated on a lump-sum basis as a percentage of the 
total value of the receivables based on the analysis of non-collections in the two previous academic years 
(2013/2014 and 2014/2015).

8) Other receivables (due from public entities)
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Other receivables (due from public entities) 8,076 8,076 -
TOTAL GROSS RECEIVABLE 8,076 8,076 -
Provision for bad debts - - -
TOTAL RECEIVABLE FROM OTHERS (public entities) 8,076 8,076 -

This item includes receivables from the INPS (Istituto Nazionale per la Previdenza Sociale, National Social 
Security Institute) for payments of social security contributions that were higher than the amount due and 
payable.

9) Other receivables (due from private parties)
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Receivables from others (due from private parties) 5,683,057 3,699,329 1,983,728
Receivables for invoices to be issued 1,401 120,330 (118,929)
Sundry advances 3,139 3,339 (200)
Receivables from staff 12,677 7,870 4,807
Guarantee deposits receivables 6,774 7,075 (301)
Advances to suppliers 20,620 57,468 (37,208)
TOTAL GROSS RECEIVABLE 5,727,668 3,895,411 1,832,257
Provision for bad debts 1,711,999 1,088,518 623,481
TOTAL RECEIVABLE FROM OTHERS (private parties) 4,015,669 2,806,893 1,208,776

“Receivables from others (due from private parties)” reflects amounts receivable to fund scholarships for PhD 
programmes, to fund research and educational projects, for services rendered to institutions and private entities 
(conferences, training courses, printing services, healthcare services, rented classrooms, etc.).
The increase of 47% compared to the previous year was mainly due to the deferment by Fondazione Cassa 
di Risparmio di Trento e Rovereto of the advance payment of Euro 535,000 on the funding envisaged in the 
Planning Agreement at the beginning of 2016 and to the increase of Euro 1,060,062 in receivables from 
Associazione Trento Rise, an entity that was put in liquidation during the year.
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Below are the most significant amounts of the category:
Description 31.12.2015
Associazione Trento Rise in Liquidation 1,306,501
Fondazione Cassa di Risparmio di Trento e Rovereto 1,113,983
Telecom Italia S.p.A. 209,525
PromoCOOP Trentina S.p.A. 200,000
Edutech S.r.l. 169,580
Eurocoating S.p.A. 164,700
Opera 21 NordEst S.r.l. 146,000
Delta R. & S. S.r.l. 142,193
The Microsoft Research 127,238
Finmeccanica S.p.A. 115,900
Huawei Technologies Co. LTD 114,302
Centro Ricerche FIAT 103,822

The receivable from Associazione Trento Rise in Liquidation mainly relates to the funding of research projects 
and scholarships for PhD schools and was adequately written down in order to adjust its value at presumed 
realisable value. 
Receivables from Fondazione Cassa di Risparmio di Trento e Rovereto relates to the financing granted in the 
2015 financial year in relation to PhD schools, training activities in cognitive sciences, international mobility and 
other activities defined in the Planning Agreement entered into with the foundation; the first advance payment, 
equal to 50%, was collected at the beginning of 2016, while the remaining amount will be collected upon the 
presentation of the statement attached to these Financial Statements.
Other receivables mainly relate to funding of scholarships for PhD programmes and research activities.
The “Provision for bad debts” includes accruals relating to receivables from entities subject to insolvency 
procedures, amounts written down according to the ageing of receivables and receivables for funding of 
projects for which the recognised allowable expenditure could not be considered as fully eligible costs.

FINANCIAL ASSETS (III.)
Balance at 31/12/2014 -
Balance at 31/12/2015 800
CHANGE 800

As already described in the section on Financial Assets, this item includes the value of the quota relating to the 
Sim Idra S.r.l. spin-off, as a result of putting the company in liquidation in mid-December 2015.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (IV.)
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Bank and postal deposits 21,730 872,027 (850,297)
Cash on hand 10,190 14,422 (4,232)
TOTAL 31,920 886,449 (854,529)

The balance of “Bank and postal deposits” at 31 December amounted to Euro 31,920 and reflects total 
liquid assets available to the Treasurer’s Office accounts of the University departments for accounting and 
administrative services.
Compared to the previous year, cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year reduced by Euro 854,529. 
The treasury account was set to zero for the first time and a payable was also recorded for the use of cash 
advances, as detailed in section D) I.1) “Mortgages and due to banks”.
Cash advances are provided by the Autonomous Province of Trento to allow the University to meet part of its 
financing requirements, so as to fill any shortfall between cash inflows and outflows, as well as the failure to 
repay the same by the end of the year.
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The average monthly use of cash advances amounted to Euro 9.4 million in 2015.
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014
Cash and cash equivalents 31,920 886,449
Amounts owing to banks for cash advances (2,560,270) -
Amounts owing to banks for Mortgages (22,598,046) (25,000,000)
TOTAL (25,126,396) (24,113,551)

It must be noted that the payables to EIB are guaranteed by a surety issued by the Autonomous Province 
of Trento and are financially covered by the disbursement of the provincial government’s grants in annual 
instalments, awarded and irrevocably allocated by the Resolution no. 619 passed by the Provincial Council on 
28 April 2014 to the execution of the building works co-financed by the EIB loan. The loan will be repaid on the 
basis of an amortisation plan at the interest rate set by the EIB.
The transaction is detailed in the section on D) II.1) “Mortgages and Due to Banks” below.
The financial operations are described in the Cash Flow Statement reported above.

C) ACCRUED INCOME AND PREPAID EXPENSES 
As mentioned in the Accounting Policies described above in the preamble, accrued income and prepaid 
expenses include income and expenses accruing prior to or after they are received and paid and/or recorded. 
They do not refer to the date of payment or collection of income, they are common to two or more years and 
can be spanned over time.
Balance at 31.12.2014 10,178,551
Balance at l 31.12.2015 8,669,337
CHANGE 1,509,214

Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
c1) Accrued income for ongoing projects and research 7,811,036 8,670,629 (859,593)
c2) Other Accrued income and prepaid expenses 858,301 1,507,922 (649,621)
TOTAL 8,669,337 10,178,551 (1,509,214)

c1) Accrued income for ongoing projects and research 
As a result of the entry into force of the new accounting standards of universities, contract work in progress 
stated under closing inventories until the 2014 financial year are classified under “Accrued income for ongoing 
projects and research” starting from the 2015 financial year.
As a counter-entry of the measurement of contract work in progress, a specific “Provision for risks for managing 
departments’ projects” was set aside under liabilities, which amounted to Euro 785,000 at 31 December 
2015, for which reference should be made to the relevant section on “Provisions for risks and charges” under 
Liabilities.
For a detailed analysis of changes relating to the various academic departments, reference should be made to the 
overall breakdown of “Accruals for ongoing projects and research” and “Deferrals for ongoing projects and research” 
reported at the bottom of the item “Deferred income for ongoing projects and research” in section E) I.e1).

c2) Other accrued income and prepaid expenses 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014
Accrued income 424,750 1,073,888
Prepaid expenses 433,551 434,034
TOTAL 858,301 1,507,922
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Accrued income is reflected in the following Income and Expenditure Account items:
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014
Grants from the European Union and other International Organisations 279,391 287,428
Other income and revenues from institutional activities 60,345 7,533
Grants from other local authorities 51,000 -
Grants from MIUR and other central Authorities 24,413 30,000
Revenues from commissioned research and transfer of technology 7,575 -
Other income and revenues from commercial activities 1,400 1,342
Financial income 626 1,105
Grants from others (private entities) - 3,567
Fees and dues - 742,913
TOTAL 424,750 1,073,888

Prepaid expenses are reflected in the following Income and Expenditure Account items:
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014
Leases and rentals 155,571 200,234
Purchase of services and technical and managerial assistance – Library services 154,069 91,640
Costs for student support - Students and graduates 78,795 96,238
Costs for student support - PhD candidates 15,912 4,553
Purchase of services and technical and managerial assistance – Other services 8,280 9,971
Scholarship costs 8,243 6,995
Other costs 5,407 4,054
Sundry operating expenses 3,796 3,770
Purchase of books, magazines and bibliographic material 2,164 2,095
Purchase of services and technical and managerial assistance – Property management and 
utilities 792 621

Costs for research and teaching staff - scientific assistants (collaborators, research fellows, etc.) 522 -
Costs for research and teaching staff – language experts – Costs for language experts - 89
Costs for research and teaching staff - professors/assistant professors – Costs for professors/
assistant professors - 586

Costs for managerial and technical-administrative staff - 9,086
Staff wages and contributions - 4,102
TOTAL 433,551 434,034

There is no accrued income or prepaid expenses with residual duration of more than 5 years.
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LIABILITIES
A) NET ASSETS
Balance at 31.12.2014 43,272,554
Balance at 31.12.2015 61,343,056
CHANGE 18,070,502

Below is the related breakdown:

Description Value at 
31.12.2015

Value at 
31.12.2014 Change

I - University endowment fund 495,091 495,091 -
I - University endowment fund 495,091 495,091 -

1) Third-party restricted funds - - -
2) Restricted funds as decided by institutional bodies - - -
3) Restricted reserves (for specific projects, legal obligations, or other reasons) 4,000,000 - 4,000,000

II - Restricted assets 4,000,000 - 4,000,000
1) Operating result for the year 2,632,226 3,612,226 (980,000)
2) Operating results relating to previous years, of which 54,215,739 39,165,237 15,050,502

2a) Prior years results 42,777,463 39,165,237 3,612,226
2b) FTA reserve for the accounting standards of Universities 11,438,276 - 11,438,276

3) Reserves required by the Statute - - -
III - Unrestricted assets 56,847,965 42,777,463 14,070,502
TOTAL NET ASSETS 61,343,056 43,272,554 18,070,502

The new composition of Net Assets is the result of the following changes that occurred during 2015:

Description Value at 
31.12.2014

Application 
of new 

accounting 
standards 

Allocation of 
the net profit 
for the year 

2014

Net profit for 
the year 2015

Value at 
31.12.2015

Net Asset Reserve 495,091 (495,091) - - -
University endowment fund - 495,091 - - 495,091
I - University endowment fund 495,091 495,091
1) Restricted reserves (for specific projects, legal 

obligations, or other reasons) - 4,000,000 - - 4,000,000

II - Restricted assets 4,000,000 4,000,000
1) Operating result for the year 3,612,226 - (3,612,226) 2,632,226 2,632,226
2) Operating results relating to previous years, of which 

2a) Prior years results - 39,165,237 3,612,226 - 42,777,463
2b) FTA reserve for the accounting standards of 

Universities - 11,438,276 - - 11,438,276

Reserve fund 39,165,237 (39,165,237) - - -
3) Reserves required by the Statute - - - - -
III - Unrestricted assets 42,777,463 11,438,276 - 2,632,226 56,847,965
TOTAL NET ASSETS 43,272,554 15,438,276 - 2,632,226 61,343,056
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The following transactions were then recorded:
• the recognition of the allocation of the net profit for the 2014 financial year to the Reserve Fund as resolved by 

the Board of Directors’ meeting held on 28 May 2015 in compliance with Article 4, para. 3 (a) of the University 
Regulations for Finance and Accounting previously in force;

• recognition of net profit for the 2015 financial year;
• recognition of the effects following the entry into force of the new accounting standards of universities detailed 

in the table below:

Financial statement item at 31.12.2014 2015 financial statement item Amount Change  
in Net Assets

Net assets Net assets -
Net asset reserve University endowment fund 495,091 -
Reserve fund Operating results relating to previous years 39,165,237 -
Reserve fund (Net profit for the 2014 financial 
year) Operating results relating to previous years 3,612,226 -

Provisions for risks and charges Net assets 26,740,737
Provision for balancing and developing 
teaching staff and assistant professors 

FTA reserve for accounting standards of Universities  
(Ministerial Decree 19/2014) 16,498,101 16,498,101

Extraordinary Plan Provision Associate 
Professors Art. 29 para. 9 Law 240/10

FTA reserve for accounting standards of Universities  
(Ministerial Decree 19/2014) 4,032,274 4,032,274

Provision for developing higher education FTA reserve for accounting standards of Universities  
(Ministerial Decree 19/2014) 3,000,000 3,000,000

Provision on behalf of third parties FTA reserve for accounting standards of Universities  
(Ministerial Decree 19/2014) 1,584,695 1,584,695

Provision for IT common costs FTA reserve for accounting standards of Universities  
(Ministerial Decree 19/2014) 1,000,025 1,000,025

Provision for residual PhD scholarships FTA reserve for accounting standards of Universities  
(Ministerial Decree 19/2014) 273,580 273,580

Provision for resources under Art.67 (5) of Law 
133 of 2008

FTA reserve for accounting standards of Universities  
(Ministerial Decree 19/2014) 184,107 184,107

Provision for sick leave under Art. 71 of Law 
Decree 112/2008

FTA reserve for accounting standards of Universities  
(Ministerial Decree 19/2014) 120,989 120,989

Provision for staff housing benefits to be given FTA reserve for accounting standards of Universities  
(Ministerial Decree 19/2014) 46,966 46,966

Advances Net Assets 4,000,000

Advances from funding entities Restricted reserves (for specific projects, legal obligations,  
or other reasons) 4,000,000 4,000,000

Payables -
Due to employees (holidays, leave and hours to make up for) 1,380,243 -
Due to MIUR and other central Authorities (IRAP tax) 117,321 -
Other payables (social security contributions) 335,017 -
Net Assets (1,832,581)
FTA reserve for new accounting standards 2015 (1,832,581) (1,832,581)
Accrued expenses and deferred income  
and grants to investments -

Grants to investments 13,469,880 -
Net Assets (13,469,880)
FTA reserve for accounting standards of Universities (Ministerial 
Decree 19/2014) (13,469,880) (13,469,880)

TOTAL CHANGE IN NET ASSETS FOR 
RECLASSIFICATIONS 15,438,276

The accounting effects that gave rise to changes in Net Assets reflect the provisions laid down under the new 
accounting standards for universities and Article 34 of the University Regulations for Finance and Accounting 
issued by the Rector’s Decree 159 of 22 February 2016.
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The main effects concern:
• the recognition of the resources allocated to Provisions for Risks and Charges in previous years under the 

unrestricted reserve of Net Assets, “FTA reserve for new accounting standards of Universities (Ministerial 
Decree 19/2014)”, as a result of the fact that, in light of the new accounting standards, all the requirements 
necessary for their recognition under said item are not met;

• the recognition, under the restricted reserve of Net Assets, “Restricted reserves (for specific projects, legal 
obligations, or other reasons”, of capital grants suspended in the previous 2012 financial year, in view of 
subsequent investments and recognised as “Advances” under “Advances from funding entities”;

• the allocation of the payable at 1 January 2015 for holidays, leave and hours to make up for, accrued but 
not yet taken by the subordinate employees, including the IRAP tax and social security contributions, with a 
reduction of the same amount in the “FTA reserve for new 2015 accounting standards”;

• the reinstatement of capital grants recognised in previous years against the investments made by the 
University for the acquisition of the land entered in the accounts, with a reduction of the same amount in the 
“FTA reserve for new accounting standards of Universities (Ministerial Decree 19/2014)”.

B) PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES
These are liabilities relating to amounts set aside to cover risks and charges accrued in the year, which are 
of a determined nature, and which are certain or probable, but whose amount or date of occurrence were 
undetermined at the reporting date of the financial statements.
Balance at 31.12.2014 54,415,176
Balance at 31.12.2015 31,037,817
CHANGE (23,377,359)

Description Value at 
31.12.2014 Increases Uses Releases Reclassifications Value at 

31.12.2015
Provision for the Collective Labour 
Agreement Art.7 Leg. Decree 142/2011 1,194,249 1,082,609 809,756 38,374 (75,580) 1,353,148

University Common Fund 381,704 169,969 357,273 - (24,424) 169,976
Provision for related items of managerial 
staff 145,267 136,074 91,877 17,969 (9,193) 162,302

Provision for designing indemnities 
under Merloni Law 260,779 34,613 138,296 - (16,704) 140,392

Provision for amounts in arrears due to 
assistant professors 51,500 - 12,971 - (3,259) 35,270

Provision for amounts in arrears due to 
teaching staff 47,604 27,527 37,277 - (3,013) 34,841

Provision for amounts in arrears due to 
technical-administrative staff 11,346 2,339 3,365 - (718) 9,602

Provision for amounts in arrears due to 
language experts 10,571 - 3,990 - (669) 5,912

Provision for balancing and developing 
teaching staff and assistant professors 
Extraordinary Plan Provision Associate 
Professors Art. 29 para. 9 

20,530,374 - - - (20,530,374) -

Provision for sick leaves under Art. 71 of 
Law Decree 112/2008 120,989 - - - (120,989) -

TOTAL PROVISIONS FOR STAFF 22,754,383 1,453,131 1,454,805 56,343 (20,784,923) 1,911,443
Provision for students awards and 
services 17,495,000 5,258,601 4,601 - (778,000) 21,971,000

Provision for other risks and charges 3,410,750 - 191,305 409,445 2,810,000
Provision for disputes 2,315,000 - 24,228 130,772 - 2,160,000
Provision for taxes and duties - 401,924 99,600 3,794 911,560 1,210,090
Provision for risks for managing 
Department projects 2,135,000 - 60,274 1,289,726 - 785,000

Provision for interest on advances for 
European projects in hand 215,669 - 21,898 3,487 - 190,284

Provision for developing higher education 3,000,000 - - - (3,000,000) -
Provision on behalf of third parties 1,584,695 - - - (1,584,695) -
Provision for IT common costs 1,000,025 - - - (1,000,025) -
Provision for residual PhD scholarships 273,581 - - - (273,581) -
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Description Value at 
31.12.2014 Increases Uses Releases Reclassifications Value at 

31.12.2015
Provision for resources under Art.67 (5) 
of Law 133 of 2008 184,107 - - - (184,107) -

Provision for staff housing benefits to be 
given 46,966 - - - (46,966) -

TOTAL PROVISIONS, 
ADMINISTRATION 31,660,793 5,660,525 401,906 1,837,224 (5,955,814) 29,126,374

TOTAL 54,415,176 7,113,656 1,856,711 1,893,567 (26,740,737) 31,037,817

The introduction of new accounting standards has entailed changes concerning the provisions for risks and 
charges set aside in previous years. The amount reported in the table, totalling Euro 26,740,737, relates to 
the reversal of these provisions, which are no longer permitted by the new standards, directly under Net Asset 
Reserves.
Regarding the Provisions for staff, the column “Increases” in the table above includes the provisions for 2015 
explained in detail in the relevant section of the Income and Expenditure Account, as well as some changes due 
to the movements in provisions for the various staff categories.
At year-end the “Provision for the Collective Labour Agreement under Art. 7 of Legislative Decree 142/2011” 
comprised the resources accrued in the year in relation to the Collective Labour Agreement (entered into on 21 
February 2014 following the implementation of Art. 7 of Legislative Decree 142/2011) which were set aside for 
administrative and technical staff and language experts; pay incentives will be paid in 2016.
The amounts accrued to the “University Common Fund” were identified based on the specific trade union 
agreement on the matter. For the year at issue the accrual made equals the amount stated in such agreement.
The amounts at 31 December 2015 in the “Provision for designing indemnities under Merloni Law” was adjusted 
based on the estimates made for the amounts to be paid to collaborators based on applicable regulations.
The “Provision for students awards and services” was formed following the introduction of the current student 
tuition fees model. The greater resources collected, after the degree has been completed, may be used for 
monetary awards to deserving students and for financing activities and services to help students. The amount 
accrued in 2015 was calculated on the basis of the excess revenue from the academic years 2014/2015 
and 2015/2016 for bachelor’s degrees (three-year courses), master’s degrees (two-year courses) and 5-year 
combined bachelor’s/master’s degrees, net of operating costs.
The “Provision for other risks and charges” includes the accruals made to cover potential liabilities on pending 
disputes and other charges for operations that were performed in the present year and in prior years but whose 
amount will be known in coming periods. As with the prior year, the most significant amount (Euro 1,807,621) 
relates to grants received from MIUR between 2008 and 2010 which will probably have to be repaid because 
the estimated undertakings for these grants were not made. The adjustment to year-end estimates resulted in 
the release of the amounts accrued in previous years mainly due to the conclusion of some lawsuits in 2015.
The “Provision for disputes” relates to disputes and other staff charges, including the estimated legal expenses 
that might be paid to the counterparty in the event of being the losing party in a dispute. The adjustment to  
year-end estimates for this Provision resulted in the release of the amounts accrued in previous years mainly due 
to the conclusion of some lawsuits in 2015.
The “Provision for taxes and duties” includes the accrued IRAP tax separated from the provisions in the 
“personnel” section and from the “Provision for students awards and services” in the “administration” section. 
The cost item of these provisions has been entered under “Current, deferred and prepaid income taxes”.
The “Provision for risks for managing department projects” covers the risks connected to any complaints on 
the budgeting or the results of the projects managed by the Departments. At the end of 2015 these risks were 
assessed not only in light of the new accounting standards for universities but also considering the new “Rules 
to incentivise research activities and to recover Department and University costs” enacted by the Rector’s 
Decree 599 of 29 September 2015; the projects undergoing assessment were considered as a whole, on the 
basis of specific risk reports submitted by the heads of the administrative areas.
The “Provision for interest on advances for European projects in hand” was adjusted to the estimate of 
the amount to be repaid when the European projects for which the University is a coordinator will be finally 
calculated.
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C) EMPLOYEE SEVERANCE PAY
This is the amount accrued to the categories of staff entitled to it (language experts).
Balance at 31.12.2014 364,605
Balance at 31.12.2015 387,827
CHANGE 23,222

During the year, the provision was used in the amount of Euro 563. The year-end accrual was made according 
to law for an amount of Euro 23,785.

D) PAYABLES
For the principles adopted, reference should be made to the section “Accounting standards and policies”.
Balance at 31.12.2014 54,850,250
Balance at 31.12.2015 52,231,058
CHANGE (2,619,192)

Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
1) Mortgages and due to banks 25,158,316 25,000,000 158,316
2) Due to MIUR and other central Authorities 5,444,249 3,618,661 1,825,588
3) Due to Regions and Autonomous Provinces 

3a) Due to Regions - - -
3b) Due to the Autonomous Province of Bolzano - - -
3c) Due to the Autonomous Province of Trento 198,664 4,057,240 (3,858,576)

4) Due to other local Authorities 2,444,929 665,501 1,779,428
5) Due to the European Union and other International Organisations 3,328 6,461 (3,133)
6) Due to Universities 852,862 763,137 89,725
7) Due to students 235,658 2,855,259 (2,619,601)
8) Advances - - -
9) Due to suppliers 10,374,549 11,447,878 (1,073,329)
10) Due to employees 2,532,362 1,701,946 830,416
11) Due to subsidiary companies or entities - - -
12) Other payables 4,986,141 4,734,167 251,974
TOTAL GROSS PAYABLE 52,231,058 54,850,250 (2,619,192)

The maturity of the payables detailed above is of beyond 12 months, except for the following items:
Description Total at 31.12.15 Within 12 months Beyond 12 months
Mortgages and due to banks 25,158,316 4,983,486 20,174,830
Due to suppliers 10,374,549 10,325,915 48,634
TOTAL 35,532,865 15,309,401 20,223,464

1) Mortgages and due to banks
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Payables for cash advances 2,560,270 - 2,560,270
Loans due within 12 months 2,423,216 2,401,954 21,262
Loans due beyond 12 months 20,174,830 22,598,046 (2,423,216)
TOTAL GROSS PAYABLES 25,158,316 25,000,000 158,316

Amounts due to banks at 31 December 2015 totalled Euro 158,316.
Loans refer to the loan agreement entered into with the European Investment Bank (EIB) on 30 April 2014. 
Through this operation, EIB provided the University of Trento with a Euro 70 million credit line, payable in more 
tranches, which the University can use in compliance with the provisions regulating the maximum amount of 
new borrowings and the Stability Pact. The operation, backed by the Autonomous Province of Trento and 
guaranteed by the same with a surety of Euro 45.31 million (resolution no. 619 of 28 April 2014), is intended to 
financially support the University Building plan. Withdrawals may not exceed the grants in annual instalments 
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provided by the Autonomous Province of Trento to the University. During the year the University did not apply 
for new tranches of funding and took steps to repay the debt entered in the 2014 financial statements in a total 
amount of Euro 2,423,216.
Payables for cash advances include, for the first time in the history of the University of Trento, a payable of Euro 
2,560,270 to the treasurer Banca Popolare di Sondrio for the use of cash advances that the University has not 
been able to repay within 12 months because of insufficient transfers of funding allocated by the Autonomous 
Province of Trento, which is the main funding authority of the University.

2) Due to MIUR and other central Authorities 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Due to MIUR and other central Authorities 5,444,249 3,618,661 1,825,588
TOTAL GROSS PAYABLES 5,444,249 3,618,661 1,825,588

The total payable due to MIUR and other central Authorities at 31 December 2015 mainly related to the payable 
to the Tax Office (Euro 4,357,716), which mainly includes the withholding taxes applied by the University as a 
withholding agent, as well as to IRAP tax and VAT payable as a result of the split payment, accrued in December 
2015, the payment of which was made in January 2016.
Payables due to MIUR (Euro 285,559) included grants to be returned as they were not due.

3C) Due to the Autonomous Province of  Trento
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Due to the Autonomous Province of Trento 198,664 4,057,240 (3,858,576)
TOTAL GROSS PAYABLE 198,664 4,057,240 (3,858,576)

The payable due to the Autonomous Province of Trento at 31 December 2015 mainly related to refunds of 
expenses for staff seconded to the University and returns of grants. The change compared to 2014 is to be 
attributed to the grants for the 2012 financial year received from the Autonomous Province of Trento and 
suspended in the same year in view of subsequent investments. These grants have been allocated directly to a 
Net Asset reserve, to which section reference should be made for any additional information.

4) Due to other Local Authorities 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Due to other Local Authorities 2,444,929 665,501 1,779,428
TOTAL GROSS PAYABLE 2,444,929 665,501 1,779,428

The most significant amount of payables due to other local Authorities related to Opera Universitaria towards 
which the University presents debt positions for the tax for the right to education collected on behalf of the same 
entity. The increase of Euro 1,779,428 recorded in the payable compared to 2014 was fully due to the deferral, 
agreed with the entity, of the payment of the Tax advance relating to the right to education for the academic year 
2015/2016 at the beginning of 2016 rather than in November 2015 (as required by an appropriate agreement).

5) Due to the European Union and other International Organisations 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Due to the European Union and other International Organisations 3,328 6,461 (3,133)
TOTAL GROSS PAYABLE 3,328 6,461 (3,133)

6) Due to Universities 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Due to Universities 852,862 763,137 89,725
TOTAL GROSS PAYABLE 852,862 763,137 89,725

This item includes the payables due at year-end, both from Italian and foreign universities, and Interuniversity 
Consortia. The amount at 31 December 2015 mainly related to payables for the provision of services and for the 
reimbursements of costs advanced by other universities on behalf of the University.
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7) Due to students
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Due to students 235,658 2,855,259 (2,619,601)
TOTAL GROSS PAYABLE 235,658 2,855,259 (2,619,601)

Amounts “due to students” at 31 December 2015 mostly relate to the repayment of mobility expenses and 
remuneration for student collaborations cleared at the end of 2015 and paid in early 2016. The significant 
change compared to the end of the previous year is to be attributed to the payable for 2014 merit awards paid 
during 2015.

9) Due to suppliers 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Due to suppliers 10,374,549 11,447,878 (1,073,329)
TOTAL GROSS PAYABLE 10,374,549 11,447,878 (1,073,329)

Payables “Due to suppliers” relate to supplies of goods and the provision of services, as well as to investments 
for the execution of building works and furniture.

10) Due to employees 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Due to employees 2,532,362 1,701,946 830,416
TOTAL GROSS PAYABLE 2,532,362 1,701,946 830,416

Payables “Due to employees” relate to both the different types of reimbursements of travelling expenses and 
fees paid to the staff other than current wages and salaries, and the year-end measurement of holidays, leave 
and hours to make up for, accrued and not yet taken by subordinate employees.

12) Other payables 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Other payables 4,986,141 4,734,167 251,974
TOTAL GROSS PAYABLE 4,986,141 4,734,167 251,974

Most of “Other payables” relate to grants to be paid to social security institutions, which remained unchanged 
compared to the previous year; payments were made in January 2016.

E) ACCRUED EXPENSES AND DEFERRED INCOME AND GRANTS TO 
INVESTMENTS 
As already described in the section on “Accounting standards and policies”, accrued expenses and deferred 
income include expenses and income accruing prior to or after they are received and paid and/or recorded. 
They do not refer to the date of payment or collection, they are common to two or more years and can be 
spanned over time.
Balance at 31.12.2014 304,421,158
Balance at 31.12.2015 333,936,824
CHANGE 29,515,666

Below is the breakdown of the item:
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
e1) deferred income for ongoing projects and research 25,439,384 27,225,540 (1,786,156)
e2) grants to investments 251,814,698 243,866,495 7,948,203
e3) other accrued expenses and deferred income 56,682,742 33,329,123 23,353,619
TOTAL 333,936,824 304,421,158 29,515,666
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e1) Deferred income for ongoing projects and research 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Deferred income for ongoing projects and research 25,439,384 27,225,540 (1,786,156)
TOTAL GROSS PAYABLE 25,439,384 27,225,540 (1,786,156)

As a result of the entry into force of the new accounting standards of universities, “Advances from customers for 
contract work in progress”, which were entered under advances until the 2014 financial year, are classified under 
“Deferrals income for ongoing projects and research” starting from the 2015 financial year.
The table below reports the breakdown of “Accruals for ongoing projects and research” and “Deferrals for 
ongoing projects and research” by department.

Department 
Accrued 
income 

2015

Deferred 
income 

2015
Total 2015

Accrued 
income 

2014

Deferred 
income 

2014
Total 2014 Changes

Department of Engineering and Information 
Science (2,818,927) 7,298,848 4,479,921 (2,317,660) 6,997,296 4,679,636 (199,715)

Department of Civil, Environmental and 
Mechanical Engineering (950,522) 4,020,716 3,070,194 (1,021,884) 4,434,743 3,412,859 (342,665)

Centre for Integrated Biology (814,401) 3,868,877 3,054,476 (878,489) 2,899,316 2,020,827 1,033,649
Interdepartmental Mind/Brain Centre (422,863) 3,291,166 2,868,303 (379,741) 3,439,548 3,059,807 (191,504)
Department of Industrial Engineering (1,253,960) 2,520,851 1,266,891 (1,639,486) 2,766,629 1,127,143 139,748
Department of Sociology and Social 
Research (132,662) 1,080,143 947,481 (440,775) 1,205,555 764,780 182,701

Department of Physics (527,803) 1,317,791 789,988 (776,231) 2,131,870 1,355,639 (565,651)
Department of Economics and Management (52,432) 376,646 324,214 (111,291) 566,403 455,112 (130,898)
Faculty of Law (183,071) 463,294 280,223 (245,637) 936,609 690,972 (410,749)
Department of Mathematics (138,244) 397,215 258,971 (93,493) 595,421 501,928 (242,957)
Department of Psychology and Cognitive 
Sciences (216,090) 356,824 140,734 (337,799) 541,874 204,075 (63,341)

Department of Humanities and Philosophy (290,755) 333,600 42,845 (428,143) 574,372 146,229 (103,384)
School of international studies (9,306) 49,830 40,524 - 78,276 78,276 (37,752)
Italian-German University Centre - 34,852 34,852 - 27,963 27,963 6,889
School of Social Sciences Centre - 28,731 28,731 - 29,665 29,665 (934)
TOTAL (7,811,036) 25,439,384 17,628,348 (8,670,629) 27,225,540 18,554,911 (926,563)

e2) Grants to investments 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Grants to investments 251,814,698 243,866,496 7,948,202
TOTALE DEBITO LORDO 251,814,698 243,866,496 7,948,202

“Grants to investments” arise from the management of capital grants through deferral, as described in the 
accounting policies.
The items in capital grants make up the deferred income of Euro 251,814,698 covering the net value of 
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets entered in the accounts at year end. The value showed an 
increase of Euro 7,948,202 compared to the previous year. This change was due to:
• an increase in the net residual value of intangible assets (Euro 1,725,337);
• a decrease in the net residual value of property, plant and equipment to be depreciated, excluding land (Euro 

7,247,015); this decrease was also due to the reversal of the design costs for the new University Library that 
was initially expected to be built at the Piazzale Sanseverino;

• the recognition under this item of the grants of Euro 13,469,880 that were received from the Autonomous 
Province of Trento at the time for the purchase of land, with a reduction of the same amount in the 
unrestricted reserve under Net Assets, “FTA reserve of the accounting standards of Universities” (Ministerial 
Decree 19/2014)”.

If this latter transaction is excluded, the value of the change in property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets, amounting to Euro 5,521,678, is reconciled with the portion of Euro 3,864,437 of the capital grants 
provided by the Autonomous Province of Trento referred to in “Grants from Regions and Autonomous 
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Provinces” (II.2.)”, taking account of the use of said grants to cover the capital loss of Euro 1,657,241 relating to 
the write-off of design costs for the new University Library initially expected to be built at the Sanseverino from 
“Assets under construction and payments on account” A) II 6).

e3) Other accrued expenses and deferred income 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014
Accrued expenses 349,282 715,761
Deferred income 56,333,460 32,613,361
TOTAL 56,682,742 33,329,122

As a result of the adoption of the new accounting standards for universities, the values of accrued expenses at 
31 December 2014 have been reclassified for Euro 4,013,846 to the debt items set out in the new schedule of 
financial statements.
Accrued expenses are reflected in the following Income and Expenditure Account items:
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014
Costs for student support-Other costs for student support 81,005 120,647
Purchase of services and technical and managerial assistance-Services and technical and 
managerial assistance 80,404 212,737

Costs for research and teaching staff-Professors under fixed-term contracts 47,299 34,043
Sundry operating expenses 32,964 31,122
Other costs-Travelling expenses 26,077 22,751
Interest and other financial charges 24,717 27,352
Costs for research and teaching staff-Other research and teaching staff 12,689 15,484
Other costs-Expenses for (external) institutional bodies 9,951 1,414
Costs for managerial and technical-administrative staff-Other costs for managerial and technical-
administrative staff 8,852 14,867

Purchase of services and technical-managerial assistance-Property management and utilities 6,131 19,233
Costs of research and teaching staff-Scientific scientific assistants (collaborators, research 
fellows, etc.) 5,807 93,419

Costs for student support-Students and graduates 4,158 13,365
Costs for research and publishing 4,002 14,067
Costs of research and teaching staff-professors/assistant professors-Other costs for professors 
and assistant professors 2,700 22,907

Other costs 1,781 9,109
Purchase of books, magazines, and bibliographical material 711 -
Purchase of services and technical and managerial assistance-Other services 34 19,439
Costs of research and teaching staff-Language experts-Other costs for language experts - 12,100
Costs for research and teaching staff-professors/assistant professors-Costs for professors and 
assistant professors - 5,444

Costs for managerial and technical-administrative staff –Costs for managerial and technical-
administrative staff - 7,014

Costs for leases and rentals - 14,701
Costs for student support-PhD candidates - 4,546
TOTAL 349,282 715,761

Deferred income is reflected in the following Income and Expenditure Account items:
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014
Interest and other financial charges 35,650,000 23,275,000
Revenues from teaching-Fees and dues 11,585,520 3,169,186
Grants from Regions and Autonomous Provinces 2,905,256 3,029,452
Grants from MIUR and other central Authorities 2,768,252 318,252
Grants from the European Union and other International Organisations 1,710,558 1,389,106
Grants from other local Authorities 761,909 905,396
Grants from others (private entities) 504,773 280,462
Grants from Universities 250,354 164,839
Revenues from teaching –Other grants for teaching 90,268 -
Other sundry income and revenues from commercial activities 80,469 81,668
Other sundry income and revenues from institutional activities 26,101 -
TOTAL 56,333,460 32,613,361
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MEMORANDUM ACCOUNTS
The memorandum accounts shown at the bottom of the Balance Sheet, in accordance with Article 2424 of the 
Italian Civil Code, represent guarantees, commitments and risks that are not disclosed in the main accounting 
entries and serve the purpose of providing more thorough information on the financial position shown in the 
Balance Sheet.
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Debenture loan for university housing - 5,198,656 (5,198,656)
Third-party assets held under gratuitous loan for use 142,709,914 - 142,709,914
TOTAL 142,709,914 5,198,656 137,511,258

The change in this item relates to the closure of the debenture loan that accompanied the financing of building 
works executed during 2005 and to the recognition, as required by the new accounting standards, of the values 
of third-party assets held under gratuitous loan for use in favour of the University.
Below is the breakdown of third-party assets held under gratuitous loan for use:
Description Location Ownership Value
Engineering Department via Mesiano,77 Autonomous Province of Trento 45,634,308
Sociology Department via Verdi, 26 Autonomous Province of Trento 27,083,337
Sciences Department via Sommarive, 14 Autonomous Province of Trento 30,111,894

Rector’s Office 
via Calepina, 14 Autonomous Province of Trento 4,007,164
via Roccabruna, 2 Autonomous Province of Trento 232,145
via S. Trinità, 13 Autonomous Province of Trento 63,588

Nursery via S. Margherita 13 Opera Universitaria (P.a.T.) 2,718,809
Psychology and Cognitive Sciences corso Bettini, 64 - Rovereto Municipality of Rovereto 9,000,516
Ex Scuole Damiano Chiesa via Tartarotti, 15 Municipality of Rovereto 4,401,412
Ex Manifatture Borgo Sacco Trentino Sviluppo 19,456,741
TOTALS  142,709,914

The values reported above partly reflect the purchase cost of the property notified by the owner (Engineering, 
Sociology and Sciences offices owned by the Autonomous Province of Trento), while as regards the remaining 
portion they correspond to the cadastral value for IMIS tax (Imposta Immobiliare Semplice, Ordinary Property 
Tax) purposes or the value notified by the owner or, as a result of the failure to give said notice, by the technical 
offices of the University.
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ANALYSIS OF THE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE 
ACCOUNT
A) OPERATING REVENUES 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Own revenues 43,146,038 41,866,681 1,279,357
Grants 137,843,588 135,096,452 2,747,136
Other sundry revenues and income 4,055,038 5,513,495 (1,458,457)
Changes in inventories - - -
Capitalisation of internal construction costs - - -
TOTAL 185,044,664 182,476,628 2,568,036

OWN REVENUES (I)
“Own revenues” include three macro-categories:
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Revenues from teaching 22,187,239 21,485,587 701,652
Revenues from commissioned Research projects and technology 
transfer 5,530,079 5,876,306 (346,227)

Revenues from competitive Research funding 15,428,720 14,504,788 923,932
TOTAL 43,146,038 41,866,681 1,279,357

Revenues from teaching (I.1.)
These are tuition fees collected for services rendered by the University to its enrolled students. Tuition fees 
include matriculation fees and university dues. The matriculation fee cannot be lower than the amount indicated 
by the MIUR, which has set this fee, under Ministerial Decree 190/2015, at Euro 199.58 for the academic year 
2015/2016, while the University of Trento has set it at Euro 200.00. The university dues instead are determined 
by every university on the basis of its own financial autonomy and is commensurate to the costs to be incurred 
for the “educational services” provided to the students and for the associated ancillary services. Moreover, 
the University of Trento diversified the amount of dues by type of student, in relation to enrolment to master’s 
degrees, in light of the costs incurred to internationalise its curriculum.
The contribution model whereby the dues payable by students are determined by their household income is 
now applied to almost all the students, as the cohorts that benefited from the dues under the “old system” are 
nearly exhausted. Nearly all those students, in fact, have either graduated or have transferred to other cohorts 
(in the academic years 2014/15 and 2015/16 the enrolled students that benefitted from the old system of dues 
were about 5% of total students).
Below is the data in detail:
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Fees and dues 21,522,387 20,570,020 952,367
Courses and commercial educational activities 354,454 441,866 (87,412)
Other dues for teaching 310,398 473,701 (163,303)
TOTAL 22,187,239 21,485,587 701,652

“Fees and dues” that accrued in 2015, net of reimbursements, are mainly made up of the amounts collected 
from students for the “Matriculation fee” and “University dues” in three accounting years.
The amount of “Matriculation fee” includes:
• the portion of the matriculation fee for the 2014/2015 academic year collected in July – December 2014, of 

which 2/3 is related to 2015 (deferred income 2014); 
• the portion of the matriculation fee for the 2014/2015 academic year and previous years, collected in 2015;
• the portion of the matriculation fee for the 2015/2016 academic year, of which 1/3 is related to 2015 (2/3 have 

been deferred to 2016).
The amount of “University dues” includes: 
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• the first instalment of the 2014/2015 academic year collected in July – December 2014, of which 2/3 is 
related to 2015 (deferred income 2014);

• the second instalment of the 2014/2015 academic year and the instalments of previous academic years 
collected in 2015;

• the first and the second instalment of the 2015/2016 academic year, of which 1/3 is related to 2015 (2/3 have 
been deferred to 2016).

The amounts of the matriculation fee and the portions of tuition payments relating to previous academic years 
are fully recorded under “Fees and dues”, since these amounts are negligible in comparison with the total value 
of the item.
The matching of fees and dues paid for the 2015/2016 academic year is defined through a close analysis, 
for each student, comparing the data recorded in the accounting system with those of the system for the 
management of students from which the total amount due for the whole academic year is calculated.
The increase in tuition payments is due to the payment system that has been gradually extended to the 
matriculated students which, as previously described, provides for higher payments that generate excess 
revenues to be allocated to the “Fund for prizes and services for students”. The amount accrued in the year is 
Euro 5,258,601, net of IRAP tax allocated under the appropriate “Provision for taxes and duties”.
Below are the matriculation fees and dues of 2015 for degree courses and graduate schools grouped by 
Department broken down by revenues (as derived from the off-balance-sheet data). The amounts below do not 
refer to dues for specialisation courses, qualifying examinations, penalties for late payments and other teaching 
activities. For the 2015/2016 academic year the administrative office of the Specialisation school for legal 
professionals is based in the Law Faculty of the University of Verona.

Department Matriculation fees and 
dues 31.12.2015

Department of Economics and Management 3,292,967
Faculty of Law 3,182,195
Department of Humanities and Philosophy 3,101,633
Department of Civil, Environmental and Mechanical Engineering 2,779,385
Department of Sociology and Social Research 1,792,502
Department of Psychology and Cognitive Sciences 1,389,693
Department of Engineering and Information Science 1,319,201
Department of Industrial Engineering 1,107,726
Department of Mathematics 976,813
Department of Physics 503,512
Centre for Integrated Biology 312,177
School of international studies 191,334
Specialisation school for legal professionals 100,702
Interdepartmental Mind/Brain Centre 90,632
Total fees and dues for degree courses and graduate schools 20,140,472
Recoveries and reimbursements for teaching (16,623)
Specialisation courses, qualifying examinations and other teaching activities 1,398,538
TOTAL MATRICULATION FEES AND DUES 21,522,387

Revenues from commissioned Research projects and technology transfer (I.2.)
Revenues from commissioned Research projects are broken down as follows:
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Research and professional advice 5,161,927 5,530,363 (368,436)
Conventions and seminars 187,604 149,521 38,083
Research projects commissioned by the EU - commercial activities 180,548 196,422 (15,874)
TOTAL 5,530,079 5,876,306 (346,227)
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This item recorded a decrease of 5.89%, which was mainly due to a reduction in “Research and professional 
advice”. Below is the breakdown of “research and professional advice” by the University departments:
Department 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Department of Industrial Engineering 1,377,157 1,368,829 8,328
Department of Civil, Environmental and Mechanical Engineering 1,299,222 1,220,979 78,243
Department of Engineering and Information Science 1,051,104 1,236,524 (185,420)
Interdepartmental Mind/Brain Centre 301,484 332,006 (30,522)
Centre for Integrated Biology 246,671 230,399 16,272
Department of Psychology and Cognitive Sciences 229,475 238,941 (9,466)
Department of Physics 145,327 204,798 (59,471)
Department of Mathematics 115,424 135,080 (19,656)
Department of Economics and Management 113,492 152,296 (38,804)
Department of Humanities and Philosophy 101,752 117,064 (15,312)
Faculty of Law 95,706 149,193 (53,487)
Department of Sociology and Social Research 85,113 144,254 (59,141)
TOTAL 5,161,927 5,530,363 (368,436)

Revenues from competitive research funding (I.3.)
Below is the breakdown of research funding received through competitive procedures:
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
EU research funding 11,143,991 10,070,750 1,073,241
Research funding from Autonomous Provinces 1,826,943 2,588,033 (761,090)
Other research funding from MIUR 1,575,779 910,860 664,919
MIUR – PRIN award 593,762 589,803 3,959
Research funding from other Ministries 288,245 345,342 (57,097)
TOTAL 15,428,720 14,504,788 923,932

This item recorded an increase of 6.37%, which was mainly due to an increase in “EU research funding”. Below 
is the breakdown by University departments:
Department 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Department of Engineering and Information Science 3,607,626 3,869,366 (261,740)
Interdepartmental Mind/Brain Centre 2,174,794 1,421,954 752,840
Department of Industrial Engineering 1,816,299 1,645,648 170,651
Department of Civil, Environmental and Mechanical Engineering 1,671,681 1,598,017 73,664
Department of Physics 560,717 498,971 61,746
Faculty of Law 475,774 452,294 23,480
Centre for Integrated Biology 419,903 124,849 295,054
Department of Sociology and Social Research 198,096 303,962 (105,866)
Department of Mathematics 66,058 46,075 19,983
Department of Economics and Management 64,982 30,684 34,298
Department of Humanities and Philosophy 56,052 38,075 17,977
Department of Psychology and Cognitive Sciences 32,009 38,205 (6,196)
School of international studies - 2,650 (2,650)
TOTAL 11,143,991 10,070,750 1,073,241
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GRANTS (II)
This item includes operating and capital grants distributed by the Autonomous Province of Trento, the main 
funding authority of the university, within the framework of the new law provisions concerning financing 
institutional activity (the Planning Policy Guidelines), and by third parties to cover current expenses or costs for 
other specifically planned activities.
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Grants from MIUR and other central Authorities 1,277,538 2,495,035 (1,217,497)
Grants from Regions and Autonomous Provinces 128,606,240 125,650,579 2,955,661
Grants from other local Authorities 1,987,535 1,580,334 407,201
Grants from the European Union and other International Organisations 1,407,997 1,213,766 194,231
Grants from Universities 360,669 335,450 25,219
Grants from others (public entities) - - -
Grants from others (private entities) 4,203,609 3,821,288 382,321
TOTAL 137,843,588 135,096,452 2,747,136

Grants from MIUR and other central Authorities (II.1.)
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Grants from MIUR 214,920 1,675,927 (1,461,007)
Grants from other central Authorities 1,062,618 819,108 243,510
TOTAL 1,277,538 2,495,035 (1,217,497)

“Grants from MIUR” include the revenues from ministries recognised according to the matching principle and 
related to the grants provided to the University for the “Fondo Giovani” (Young People Fund) awarded by the 
MIUR under Ministerial Decree 976/2014.
This item reported a considerable decrease compared to 2014, as the remaining amount of the ministerial 
grant covering operating costs (Law 590/1982) for 2010 was collected for Euro 1,244,556, which had been 
recognised in the previous year.
“Grants from other central Authorities” include the loans, recognised according to the matching principle and 
disbursed by other Ministries or research institutions to the University for PhD schools and research activities.  
An increase of 30% was recorded compared to the previous year, which was due to an increase in research 
project grants provided in favour of the Department of Physics, in particular for the Limadou project awarded by 
the National Institute of Physics (Istituto Nazionale di Fisica).
Below is the breakdown of “Grants from other central Authorities” by University department:
Department 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Department of Physics 823,577 408,889 414,688
Department of Engineering and Information Science 37,766 67,026 (29,260)
Department of Industrial Engineering 16,461 15,047 1,414
Department of Mathematics 5,527 2,312 3,215
Centre for Integrated Biology 5,200 855 4,345
Interdepartmental Mind/Brain Centre 2,800  15,825 (13,025)
Department of Civil, Environmental and Mechanical Engineering 984 - 984
Department of Humanities and Philosophy - 174 (174)
Central authority 170,302 308,980 (138,678)
TOTAL 1,062,617 819,108 243,509

Grants from Regions and Autonomous Provinces (II.2.)
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Grants from Autonomous Regions 499 7,864 (7,365)
Grants from the Autonomous Province of Trento 128,596,175 125,642,715 2,953,460
Grants from other Autonomous Provinces 9,566 - 9,566
TOTAL 128,606,240 125,650,579 2,955,661
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This item recorded an increase of 2.35% that was mainly due to an increase in “Grants from the Autonomous 
Province of Trento”, which is broken down as follows:

Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Operating grants - Planning Agreement Autonomous Province of Trento 1,003,396 677,993 325,403
Revenues for operating grants from the Autonomous Province of Trento - base fee 111,024,600 105,868,600 5,156,000
Operating grants from the Autonomous Province of Trento - base fee A.I. to cover costs for 
investments in the year (1,280,862) (4,388,823) 3,107,961

Operating grants from the Autonomous Province of Trento - programme fee Planning Policy 
Guidelines 2,531,004 5,864,605 (3,333,601)

Other operating grants from the Autonomous Province of Trento - Planning Policy Guidelines 395,864 269157 126,707
Other operating grants from the Autonomous Province of Trento 39,806 63,287 (23,481)
University building grants 14,882,367 17,287,896 (2,405,529)
Total operating grants 128,596,175 125,642,715 2,953,460

“Operating grants - Planning Agreement Autonomous Province of Trento” include for the 2015 financial 
year revenues to cover operating costs for activities financed through the residual amounts of the Planning 
Agreement.
“Revenues for operating grants from the Autonomous Province of Trento - base fee” include the loan intended to 
cover operating costs, as well as investment costs, other than university building.
The award for 2015 increased by Euro 2,816,000 compared to the previous year. The new 2015/2018 Planning 
Policy Guidelines, which were approved by resolution 1230 passed by the Provincial Council on 20 July 2015, 
set the annual amount of the base fee at Euro 111,024,600 and provide for it to be no longer subject to the 
attainment of the objectives set out in the “Performance plan” agreed between the Autonomous Province of 
Trento and the University, which had entailed the recognition of a lower revenue of Euro 2,340,000 in 2014 
compared to the amount allocated.
“Operating grants - programme fee” include the grants provided by the Provincial government and intended, 
pursuant to article 8 of the Planning Policy Guidelines, to finance specific development plans. The amount 
allocated for the 2015 financial year was Euro 2,414,000. Accrued revenues were Euro 2,531,400 and covered 
expenses incurred during the year; they are made up of portions of funding awarded both during the year and 
in previous years. The grant amount not yet used was deferred to the subsequent year through the method of 
deferred income.
“Other operating grants from the Autonomous Province of Trento - Planning Policy Guidelines” include the 
grants awarded by the Provincial government for projects relating to activities that are regarded as of “common 
interest”, the amount of which allocated in 2015 was Euro 446,000. It is specified that an amount of Euro 
250,000 of the grants was allocated to supplement the “programmatic share” items of the provincial Budget. 
Accrued revenues amounted to Euro 395,864 in 2015 and were intended to cover expenses for projects 
incurred during the year, which also used residual amounts awarded in previous years.
The residual part is deferred to the subsequent year through the method of deferred income.
The breakdown of expenses incurred in 2015 for projects financed by the programmatic share and by grants for 
“activities of common interest” is reported in the section on the “Report 2015 - Planning Agreements”.
“Other operating grants from the Autonomous Province of Trento”, a minor amount compared to the other 
items analysed, include grants which are not regulated in the Planning Policy Guidelines. Specifically, the item 
reports, both for 2014 and for 2015, the balance of the loan relating to the agreement entered into between 
the University of and the Autonomous Province of Trento - Provincial Energy Agency (Agenzia Provinciale per 
l’Energia).
The Autonomous Province of Trento acknowledges that the University is entitled to use the resources allocated 
on the sections 313000 and 317000 of the Provincial governments’ budget, both to cover investments, 
excluding university building, and to meet operating costs.
“University building grants” include capital grants covering investment costs incurred during the year and is 
broken down in the table below:
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Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
University building grants from the Autonomous Province of Trento 9,737,371 9,864,669 (127,298)
Transferred to base fee of the grant to cover investments costs for the year 1,280,862 4,388,823 (3,107,961)
TOTAL CAPITAL GRANTS RECORDED IN THE YEAR 11,018,233 14,253,492 (3,235,259)
Capital losses on disposal of assets (303) (9,586) 9,283
Used/Transferred to “Grants to investments” 3,864,437 3,043,990 820,447
TOTAL 14,882,367 17,287,896 (2,405,529)

To guarantee the coverage of the costs incurred in the year it was necessary to use part of the “Revenues for 
operating grants from the Autonomous Province of Trento - base fee” amounting to Euro 1,280,862 and part 
of the “Grants to investments”, relating to grants disbursed by the Autonomous Province of Trento in previous 
years, for a total of Euro 3,864,437.
At the end of the year, the amount concerning amortisation for the year was recorded as revenue (Euro 
14,882,367) deferring the residual portion to cover the existing investments still to be amortised.

Grants from other Local Authorities (II.3.)
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Grants from Municipalities 128,485 65,910 62,575
Grants from Provinces 54,670 53,885 785
Grants from other Local Authorities 1,804,380 1,460,539 343,841
TOTAL 1,987,535 1,580,334 407,201 

The item recorded an increase of 26%, which was mainly due to an increase in “Grants from other Local 
Authorities “.
Specifically, the increase concerned loans received for PhD schools regulated under special agreements.

Grants from the European Union and other International Organisations (II.4.)
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Grants from the European Union 1,407,997 1,213,766 194,231
Grants from other International Organisations - -  

TOTAL 1,407,997 1,213,766 194,231

“Grants from the European Union” relate to both the funding of scholarships and projects financed within the 
scope of the University’s institutional activities. This item recorded an increase of 16% compared to the previous 
year, which was mainly due to an increase in the funding relating to the Erasmus Plus - Student mobility project, 
managed by the central Administration (Teaching and Student Services Management).
Below is the breakdown of the item by University department:

Department 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Central administration 1,305,468 1,152,502 152,966
Department of Industrial Engineering 50,471 18,772 31,699
Department of Sociology and Social Research 34,375 27,287 7,088
Department of Humanities and Philosophy 16,947 4,752 12,195
Department of Civil, Environmental and Mechanical Engineering 736 8,633 (7,897)
Department of Engineering and Information Science - 1,820 (1,820)
TOTAL 1,407,997 1,213,766 194,231

Grants from Universities (II.5.)
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Grants from Universities 360,669 335,450 25,219
TOTAL 360,669 335,450 25,219 



54  
University of Trento 
Unified University Financial Statements 2015

“Grants from Universities” mainly include funding received from other universities for PhD courses and regulated 
by special agreements. This item recorded a slight increase compared to the previous year (8%) relating to the 
PhD school of Development Economics and Local System (XXX cycle).

Grants from others (private entities) (II.7.)
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Grants from private entities 4,203,609 3,821,288 382,321
TOTAL 4,203,609 3,821,288 382,321

“Grants from others (private entities)” mainly include revenues accounted for research funding and PhD schools. 
The main loans recognised under this item include the accrued amount of grants provided by Fondazione Cassa 
di Risparmio di Trento e Rovereto, which amounted to Euro 1,135,104 (for the breakdown of reported expenses, 
reference should be made to the section on “Report 2015 - Planning Agreements) for the financial year under 
consideration.
This item recorded an increase of 10% compared to 2014, which was mainly due to an increase in research 
grants, in particular for the SMC projects of the Mind/Brain Centre and for the research activities carried out by 
the Center for Integrated Biology with the support of Fondazione Armenise-Harvard.
Below is the breakdown by University department:
Department 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Centre for Integrated Biology 1,201,711 894,518 307,193
Mind/Brain Centre 491,383 264,649 226,734
Department of Engineering and Information Science 466,213 548,224 (82,011)
Department of Civil, Environmental and Mechanical Engineering 219,862 112,136 107,726
Department of Economics and Management 215,384 195,758 19,626
Department of Physics 71,929 33,495 38,434
Department of Sociology and Social Research 62,050 33,207 28,843
Department of Humanities and Philosophy 57,663 94,944 (37,281)
Department of Psychology and Cognitive Sciences 33,296 81,965 (48,669)
Faculty of Law 24,749 56,303 (31,554)
Department of Industrial Engineering 22,025 113,957 (91,932)
School of international studies 20,556 500 20,056
Department of Mathematics 14,815 1,500 13,315
School of Social Sciences 6,732 2,230 4,502
Teaching and Student Services Management 892,241 818,902 73,339
Central administration 403,000 569,000 (166,000)
Grand total 4,203,609 3,821,288 382,321

OTHER SUNDRY REVENUES AND INCOME (V)
This item includes other ancillary income items or those excluded from the above.
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Other income and revenues from institutional activities 3,251,919 4,805,918 (1,553,999)
Other income and revenues from commercial activities 803,119 707,577 95,542
TOTAL 4,055,038 5,513,495 (1,458,457)

The decrease (-26.45%) was substantially due to the different methods of calculation and accounting, as 
regards the item “Other income and revenues from institutional activities”, of the Provision for risks for the 
Departments’ projects (+Euro 1,289,726) and merit awards (-Euro 2,797,393) referred to in “Students and 
graduates” in the Income and Expenditure Account section B) IX.1), following the entry into force of the new 
accounting standards of universities.
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B) OPERATING COSTS 
Operating costs relate to those expenses strictly related to the University’s business and institutional activities, 
that is teaching and research. Therefore, they concern costs for teaching staff, assistant professors and 
language experts, costs for services relating to teaching and research as well as aids in favour of students and 
higher education.
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
PERSONNEL COSTS 91,352,284 90,590,294 761,990
COSTS FROM CURRENT OPERATIONS 56,101,694 55,147,582 954,112
AMORTISATION, DEPRECIATION AND WRITE-DOWNS 16,310,390 17,290,058 (979,668)
PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES 8,325 1,297,064 (1,288,739)
SUNDRY OPERATING EXPENSES 297,062 271,904 25,158
TOTAL 164,069,755 164,596,902 (527,147)

PERSONNEL COSTS (VIII.)
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Costs for research and teaching staff 65,296,396 64,663,546 632,850
Costs for managerial and technical-administrative staff 26,055,888 25,926,748 129,140
TOTAL 91,352,284 90,590,294 761,990

Costs for research and teaching staff  (VIII.1.)
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
a) Professors/assistant professors 46,577,836 46,315,562 262,274
b) Scientific assistance (collaborators, research fellows..) 13,322,645 13,207,428 115,217
c) Professors under fixed-term contracts 1,516,679 1,416,510 100,169
d) Language Experts 1,488,537 1,507,576 (19,039)
e) Other teaching and research staff 2,390,699 2,216,470 174,229
TOTAL 65,296,396 64,663,546 632,850

Professors/assistant professors (VIII.1.a.)
2015 2014

Description Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Change

Wages for teaching 
staff 27,460,147 8,143,588 35,603,735 25,714,168 7,427,620 33,141,788 2,461,947

Wages for assistant 
professors 6,909,654 1,835,884 8,745,538 8,419,874 2,474,840 10,894,714 (2,149,176)

Other expenses for 
teaching staff and 
assistant professors

1,967,637 260,926 2,228,563 2,012,261 266,799 2,279,060 (50,497)

TOTAL 36,337,438 10,240,398 46,577,836 36,146,302 10,169,259 46,315,562 262,274

Other expenses for teaching and research staff are broken down as follows:
Description Fees 2015 Fees 2014 Change
Third-party payments 913,111 945,996 (32,885)
Supply teaching 365,917 332,399 33,518
Assignment allowance and fees for university committees 313,456 309,572 3,884
Other teaching activities 258,178 374,728 (116,550)
Fees for examining boards 59,198 34,785 24,413
Other costs 57,777 14,781 42,996 
TOTAL 1,967,637 2,012,261 (44,624)

The change in the breakdown of the expense for professors and assistant professors is mainly due to the 
promotions from assistant professor to associate professor.
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EMPLOYMENT DATA
This data refers to employed personnel but is analysed taking into account the actual cost incurred in 2015  
(FTE - full-time equivalent); this value does not coincide with the actual headcount. The comparison is carried 
out with the same data of 2014.
Staff - FTE 2015 2014 Change % 
Full professors 172 176 -2.27
Associate professors 259 199 30.15
Assistant professors 153 213 -28.17
TOTAL TEACHING STAFF AND ASSISTANT PROFESSORS 584 588 -0.68

Below are the data related to the actual number of staff members serving at 31 December:
• Professors and assistant professors: from 587 in 2014 to 584 in 2015.
The number of teaching staff members at 31 December showed, compared to 2014, a decrease of 3 units, as 
a consequence of 27 terminations of employment and 24 new hires. An analysis of the change in personnel at 
31 December shows: 39 promotions, of which 13 from associate professor to full professor, 12 from assistant 
professor to associate professor and 14 from assistant professor under fixed-term contract (Law 230/2005 or 
Law 240/2010 type A) to assistant professor under fixed-term contracts pursuant to Law 240/2010 type B.

Scientific assistance (VIII.1.b.)
2015 2014

Description Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Change

Research grants 8,109,516 1,662,337 9,771,853 7,542,769 1,422,162 8,964,931 806,922
Other scientific 
assistance 3,293,012 257,780 3,550,792 3,836,616 405,881 4,242,497 (691,705)

TOTAL 11,402,528 1,920,117 13,322,645 11,379,385 1,828,043 13,207,428 115,217

This item was substantially in line with the previous year (+0.87%). The increase in research grants was offset by 
a decrease in other types of scientific assistance.
Below is the breakdown of fees by University department:
Department 2015 2014 Change
Department of Engineering and Information Science 2,746,181 2,735,510 10,671
Interdepartmental Mind/Brain Centre 1,804,684 1,558,311 246,373
Centre for Integrated Biology 1,741,389 1,524,749 216,640
Department of Civil, Environmental and Mechanical Engineering 1,699,177 1,645,435 53,742
Department of Physics 715,720 704,626 11,094
Department of Industrial Engineering 629,294 870,254 (240,960)
Faculty of Law 614,755 683,133 (68,378)
Department of Humanities and Philosophy 359,752 384,218 (24,466)
Department of Sociology and Social Research 354,963 564,071 (209,108)
Department of Mathematics 294,908 217,785 77,123
Department of Economics and Management 175,925 183,357 (7,432)
Department of Psychology and Cognitive Sciences 154,543 225,432 (70,889)
School of international studies 108,587 79,126 29,461
School of Social Sciences 2,650 3,378 (728)
Grand total 11,402,528 11,379,385 23,143
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Professors under fixed-term contracts (VIII.1.c.)
2015 2014

Description Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Change

Teaching activities 1,063,631 149,496 1,213,127 1,006,347 94,798 1,101,145 111,982
Renown professors and 
visiting professors 264,703 38,849 303,552 281,735 33,630 315,365 (11,813)

TOTAL 1,328,334 188,345 1,516,679 1,288,082 128,428 1,416,510 100,169

The values relating to teaching activities showed an increase compared to those posted in the previous year, 
while expenses for renown professors and visiting professors remained substantially stable. The overall change 
was + 7.07%.
Below is the breakdown of fees by University department:
Department 2015 2014 Change
Faculty of Law 210,963 233,730 (22,767)
Department of Economics and Management 165,315 178,367 (13,052)
Department of Civil, Environmental and Mechanical Engineering 163,141 160,961 2,180
Department of Sociology and Social Research 129,479 115,616 13,863
Department of Humanities and Philosophy 120,926 158,409 (37,483)
Department of Engineering and Information Science 92,946 80,577 12,369
Department of Psychology and Cognitive Sciences 78,433 112,903 (34,470)
Interdepartmental Mind/Brain Centre 64,298 54,866 9,432
Department of Industrial Engineering 43,569 35,535 8,034
Department of Physics 33,758 22,170 11,588
Department of Mathematics 28,675 24,190 4,485
Centre for Integrated Biology 10,715 9,600 1,115
School of international studies 5,400 2,700 2,700
School of Social Sciences - 3,600 (3,600)
Central administration 180,716 94,858 85,858
TOTAL 1,328,334 1,288,082 40,252

The amounts attributable to the central Administration refer to teaching activities for Active Training 
Apprenticeships (Tirocini Formativi Attivi, TFA) and teacher training (TFA and PAS [Percorsi Abilitanti Speciali, 
Teacher Qualification Courses]), educational activities of the University Language Centre (Centro Linguistico di 
Ateneo, CLA) and Visiting Professors whose funds are managed centrally for all the academic departments.

Language experts (VIII.1.d.)
2015 2014

Description Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Change

Language experts 1,152,100 312,420 1,464,520 1,159,716 321,979 1,481,695 (17,175)
Other costs for 
language experts 19,462 4,555 24,017 20,293 5,588 25,881 (1,864)

TOTAL 1,171,562 316,975 1,488,537 1,180,009 327,567 1,507,576 (19,039)

Other costs for language experts (CEL, Collaboratori Esperti Linguistici) are broken down as follows:
Description Fees 2015 Fees 2014 Change
Other teaching activities 14,100 13,950 150
Other costs 4,184 5,974 (1,790)
Third-party payments 765 369 396
Fees for examining boards 413 - 413
TOTAL 19,462 20,293 (831)

The slight decrease in personnel expenses for language experts (CEL) was due in essence to termination of 
three such experts in 2015, who were not replaced in 2015. At any rate, in keeping with the Stability Pact, in 
2016 new CEL staff will be hired in keeping with the University’s language teaching development plans and 
within the limits of the 2016 Stability Pac.
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EMPLOYMENT DATA 
This data refers to employed personnel but is analysed taking into account the actual cost incurred in 2015  
(FTE - full-time equivalent); this value does not coincide with the actual headcount. The comparison is carried 
out with the same data of 2014.
Staff - FTE 2015 2014 Change % 
Language experts 32 35 -8.5

Below are the data related to the actual number of staff members serving at 31 December:
• language experts (CEL): 35 units serving at the end of 2014, which reduced to 32 in 2015 as a result of 3 

terminations of employment that occurred during the year.

Other teaching and research staff  (VIII.1.e.)
2015 2014

Description Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Change

Teaching activities: 
teaching support 1,281,848 188,892 1,470,740 1,170,937 156,923 1,327,860 142,880

Other services for 
research and teaching 
activities

830,246 89,713 919,959 801,828 86,782 888,610 31,349

TOTAL 2,112,094 278,605 2,390,699 1,972,765 243,705 2,216,470 174,229

The values relating to teaching support activities showed an increase compared to those posted in the previous 
year.
“Other services for research and teaching activities” showed a slight increase. The overall change was + 7.86%.
Below is the breakdown of fees by University department:
Department 2015 2014 Change
Department of Engineering and Information Science 441,521 435,560 5,961
Department of Psychology and Cognitive Sciences 362,808 292,053 70,755
Department of Civil, Environmental and Mechanical Engineering 229,969 247,573 (17,604)
Department of Sociology and Social Research 140,128 144,771 (4,643)
Department of Economics and Management 125,041 112,888 12,153
Centre for Integrated Biology 109,455 144,846 (35,391)
Department of Physics 93,461 78,424 15,037
Department of Industrial Engineering 68,075 42,635 25,440
Faculty of Law 48,056 47,123 933
Department of Mathematics 44,214 52,618 (8,404)
Interdepartmental Mind/Brain Centre 40,938 56,292 (15,354)
Department of Humanities and Philosophy 22,517 27,721 (5,204)
School of Social Sciences - 500 (500)
Central administration 385,911 289,761 96,150
TOTAL 2,112,094 1,972,765 139,329

The amounts attributable to the central Administration refer to activities carried out for Active Training 
Apprenticeships (Tirocini Formativi Attivi, TFA) and teacher training (TFA and PAS [Percorsi Abilitanti Speciali, 
Teacher Qualification Courses]), educational activities of the University Language Centre (Centro Linguistico di 
Ateneo, CLA) whose funds are managed centrally for all the academic departments.
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Costs for managerial and technical-administrative staff  (VIII.2.)
2015 2014

Description Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Change

Administrative and 
technical staff 19,849,009 5,666,455 25,515,464 19,835,121 5,508,973 25,344,094 171,370

Other costs 
for technical-
administrative staff

513,870 26,554 540,424 559,940 22,714 582,654 (42,230)

TOTAL 20,362,879 5,693,009 26,055,888 20,395,061 5,531,687 25,926,748 129,140

Given that the number of permanent employees was unchanged, the increase in costs for managerial and 
technical-administrative staff was due solely to the increase of fixed-term employees hired by using external 
funding or hired to replace personnel on leave of absence with the right to keep their jobs.
Other costs for managerial and technical-administrative staff are broken down as follows:
Description Fees 2015 Fees 2014 Change
Staff benefits 219,925 223,916 (3,991)
Third-party payments 103,167 126,678 (23,511)
Temporary work 101,163 117,404 (16,241)
Other teaching activities 69,431 64,757 4,674
Other costs 11,050 16,843 (5,793)
Fees for examining boards 9,134 10,342 (1,208)
TOTAL 513,870 559,940 (46,070)

EMPLOYMENT DATA
This data refers to employed personnel but is analysed taking into account the actual cost incurred in 2015  
(FTE - full-time equivalent); this value does not coincide with the actual headcount. The comparison is carried 
out with the same data of 2014.
Staff - FTE 2015 2014 Change % 
Managers 7 7 -
Technical-administrative staff 540 540 -
Technical-administrative staff under fixed-term contracts 77 70 10.00
TOTAL 624 617 1.13

Below are the data related to the actual number of technical-administrative staff members serving at 31 
December: 677 in 2014 and 674 in 2015.
The increase of 3 units at 31 December is detailed as follows:
• an increase in staff members hired under permanent employment contracts (+ 11 units) as a result of the 

stabilisation carried out in compliance with the Stability Pact;
• a decrease of 14 units relating to staff under fixed term-contracts consistently with the commitments 

undertaken under the Stability Pact.

COSTS FROM CURRENT OPERATIONS (IX.)
This category includes all the costs relating to the current operations of the institutional activities carried out by 
the University.
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
1) Student support costs 18,767,327 21,650,716 (2,883,389)
2) Right to education costs - - -
3) Research and publishing costs 1,412,298 1,657,293 (244,995)
4) Transfers of coordinated projects to partners - - -
5) Purchase of consumables for laboratories 2,666,605 2,275,528 391,077
6) Change in inventories of consumables for laboratories - - -
7) Purchase of books, magazines and bibliographical material 2,864,309 156,470 2,707,839
8) Purchase of services and technical-managerial assistance 19,891,787 19,024,665 867,122
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Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
9) Purchase of other materials 1,974,228 1,503,685 470,543
10) Change in inventories of materials - - -
11) Leases and rentals 1,574,933 1,803,911 (228,978)
12) Other costs 6,950,207 7,075,314 (125,107)
TOTAL 56,101,694 55,147,582 954,112

Student support costs (IX.1.)
This item reports the costs incurred in favour of students (Scholarships, Aids to students and Allowances to 
sports activities).

2015 2014

Description Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Change

Students and 
graduates 8,471,229 86,018 8,557,247 11,302,311 99,114 11,401,425 (2,844,178)

PhD candidates 8,348,894 1,491,395 9,840,289 8,477,292 1,317,297 9,794,589 45,700
Other student support 
costs 343,411 26,380 369,791 396,443 58,259 454,702 (84,911)

TOTAL 17,163,534 1,603,793 18,767,327 20,176,046 1,474,670 21,650,716 (2,883,389)

Students and graduates
“Students and graduates” reports the costs incurred for scholarships, merit awards and other aids to students.
Description 2015 2014 Change
Provision for awards and services for students 5,258,600 5,605,394 (346,794)
Scholarships assigned to students and graduates 1,948,463 1,878,927 69,536
Fellowships for research and higher education 882,127 850,480 31,647
Other aids in favour of students 209,840 210,887 (1,047)
Mobility of students and graduates 163,481 174,598 (11,117)
Grants for merit awards for students 8,718 2,582,025 (2,573,307)
TOTAL 8,471,229 11,302,311 (2,831,082)

The decrease was fully due to the different methods of accounting for merit awards following the entry into force 
of the new accounting principles. Against the awards allocated, no cost and no corresponding revenue were 
recognised, as otherwise made in previous years, but a direct use will be made of the provision at the time of the 
payment of the awards. As regards the IRAP tax charges, which were included in the accrual to the “Provision 
for prizes and services for students” until 2014, a separate provision of Euro 303,000 was set aside stating from 
2015, which was then recognised under “Current taxes”.

PhD candidates 
“PhD candidates” reports the costs incurred for scholarships and grants for residential accommodations in 
favour of PhD candidates. 
Description 2015 2014 Change
Scholarships assigned to UNITN PhD students 7,579,159 7,325,792 253,367
Grant for post-doc residential accommodations 750,450 999,400 (248,950)
Scholarships for pre-and post doc- students 19,285 18,753 532
Provision for residual PhD scholarships - 133,347 (133,347)
TOTAL 8,348,894 8,477,292 (128,398)

The increase in Scholarships is nearly offset by a decrease in costs of grants for residential accommodations. 
Such decrease was due to the recalculation, in the past few academic years, of the monthly grant amount paid 
to PhD candidates after the cancellation, starting in academic year 2013/2014, of the allowance paid by the 
Autonomous Province of Trento (within the context of the “Fund for the improvement and professionalisation of 
youth - measure 1.D2/ Grant for post-doc residential accommodations”).
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The decrease in total costs is thus attributable to the lack of appropriation in 2015 of the Provision for residual 
PhD scholarships which, according to the new accounting standards adopted, are no longer permitted as they 
do not qualify as provisions for risks and charges. Residual PhD scholarships, carried forward to 2015, will be 
reassigned to the budget of the PhD schools with funding coming from retained earnings for 2015.

Other student support costs (IX.1.zc)
Other costs to support students include compensation for tutoring activities assigned to University students, 
contributions to sport activities and benefits.
Description 2015 2014 Change
Grants for tutorship 190,907 218,942 (28,035)
Grants to the Trentino Sport University System 127,000 149,419 (22,419)
Allowances for sports and cultural activities 20,000 25,000 (5,000)
Benefits in favour of PhD candidates 5,504 3,082 2,422
TOTAL 343,411 396,443 (53,032)

Total costs showed a decrease of 13.38% compared to 2014.
The reduction in “Grants for tutorship” was due mainly to the fact that 2015 was the year that saw the 
implementation of the new ongoing tutoring service, given that general tutoring activities had shown criticalities 
that required corrective action. For the city, in particular, the view was taken that students would benefit more 
from a reduction of general tutoring in favour of ongoing tutoring. The latter services was started in the last 
months of 2015 (at the beginning of the new academic year) and the accounting effects will be felt in 2016, 
when the cost will presumably record the same values as those posted before the 2015 financial year.
The reduction in “Grants to the Trentino Sport University System” was due to an expected decrease in expenses 
reported to the University. Grants are in fact awarded on the basis of the statement of expenses incurred.

Research and publishing costs (IX.3.)
This item includes costs incurred for conferences organised by the University, grants disbursed for research 
activities and service costs for publishing activities.

2015 2014

Description Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Change

Conventions 851,732 - 851,732 991,384 107 991,491 (139,759)
Publishing services 312,713 - 312,713 368,961 - 368,961 (56,248)
Speakers 235,733 1,168 236,901 282,687 1,602 284,289 (47,388)
Sundry research grants 10,952 - 10,952 12,552 - 12,552 (1,600)
TOTAL 1,411,130 1,168 1,412,298 1,655,584 1,709 1,657,293 (244,995)

This item recorded a decrease of 14.78% compared to 2014. The highest change was recorded in Conventions, 
the performance of which posted different values for the various University departments. A significant increase 
in costs at the Faculty of Law (Euro +83,543) was in fact offset by a sharp decrease in costs at the Department 
of Engineering and Information Science (Euro -109,677), the Department of Economics and Management (Euro 
-40,900), the Department of Civil, Environmental and Mechanical Engineering (Euro -38,727) and the Center for 
Integrated Biology (Euro -32,006).

Purchases of  consumables for laboratories (IX.5.)
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Purchases of consumables for laboratories 2,666,605 2,275,528 391,077
TOTAL 2,666,605 2,275,528 391,077
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Below is the breakdown by University department:
Department 2015 2014 Change
Centre for Integrated Biology 1,617,566 1,509,229 108,337
Department of Physics 492,916 249,860 243,056
Department of Civil, Environmental and Mechanical Engineering 168,505 159,416 9,089
Department of Industrial Engineering 167,275 240,916 (73,641)
Interdepartmental Mind/Brain Centre 136,013 75,638 60,375
Department of Engineering and Information Science 75,243 36,745 38,498
Department of Psychology and Cognitive Sciences 3,686 415 3,271
Teaching and Students Service Management 2,533 2,057 476
Department of Humanities and Philosophy 1,449 895 554
Department of Mathematics 1,419 357 1,062
TOTAL 2,666,605 2,275,528 391,077

Purchase of  books, magazines and bibliographical material (IX.7.)
This item includes purchases relating to the library assets of the University. 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Own online data banks 1,600,164 - 1,600,164
Purchase of magazines and monographs 1,264,145 156,470 1,107,675
TOTAL 2,864,309 156,470 2,707,839

The difference of Euro 2,707,839 was mostly due to the different method of accounting for purchases of own 
online data banks and monographs and magazines carried out by the University Library System which, starting 
from 2015, are now entered directly under costs as permitted by Article 4, paragraph 1, letter b, of Ministerial 
Decree 19/2014. Until 2014 these costs were capitalised and amortised in full during the year of acquisition. 
For more details, a breakdown is reported below which includes the 2015 items involved in the change of 
accounting method, which would have been capitalised according to the accounting standards adopted until 
2014.
Description 31.12.2015
Own online data banks 1,596,480
Purchase of magazines and monographs 1,105,554
TOTAL 2,702,034

In 2014 capitalised amounts relating to the “Purchase of books, magazines and bibliographical material” have 
been reported in the following sections:
• Purchase of own online data banks: Euro 1,438,591 under Intangible assets - concessions, licences, 

trademarks and similar rights
• Purchase of magazines and monographs: Euro 1,295,012 under Property, plant and equipment - Other assets
for a total of Euro 2,733,603, substantially in line with the current financial year.

Purchase of  services and technical-managerial assistance (IX.8.)
This item includes current costs for technical-managerial assistance, property management, library services and 
costs for services provided to staff.

2015 2014

Description Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Change

Technical-managerial 
assistance and services 3,543,082 102,544 3,645,626 2,754,493 86,208 2,840,701 804,925

Property management 
and utilities 13,189,887 - 13,189,887 12,673,674 - 12,673,674 516,213

Library services 1,129,410 - 1,129,410 1,186,297 - 1,186,297 (56,887)
Staff services 727,843 3,466 731,309 678,229 2,121 680,350 50,959
Other services 1,195,555 - 1,195,555 1,643,643 - 1,643,643 (448,088)
TOTAL 19,785,777 106,010 19,891,787 18,936,336 88,329 19,024,665 867,122
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Technical-managerial assistance and services 
These costs arise from assistance and services acquired in support of technical IT and legal activities, costs for 
personnel seconded to the University and work performed by students.
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
IT assistance and services and technical-managerial assistance 2,028,738 1,323,393 705,345
Seconded staff and agreements for teaching staff 650,847 579,601 71,246
Work performed by students 519,065 438,913 80,152
Other services and other assistance 344,432 390,610 (46,178)
Legal advice and services - 21,976 (21,976)
TOTAL 3,543,082 2,754,493 788,589

This item showed an increase of 28.63% compared to 2014.
The highest and most significant change was recorded in “IT assistance and services and technical-managerial 
assistance”, which showed an increase of 53.30% compared to the previous year. This change was due, as 
regards IT assistance, to an increase in the costs incurred by the IT and Telecommunications Department 
(Euro +473,203) for expenses mainly arising from the migration of the data centre to the Ferrari Science District 
in Povo that took place at the beginning of 2015 and by the Teaching and Student Services Management 
(Euro +159,687) as a result of increased costs from the ESSE3 Special Project. As regards the same facilities, 
a corresponding reduction was recorded in connected costs for IT services (Euro -191,950 for IT and 
Telecommunications Department and Euro -96,927 for the Teaching and Student Services Management), which 
was offset by an increase recognised in this item.
As regards technical-managerial assistance services, the highest increase was recorded at the Mind/Brain 
Center (Euro +90,989), mainly connected to the Animal Cognition and Neurosciences Laboratory as a result of 
the outsourcing of the management services of the CIMeC that took place in June 2014.

Property management and utilities 
This includes the total of the costs incurred for the routine maintenance of properties, security and caretaker 
service, and all the costs for telephone and mobile phone services (rentals of lines, consumption and 
maintenance), water, gas, power supply and other ancillary services, as well as costs for personal property 
management.
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Costs for power 3,428,298 3,545,558 (117,260)
Routine maintenance of properties and light constructions 2,190,748 2,008,879 181,869
Areas open to public and security service 1,906,166 1,836,660 69,506
Costs for internal and external cleaning 1,886,505 1,990,068 (103,563)
Costs for gas 1,714,232 1,241,758 472,474
Other routine maintenance 860,947 937,383 (76,436)
Costs for waste disposal 339,556 331,138 8,418
Costs for heating 202,547 205,970 (3,423)
Other services for property management 255,112 119,944 135,168
Costs for water 192,655 241,575 (48,920)
Rentals and use of telephone and remote network 106,009 135,184 (29,175)
Services for special waste disposal 66,694 24,667 42,027
Rentals and use of mobile phone service 40,418 54,890 (14,472)
TOTAL 13,189,887 12,673,674 516,213

Costs showed a slight increase (+ 4.07%) compared to 2014.
The increase in gas costs (+38.05%) was particularly due to the entry into operation of the new Block 2 - 
Scientific Facility and the former Ex Manifatture Tabacchi tobacco factory in Rovereto.
Costs for routine maintenance of properties and light constructions showed an increase compared to the 
previous year, mainly for the Humanities department office at Via Tomaso Gar (Euro +148,467) and Block 2 - 
Scientific Facility in Povo (Euro + 90,799).
The highest percentage increase relates to costs for special waste disposal (+170.38%) and was due to 
increased research activities at the centres located in Mattarello and Povo, with specific reference to CIBIO.
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Library services 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Library services 585,914 706,493 (120,579)
Access to the on-line database of the library 543,496 479,804 63,692
TOTAL 1,129,410 1,186,297 (56,887)

This item showed a decrease of 4.80%, which was mainly due to a reduction in costs for library services at the 
Central University Library (Euro -58,971).

Staff  services 
This item includes costs for canteen services, insurance and staff training.
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Canteen 498,196 489,405 8,791
Staff insurance 120,447 118,608 1,839
Staff training 109,200 70,216 38,984
TOTAL 727,843 678,229 49,614

Costs for staff services showed a slight increase (+7.32%). The highest change was recorded in staff training 
costs; the increase of 67.87% was due to an increase in the projects and in particular to the training courses for 
second-level directors.

Other services 
This item includes costs related to different kinds of services requested for the ordinary university activities such 
as IT services, publishing, transport, promotional and advertising initiatives and for other ancillary activities.
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
IT services 405,923 710,769 (304,846)
Transport service 212,187 244,999 (32,812)
Postal expenses and courier service 165,228 148,608 16,620
Other insurance services (not for staff) 106,476 145,798 (39,322)
Advertising and promotion services 87,173 97,147 (9,974)
Other services for institutional activities 79,691 144,505 (64,814)
Services for advertising spaces 70,265 87,673 (17,408)
Other services 40,412 18,667 21,745
Travel agency rights 28,200 25,159 3,041
Expenses for disputes - 20,318 (20,318)
TOTAL 1,195,555 1,643,643 (448,088)

Total costs showed a decrease of 27.26%. The highest change was recorded in IT services, showing a 
decrease of 42.89%. This change was offset by an increase in IT assistance, which has been described in the 
section on “Technical-managerial assistance and services”.

Purchase of  other materials (IX.9.)
This item is broken down as follows:
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Purchase of IT equipment <516.46 Euro 534,880 267,832 267,048
Purchase of furniture and fittings <516.46 Euro 436,928 211,239 225,689
Purchase of technical-scientific equipment and machineries <516.46 Euro 266,772 302,190 (35,418)
Purchase of rights to use software products 217,830 118,737 99,093
Purchase of other goods and sundry materials <516.46 Euro 160,218 166,845 (6,627)
Purchase of EDP consumables 133,471 205,461 (71,990)
Purchase of stationery 128,544 146,855 (18,311)
Purchase of consumables for maintenance 38,444 20,206 18,238
Purchase of concessions, licences, trademarks and similar rights <516.46 Euro 31,822 31,142 680
Purchase of fuel, consumables, tolls 23,329 27,250 (3,921)
Other 1,753 5,562 (3,809)
Purchase of industrial patent and intellectual property rights 237 366 (129)
TOTAL 1,974,228 1,503,685 470,543
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This item showed a total increase of 31.29%, which was mainly due to the purchases of IT equipment 
(+99.71%) and Furniture and fittings (+106.84%).
As regards IT equipment, the highest increase was reported at the Information Systems and Services 
Management (Euro +159,298) and was mainly due to the migration of the data centre that took place at the 
Ferrari Scientific District in Povo at the beginning of 2015. Another significant change was recorded at the 
Department of Physics, showing an increase of Euro 144,396 compared to 2014, which was mostly due to the 
purchase of equipment serving the launch of a scientific research satellite into space, in cooperation with the 
INFN (Istituto Nazionale di Fisica Nucleare, National Institute for Nuclear Physics) in Rome, within the financed 
“Limadou” project
The increase in the purchase of Furniture and fittings was mainly due to the gradual completion of the new  
Block 2 – Scientific Facility and the former Ex Manifatture Tabacchi tobacco factory.

Leases and rentals (IX.11.)
This item includes costs for leases, hires, rentals and royalties concerning third-party assets.
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Rentals of premises and ancillary expenses 870,572 1,010,776 (140,204)
Use of software products 440,575 502,007 (61,432)
Rental and leasing of technical-scientific systems and equipment 142,802 137,942 4,860
Rental and leasing of IT and communication systems and equipment 120,984 153,186 (32,202)
TOTAL 1,574,933 1,803,911 (228,978)

The entry decreased compared to the prior year, mainly because of the item “Rentals of premises and ancillary 
expenses”. The change is mainly due to the termination of rental contracts during 2014, which were not 
renewed. The 15% reduction in the rental fee provided for in Law Decree no. 95 Art. 3 para. 4 of 06 July 2012, 
as amended by Law Decree no. 66, Art. 24 para. 4 of 24 April 2014, which became effective from 1 July 2014, 
also contributed to the decrease of these amounts.

Other costs (IX.12.)
This item includes costs from current operations, which have not been entered in the previous items and 
specifically:

2015 2014

Description Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Fees
Social 

security 
contributions

Total Change

Travelling expenses 3,938,388 2,803 3,941,191 3,987,057 2,664 3,989,721 (48,530)
Expenses for (external) 
institutional bodies 133,370 12,608 145,978 129,400 12,328 141,728 4,250

Grants to local 
authorities and/or 
private parties

1,738,673 - 1,738,673 1,958,589 - 1,958,589 (219,916)

Other costs 1,124,176 189 1,124,365 985,102 174 985,276 139,089
TOTAL 6,934,607 15,600 6,950,207 7,060,148 15,166 7,075,314 (125,107)

Travelling expenses
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Reimbursement of expenses for employees 1,740,415 1,780,203 (39,788)
Mobility of PhD candidates, holders of scholarship and research fellows 1,054,395 1,124,006 (69,611)
Reimbursement to external parties 727,354 625,531 101,823
Courses, conventions and conferences for subordinate employees 255,284 274,065 (18,781)
Courses, conventions and conferences for PhD candidates, scholarship holders and research 
fellows 145,072 153,426 (8,354)

Courses, conventions and conferences (external staff) 15,868 29,826 (13,958)
TOTAL 3,938,388 3,987,057 (48,669)
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Overall this group is aligned with 2014. Below is the breakdown by University department:
Department 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Department of Engineering and Information Science 941,253 1,152,271 (211,018)
Department of Civil, Environmental and Mechanical Engineering 522,968 535,709 (12,741)
Department of Industrial Engineering 434,925 456,545 (21,620)
Interdepartmental Mind/Brain Centre 294,169 190,716 103,453
Faculty of Law 219,813 176,174 43,639
Department of Humanities and Philosophy 192,144 193,851 (1,707)
Department of Physics 191,352 228,199 (36,847)
Centre for Integrated Biology 181,463 163,630 17,833
Department of Economics and Management 170,425 138,655 31,770
Department of Sociology and Social Research 152,968 174,561 (21,593)
Department of Psychology and Cognitive Sciences 129,681 94,684 34,997
Department of Mathematics 105,814 90,719 15,095
School of Social Sciences 61,317 52,341 8,976
School of international studies 41,075 32,519 8,556
Central administration 299,021 306,483 (7,462)
TOTAL 3,938,388 3,987,057 (48,669)

Expenses for (external) institutional bodies 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Fee of Evaluation Group, Ethic Committee, OPBA 42,509 37,149 5,360
Attendance fees and academic bodies allowances 46,950 49,232 (2,282)
Auditors’ fees 28,570 28,570 -
Travelling expenses for (external) institutional bodies 15,341 14,449 892
TOTAL 133,370 129,400 3,970

This item was substantially in line with the values posted in the previous year.
With effect from 2015, this item also includes fees due to the members of the Animal Welfare Body (OPBA, 
Organismo preposto al benessere degli animali) referred to in the Regulation issued by Rector’s Decree 644 of 
18 November 2014.

Grants to local authorities and/or private parties 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Grants to local authorities and/or private parties 1,738,673 1,958,589 (219,916)
TOTAL 1,738,673 1,958,589 (219,916)

Grants to local authorities and/or private parties are broken down as follows:
Description 31.12.2015
Grants to EMECW (Erasmus Mundus External Cooperation Window) project 953,791
Grants to research Microsoft Research 536,110
Grants to TEMPUS project 75,600
University of Ferrara 62,547
Other minor grants 110,625
TOTAL 1,738,673

Other costs 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Other services 927,029 792,881 134,148
Joining cultural and scientific associations 122,872 120,845 2,027
Purchase of goods and services for cultural and leisure activities for staff 48,649 35,000 13,649
Fees for external members of examining boards 23,843 34,802 -10,959
Registration on professional rolls and registers 1,783 1,574 209
TOTAL 1,124,176 985,102 139,074
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The total increase recorded in this item (+ 14.12%) was mainly due to an increase in Other services.
This item includes purchases of Expo tickets (Euro + 53,410), overheads for the operation of the Nursery (Euro + 
39,731) and security Plan costs (Euro + 26,334).

DEPRECIATION, AMORTISATION AND WRITE-DOWNS (X.)
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Amortisation 2,307,399 3,660,893 (1,353,494)
Depreciation 12,574,968 13,627,003 (1,052,035)
Write-down - - -
Write-down of current receivables and of cash and cash equivalents 1,428,023 2,162 1,425,861
TOTAL 16,310,390 17,290,058 (979,668)

The entry includes costs for the year as regards amortisation, depreciation and write-downs of asset items.
The amount of amortisation and depreciation has been netted of the same amount recorded in the item “Capital 
grants”. The breakdown is reported in the comment on the balance sheet as concern non-current assets.

Write-down of  current receivables and of  cash and cash equivalents (X.4)
The Provision for bad debts was adjusted as at 31 December 2015, on the basis of the analysis of the credit 
positions outstanding at the end of the year and taking into account the losses arising from currently available 
and certain elements and information, as well as the risks of non-collection, which are prudently estimated 
based on the ageing of receivables and the historical trend in the average percentage of collectability.
The Provision was used for Euro 78,023 during 2015.
The accrual to the provision amounted Euro 1,418,023 during the year and also included the portion of write-
down relating to receivables from students.
The write-down of receivables from students, which was introduced with the new accounting standards 
(Ministerial Decree 19/2014), relates to the provisions set aside for the non-collection of receivables from 
students, which have been calculated on a lump-sum basis as a percentage of their total value, on the basis of 
the analysis of the two previous academic years.
The main cases that result in the non-collection of amounts concern:
• the redetermination of the assigned income bracket;
• dropouts;
• assignment of partial or total exemption from fees;
• graduation;
• transition from a three-year degree to a master’s degree or post-graduate programmes.
The Provision for bad debts was entered as an adjustment to the nominal value of the receivables entered under 
Balance Sheet assets.
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Provision for bad debts 2,605,000 1,255,000 1,350,000
TOTAL 2,605,000 1,255,000 1,350,000

Below is the breakdown of the provision:
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
1) Due from MIUR and other central Authorities 130,000 113,787 16,213
2) Due from regions and Autonomous Provinces 62,999 - 62,999
3) Due from other local Authorities 150,001 23,490 126,511
4) Due from the European Union and other International Organisations - - -
5) Due from Universities 34,999 29,206 5,793
6) Due from students for fees and dues 515,000 - 515,000
7) Due from subsidiary companies and entities - - -
8) Due from others (public entities) - - -
9) Due from others (private parties) 1,712,001 1,088,517 623,484
TOTAL 2,605,000 1,255,000 1,350,000
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PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES (XI.)
The amount of provisions is broken down as follows:
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Accrual to the Provision for write-down of equity investments 8,325 - 8,325
Provision for Departments’ projects - 210,308 (210,308)
Provision for other risks and charges - 775,391 (775,391)
Third-party provision - 311,365 (311,365)
TOTAL 8,325 1,297,064 (1,288,739)

Compared to the previous year, the year-end analyses carried out to estimate a fair amount of the various 
provisions for risks and charges, including based on the guidelines laid down in the MIUR Technical and 
Operational Manual referred to in the preamble, did not entail any need for additional allocations. The excess 
amounts reported were in fact released for both the Provision for Departments’ projects and the Provision for 
other risks and charges.
The Third-party provision was reclassified to Balance Sheet, as they did not meet all the requirements set out in 
the new accounting standards.
Therefore, the only provision set aside during 2015 was that relating to the adjustment to the Provision for  
write-down of equity investments at the value of the entered for the same in the accounts.

SUNDRY OPERATING EXPENSES (XII.)
This item includes sundry operating expenses.
Below is the related breakdown:
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Expenses for safety at work 70,162 66,105 4,057
Stamp duties 43,764 41,165 2,599
Capital losses, estimated contingent liabilities and non-existent liabilities 39,256 13,135 26,121
Non-deductible VAT 38,761 35,481 3,280
Other sundry operating expenses 37,508 34,872 2,636
ICI (Local property tax)/ IMU (Local single tax) 25,065 14,549 10,516
Entertainment expenses 24,663 50,150 (25,487)
Other taxes and duties 10,463 8,789 1,674
Registration taxes 4,040 5,093 (1,053)
Repayments and reimbursements 3,380 2,565 815
TOTAL 297,062 271,904 25,158

This item showed a total increase of 9.25% compared to 2014, which was mainly due to the item “Capital 
losses, estimated contingent liabilities and non-existent liabilities”.

C) FINANCIAL INCOME AND CHARGES 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
1) Financial income 3,850,954 3,192,568 658,386
2) Interest and other financial charges (16,363,240) (11,994,605) (4,368,635)
3) Foreign exchange gains and losses (10,260) (3,137) (7,123)
TOTAL (12,522,546) (8,805,174) (3,717,372)

Financial income (1.)
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Penalties for late payments 75,218 70,876 4,342
Income from equity investments - 585 (585)
Interest receivable on bank account 626 1,105 (479)
Discounting financial income 3,775,000 3,120,000 655,000
Other interest receivable 110 2 108
TOTAL 3,850,954 3,192,568 658,386
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“Penalties for late payments” relate to interest accrued during the year on late payments of tuition and 
registration fees for I and II level courses (Euro 12 up to ten days late – Euro 40 for payments over ten days late); 
they increase hand in hand with the student population.
“Discounting financial income” represents the financial components of receivables from the Autonomous 
Province of Trento accrued during the year.
“Interest receivable on bank account” relates to the interest income accrued on the funds available on the cash 
pooling account of the Bank of Italy and showed a decrease of Euro 479 compared to the previous year, as the 
University’s cash and cash equivalents decreased compared to 2014.

Interest and other financial charges (2.)
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Interest payable on loans (213,144) (27,351) (185,793)
Discounting financial charges (16,150,000) (11,967,000) (4,183,000)
Other interest payables (96) (254) 158
TOTAL (16,363,240) (11,994,605) (4,368,635)

The item “Discounting financial charges” includes the discounting of receivables whose estimated collection 
date is beyond twelve months. The portion not yet accrued, which was calculated at a 2.5% rate, increased 
compared with 2014 as the foreseeable collection time of receivables becomes far-off.
“Interest payable on loans” amounted to Euro 213,144 and relates to the accrued amount of interest expense 
paid during the year for the repayment, in six-monthly instalments in arrears, of the first two tranches of the EIB 
loan disbursed during 2014. The borrowing transaction is described in the section D) I. 1) “Mortgages and Due 
to Banks”.

Foreign exchange gains and losses (3.)
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Foreign exchange gains 2,793 1,844 949
Foreign exchange losses (13,053) (4,981) (8,072)
TOTAL (10,260) (3,137) (7,123)

“Foreign exchange gains and losses” include exchange differences relating to the services received from or 
rendered to non-EU entities. Losses mainly increased as a result of a constant appreciation of the dollar against 
the euro throughout 2015. Specifically, losses were recorded for transactions carried out with the United States, 
relating to research and teaching activities and for purchases of IT services.

E) EXTRAORDINARY INCOME AND CHARGES
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Extraordinary income 96,901 315,684 (218,783)
Extraordinary charges (115,132) (250,309) 135,177
TOTAL (18,231) 65,375 (83,606)

Income (1.)
The reconciled balances include revenues relating to other capital gains and extraordinary income. The detail is 
broken down as follows:
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Extraordinary contingent assets 96,901 315,443 (218,542)
Capital gains on disposals - 241 (241)
TOTAL 96,901 315,684 (218,783)
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Charges (2.)
The reconciled balances include costs arising from penalties payable and sundry contingent liabilities. The detail 
is broken down as follows:
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Extraordinary contingent liabilities (115,130) (250,087) 134,957
Penalties (2) (222) 220
TOTAL (115,132) (250,309) 135,177

F) CURRENT, DEFERRED AND PREPAID INCOME TAXES 
CURRENT TAXES 
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Current IRES tax 135,267 136,180 (913)
Current IRAP tax 5,666,639 5,391,521 275,118
TOTAL 5,801,906 5,527,701 274,205

The IRES (Imposta sul Reddito delle Società, Corporate Income Tax) amount relates to taxes due for 2015, both 
for advances paid and the balance due.
IRAP taxes are calculated according to the pay method at a rate of 8.5%. Below is the breakdown by the 
relevant fees:
Description 2015 2014 Change
IRAP tax - costs for teaching staff and assistant professors 2,847,794 2,850,421 (2,627)
IRAP tax - other costs for teaching staff and assistant professors 168,280 146,569 21,711
IRAP tax - costs for language experts 95,330 93,973 1,357
IRAP tax - other costs for language experts 1,560 1,869 (309)
IRAP tax - costs for managerial and technical-administrative staff 1,651,778 1,452,161 199,617
IRAP tax - other costs for managerial and technical-administrative staff 20,411 18,053 2,358
IRAP tax - aids to students 414,088 351,609 62,479
IRAP tax - other services and assistance 467,398 476,866 (9,468)
TOTAL 5,666,639 5,391,521 275,118

NET PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 
Net profit for the year amounted to Euro 2,632,226.
Description 31.12.2015 31.12.2014 Change
Profit before tax 8,434,132 9,139,927 (705,795)
Taxes (5,801,906) (5,527,701) (274,205)
TOTAL 2,632,226 3,612,226 (980,000)

RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS
The table below reports the transactions carried out during 2015 with the related parties referred to in the 
preamble:
Name Costs 2015 Revenues 2015 Payables 31.12.2015 Receivables 31.12.2015
Associazione Trento Rise in Liquidation 3,298 855,180 3,298 1,306,501
Fondazione Graphitech - 1,627 - 1,468
Hub Innovazione Trentino Scarl - - - -
Microsoft Research Scarl 536,110 233,276 863,340 128,639
Smc Scienze Mente Cervello Scarl - 171,000 - -
TOTAL 539,408 1,261,083 866,638 1,436,608

Events after the year end
It should be noted that no events occurred between 31 December 2015 and the date of approval of these 
financial statements which were so particularly significant as to require to be reported herein.
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REPORT 2015 - PLANNING AGREEMENTS
AUTONOMOUS PROVINCE OF TRENTO 
As illustrated in the section A) II.2) Grants from Regions and Autonomous Provinces, starting from 2012 grants 
from the Autonomous Province of Trento have been issued on the basis of the so-called “Planning Policy 
Guidelines”. According to the new financing structure there is the obligation to recognise solely the programme 
and building fees of the grants.
Moreover, the report below comprises expenses for projects financed with grant remainders under the previous 
Planning Agreement.
The total of the final expenses incurred, for which the disbursement of grants is required each year, must 
be represented by documents drawn from the accounting records of the period. Therefore, two statements 
were prepared which, where possible, show data extracted from the cost accounting, while extra-accounting 
elements were used for personnel costs that are however extracted from the accounting data (wages and 
salaries, social security contributions, etc..).
All these documents are included in this report and form an integral part of the 2015 financial statements.

2015 Report on building university 
During 2015, expenses related to the university building were covered by the building fees of the grants awarded 
under the 2015 Planning Policy Guidelines, equal to Euro 1,125,000 and by the EIB loan for Euro 8,612,371 
(the loan transaction is detailed in the section “Payables due to Banks”, D) I.1) whose repayment is covered 
by annual capital grants awarded by the Autonomous Province of Trento (commitment no. 315000-2013 and 
commitment no. 315000-2014), the remainders of which are reported in the section “B) II.2)2c) “Receivables 
due from the Autonomous Province of Trento”.
All these documents are included in this report and form an integral part of the 2015 financial statements.

Statement of  the 2015 Construction Works 
BUILDING INTERNAL ORDER ACTUAL 2015
Scientific Facility in Povo (Blocks 1 and 2) 61500058 3,751,297
Former Manifatture Tabacchi - Rovereto 61500067 2,336,258
Physics and Mathematics Department offices - Povo (Block 0) 61500015 1,333,732
Engineering - Mesiano 61500017 657,815
Humanities - via Tomaso Gar 61500055 503,191
Economics - via Inama 61500029 350,772
Local administrative offices 61500030 237,694
New Library Le Albere 61500057 151,971
Fedrigotti Building - Rovereto 61500066 98,923
Research Centres Mattarello 61500060 73,952
Sociology - via Verdi 61500004 62,885
Education Building – Rovereto 61500010 58,711
Rectorate office - Sardagna Building 61500068 39,966
Law 61500031 27,959
Housing 61500063 26,289
Humanities - Via S. Croce 61500028 17,461
Sports Building area 61500009 3,664
Scuole Damiano Chiesa - Rovereto 61500061 2,903
Trade Center - Rovereto 61500062 1,928
TOTAL 2015 EXPENDITURE – FINANCED CONSTRUCTION WORKS 9,737,371
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FONDAZIONE CASSA DI RISPARMIO DI TRENTO E 
ROVERETO (Ca.Ri.TRo.)
During 2015 the resources made available by the Cassa di Risparmio di Trento e Rovereto Foundation 
contributed to consolidate the University’s research activities, especially in the Cognitive Science Area, providing 
funding for professors and assistant professors, equipment and investments for laboratories and expenses 
related to the organisation of specific events intended to disseminate the research performed.
Again as regards research, in continuity with the previous years, the Foundation supported the PhD schools of 
Cognitive and Brain Sciences, Psychological and Educational Sciences and International Studies.
As regards education, the Foundation’s resources were intended to finance the international mobility of students 
and graduates from and to Asia, of the university residence “Collegio di merito Bernardo Clesio”, and various 
high specialisation paths related to the International School of Advanced Studies (SISSA).
The year under review saw the continuation of the activity started through resources assigned in 2013 and 
2014, in relation to certain projects carried out by the Center for Integrated Biology, the faculty of Law, the 
Sociology and Social Research Department and the Humanities and Philosophy Department; on the other hand, 
the research activity funded with a grant from the Foundation in 2013 for young assistant professors admitted to 
the final selection of the ERC – Starting Grants tenders is nearing completion.
Below is the breakdown of the macro-items of expenditure covered by the Foundation’s grant:

INIZIATIVE CONSUNTIVO 
2015

RENDICONTO 2015
FONDAZIONE CASSA DI 
RISPARMIO DI TRENTO 

E ROVERETO

UNIVERSITÀ E 
ALTRI ENTI

TOTALE 
FINANZIAMENTI

COGNITIVE SCIENCES AREA: staff, workshop and 
event planning 5,267,008 600,000 4,667,008 5,267,008

PhD SCHOOL/COURSES 28th 29th 30th COURSE in 
International Studies, Psychological and Educational 
Sciences, Cognitive and Brain Sciences

1,201,098 300,000 901,098 1,201,098

STUDENTS AND GRADUATES MOBILITY TO AND 
FROM ASIA 31,433 30,417 1,016 31,433

University residence “COLLEGIO DI MERITO 
BERNARDO CLESIO” 237,386 78,889 158,497 237,386

SCHOLARSHIPS FOR HIGHER EDUCATION PAT HS 
IN COLLABORATION WITH THE INTERNATIONAL 
SCHOOL OF HIGHER EDUCATION

64,184 61,111 3,073 64,184

TOTAL 2015 PROJECTS 6,801,109 1,070,417 5,730,692 6,801,109
SCIENTIFIC RESEARCH AND PUBLICATION 
PROJECTS (REMINDERS OF 2014 GRANTS) 52,008 48,307 3,701 52,008

AWARDS FOR YOUNG ASSISTANT PROFESSORS 
ADMITTED TO THE FINAL SELECTION OF ERC - 
STARTING GRANTS TENDERS (REMINDERS OF 
2013 GRANTS)*

16,380 16,380 0 16,380

TOTAL PROJECTS OUT OF 2013 AND 2014 
GRANTS 68,388 64,687 3,701 68,388

GRAND TOTAL 6,869,497 1,135,104 5,734,393 6,869,497

*The 2015 report concerning the awards for young assistant professors admitted to the final selection of ERC tenders also included the 
2014 final balance (Euro 4,389.76), which had never been reported.
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STATEMENT OF BREAKDOWN OF EXPENDITURE BY 
MISSIONS AND PROGRAMMES 
The table below reports the breakdown of the University of Trento’s expenditure by missions and programmes, 
according to the schedule set out under Article 2 of Ministerial Decree 21 of 16 January 2014, “Breakdown of 
Universities’ expenditure by missions and programmes”:

total of which: 
direct costs 

of which: 
indirect costs 

UNIVERSITY MISSIONS AND PROGRAMMES 240,924 289,251 (48,327)
RESEARCH AND INNOVATION 106,273,274 64,534,736 41,738,538
Basic scientific and technology research (01.4 Basic research) 100,743,195 59,004,657 41,738,538
Applied scientific and technology research (04.8 R&D - economic affairs) 5,530,079 5,530,079 -
Applied scientific and technology research (07.5 R&D – health) - - -
UNIVERSITY EDUCATION 47,688,469 17,774,332 29,914,137
University system and postgraduate education (09.4 Higher education) 47,688,469 17,774,332 29,914,137
Right to education in university education (09.6 Auxiliary services for education) - - -
HEALTH PROTECTION - - -
Assistance in health matters (07.3 Hospital services) - - -
Assistance in veterinary matters (07.4 Public health services) - - -
INSTITUTIONAL AND GENERAL SERVICES OF PUBLIC AUTHORITIES 43,427,551 22,852,733 20,574,818
Planning policy (09.8 Education not elsewhere classified) 578,746 578,746 -
General services and affairs for authorities (09.8 Education not elsewhere classified) 42,848,805 22,273,987 20,574,818
FUNDS TO BE DISTRIBUTED - - -
Funds to be allocated (09.8 Education not elsewhere classified) - - -
TOTAL MISSIONS AND PROGRAMMES 197,389,294 105,161,801 92,227,493

CRITERIA FOR CLASSIFICATION 
In compliance with the provisions laid down in the Technical and Operational Manual, which was adopted by a 
decree issued by the Director General at the Higher Education and Research Department of the MIUR, file no. 
0003112 of 2 December 2015, the breakdown of expenditure by missions and programmes within the annual 
accounts concerns the content of both the Income and Expenditure Account and the Balance Sheet, for the 
actual increases in fixed assets.
Therefore, no adjustment has been made in the statement reported above in relation to the disposals of fixed 
assets that took place during the year, in the absence of specific instructions in the above-mentioned Manual.
The table below reports the reconciliation with the final balance:

Income and Expenditure Account

Total operating costs 164,069,755
Interest and other financial charges 16,363,240

Foreign exchange losses 10,260
Extraordinary charges 115,132

Income taxes for the year 5,801,906

Balance Sheet
Increase in intangible assets 4,032,736

Increase in property, plant and equipment 6,985,640
Increase in financial assets 10,625

TOTAL EXPENSES 197,389,294
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As required by Article 3 “Principles of classification” under Ministerial Decree 21 of 16 January 2014, each such 
programme is allocated all the costs directly attributable to it while the expenses allocated jointly to different 
programmes are attributable to them on the basis of cost accounting systems and procedures.
The University adopts a management report prepared with actual figures based on specific drivers for the 
allocation of resources which emphasise their use, with the specific objective of analysing the full cost of the 
academic structures, separating teaching from research expenses. This management report is prepared after 
approving the financial statements; thus to classify the expenses incurred in 2015 for missions and programmes 
use was made of the distribution percentages for the latest available allocations of costs (University Financial 
Statements 2014).
The criteria adopted were as follows:
• The “Applied technology and scientific research” programme shows the cost of projects by activity on behalf 

of third parties, which is recognised against an entry in the Income and Expenditure Account as “Revenues 
from commissioned research projects and technology transfer”. All the remaining research costs, both direct 
(projects, University grants, PhD programmes, etc.) and indirect (personnel costs, utilities, IT services and 
other services) are attributed to the “Basic technology and scientific research” programme;

• All teaching costs have been included in the “University system and postgraduate education” programme; 
there are no costs related to the “Right to education in university education” as this function is not performed 
by the University but by Opera Universitaria;

• Investments in building works, property maintenance costs and depreciation rates are attributed to 
programmes on the basis of their intended use, taking account of the spaces used by the various 
departments for administration, teaching and research purposes;

• In accordance with the provisions laid down in the Technical and Operational Manual, of the total costs for 
assistant professors 25% is allocated to the “University system and postgraduate education” programme 
and 75% to the “Basic technology and scientific research” programme, while the cost of teaching staff is split 
equally between the two programmes;

• The “Governance Guidelines” Programme includes the expenses related to the occupational allowances, 
including those of directors of Departments and Centres, fees and compensation for participating in 
governance bodies and any other directly-correlated expense;

• Any expenses incurred by the operating and service structures that cannot be attributed to other specific 
programmes are allocated to the “General services and affairs for authorities” programme.
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UNIVERSITY UNIFIED STATEMENT  
OF FINANCIAL ACCOUNTING 

INCOME INITIAL 2015 
BUDGET CHANGES ADJUSTED 

2015 BUDGET 

2015 FINAL 
BALANCE - 

ASSESSMENTS 

2015  
RECEIPTS

ACCRUED 
GRANTS 

ASSIGNED 
BUT NOT 

COLLECTED 
BUDGET FROM 
PREVIOUS YEAR - - - - - -

E.I CURRENT INCOME 211,774,956 23,808,337 235,583,293 174,110,153 115,072,032 59,038,121
E.I.i Grant income 18,787,084 404,152 19,191,236 21,522,387 21,022,209 500,178

E.I.ii Income from current 
grants 190,262,976 21,948,203 212,211,179 144,584,871 92,883,264 51,701,607

E.I.ii.1 from MIUR and other 
central authorities 9,459,920 3,118,389 12,578,309 3,754,404 3,818,338 (63,934)

E.I.ii.2 from Regions and 
Autonomous Provinces 122,989,898 3,978,996 126,968,894 116,221,866 71,063,472 45,158,394

E.I.ii.3 from other local authorities 1,210,266 2,470,056 3,680,322 2,508,581 762,463 1,746,118

E.I.ii.4
from the European Union 
and other International 
Organisations 

34,333,775 11,002,470 45,336,245 12,783,979 13,085,603 (301,624)

E.I.ii.5 from Universities 637,443 955,321 1,592,764 601,651 191,529 410,122
E.I.ii.6 from others (public entities) 4,102,640 (4,102,640) - - - -
E.I.ii.7 from others (private parties) 17,529,034 4,525,611 22,054,645 8,714,390 3,961,859 4,752,531
E.I.iii Other Income 2,724,896 1,455,982 4,180,878 8,002,895 1,166,559 6,836,336
E.II CAPITAL INCOME 29,481,199 (2,360,794) 27,120,405 11,018,376 11,018,376 -
E.II.i Disposal of assets - - - - - -

E.II.ii Income from capital 
transfers - - - - - -

E.II.ii.1 from MIUR and other 
central authorities - - - - - -

E.II.ii.2 from Regions and 
Autonomous Provinces - - - - - -

E.II.ii.3 from other local authorities - - - - - -

E.II.ii.4
from the European Union 
and other International 
Organisations 

- - - - - -

E.II.ii.5 from Universities - - - - - -
E.II.ii.6 from others (public entities) - - - - - -
E.II.ii.7 from others (private parties) - - - - - -

E.II.iii Income from grants to 
investments 29,481,199 (2,360,794) 27,120,405 11,018,376 11,018,376 -

E.II.iii.1 from MIUR and other 
central authorities - - - - - -

E.II.iii.2 from Regions and 
Autonomous Provinces 29,451,199 (2,330,794) 27,120,405 11,018,376 11,018,376

E.II.iii.3 from other local authorities - - - - - -

E.II.iii.4
from the European Union 
and other International 
Organisations 

- - - - - -

E.II.iii.5 from Universities - - - - - -
E.II.iii.6 from others (public entities) - - - - - -
E.II.iii.7 from others (private parties) 30,000 (30,000) - - - -

E.III
INCOME FROM 
REDUCTIONS IN 
FINANCIAL ASSETS 

- - - - - -

E.III.i Disposals of financial 
assets - - - - - -

E.III.ii Debt collection - - - - - -

E.III.iii
Other income for 
reductions in financial 
assets 

- - - - - -

E.IV NEW LOANS - 3,000,000 3,000,000 2,401,954 2,401,954 -
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INCOME INITIAL 2015 
BUDGET CHANGES ADJUSTED 

2015 BUDGET 

2015 FINAL 
BALANCE - 

ASSESSMENTS 

2015  
RECEIPTS

ACCRUED 
GRANTS 

ASSIGNED 
BUT NOT 

COLLECTED 

E.V ADVANCES FROM THE 
COLLECTING INSTITUTE - - - - - -

E.VI
CLEARING ENTRIES AND 
INCOME ON BEHALF OF 
THIRD PARTIES

(12,793,105) 12,793,105 - 7,934,306 7,934,306 -

TOTAL INCOME 228,463,050 37,240,648 265,703,698 195,464,789 136,426,668 59,038,121

EXPENDITURE INITIAL 2015 
BUDGET CHANGES ADJUSTED 

2015 BUDGET 

2015 FINAL 
BALANCE - 

COMMITMENTS 

2015  
RECEIPTS

ACCRUED 
GRANTS 

ASSIGNED 
AND 

COLLECTED 
BUDGET DEFICIT FROM 
PREVIOUS YEAR - - - - - -

U.I CURRENT EXPENDITURE 226,272,230 9,056,274 235,328,504 171,254,427 134,808,654 36,445,773
U.I.i Personnel costs 174,766,384 6,895,891 181,662,275 96,841,738 91,207,311 5,634,427

U.I.i.1
professors and assistant 
professors under open-
ended contracts

47,060,537 2,107,328 49,167,865 45,639,730 43,357,743 2,281,987

U.I.i.2
technical and 
administrative staff under 
open-ended contracts

24,510,536 381,548 24,892,084 24,107,960 22,661,482 1,446,478

U.I.i.3
professors and assistant 
professors under fixed-
term contracts

4,690,700 14,033 4,704,733 5,539,607 5,262,627 276,980

U.I.i.4
technical and 
administrative staff under 
fixed-term contracts

3,871,286 (698,185) 3,173,101 3,620,116 3,402,909 217,207

U.I.i.5 grants payable by the entity - - - - - -

U.I.i.6 other staff and related 
charges 94,633,325 5,091,167 99,724,492 17,934,325 16,522,550 1,411,775

U.I.ii Aids to students 7,284,652 9,954,360 17,239,012 19,181,415 15,835,193 3,346,222

U.I.iii Consumables, services 
and other expenses 44,147,994 (7,720,777) 36,427,217 55,231,274 27,766,150 27,465,124

U.I.iii.1 consumables and services 23,742,146 2,873,586 26,615,732 28,561,374 20,235,814 8,325,560
U.I.iii..2 other expenses 20,405,848 (10,594,363) 9,811,485 26,669,900 7,530,336 19,139,564
U.I.iiii Current grants 73,200 (73,200) - - - -

U.II.iiii.1 to MIUR and other central 
authorities - - - - - -

U.II.iiii.2 to Regions and 
Autonomous Provinces - - - - - -

U.II.iiii.3 to other local authorities - - - - - -

U.II.iiii.4
to the European Union 
and other International 
Organisations 

- - - - - -

U.II.iiii.5 to Universities 73,200 (73,200) - - - -
U.II.iiii.6 to others (public entities) - - - - - -
U.II.iiii.7 to others (private parties) - - - - - -

U.II Payments to the 
National Budget - - - - - -

U.III CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 29,481,199 (2,360,795) 27,120,404 11,018,376 6,387,905 4,630,471
U.III.i Research investments 2,180,000 (149,018) 2,030,982 2,320,725 - 2,320,725

U.III.ii Acquisition of durable 
goods 27,301,199 (2,211,777) 25,089,422 8,697,651 6,387,905 2,309,746

U.III.iii Capital transfers - - - - - -

U.III.iii.1 to MIUR and other central 
authorities - - - - - -

U.III.iii.2 to Regions and 
Autonomous Provinces - - - - - -

U.III.iii.3 to other local authorities - - - - - -



77  
University of Trento 
Unified University Financial Statements 2015

EXPENDITURE INITIAL 2015 
BUDGET CHANGES ADJUSTED 

2015 BUDGET 

2015 FINAL 
BALANCE - 

COMMITMENTS 

2015  
RECEIPTS

ACCRUED 
GRANTS 

ASSIGNED 
AND 

COLLECTED 

U.II.iii.4
to the European Union 
and other International 
Organisations 

- - - - - -

U.III.iii.5 to Universities - - - - - -
U.III.iii.6 to others (public entities) - - - - - -
U.III.iii.7 to others (private parties) - - - - - -
U.III.iiii Grants to investments - - - - - -

U.III.iiii.1 to MIUR and other central 
authorities - - - - - -

U.III.iiii.2 to Regions and 
Autonomous Provinces - - - - - -

U.III.iiii.3 to other local authorities - - - - - -

U.III.iiii.4
to the European Union 
and other International 
Organisations 

- - - - - -

U.III.iiii.5 to Universities - - - - - -
U.III.iiii.6 to others (public entities) - - - - - -
U.III.iiii.7 to others (private parties) - - - - - -

U.IV
EXPENSES FOR 
INCREASE IN FINANCIAL 
ASSETS 

320,471 (99,643) 220,828 223,500 215,890 7,610

U.IV.i Acquisition of financial 
assets - 220,828 220,828 223,500 215,890 7,610

U.IV.ii Granting of loans - - - - - -

U.IV.iii
Other expenses for 
increase in financial 
assets 

320,471 (320,471) - - - -

U.V REPAYMENT OF LOANS - 3,000,000 3,000,000 2,401,954 2,401,954 -

U.VI
SETTLEMENT OF 
ADVANCES FROM THE 
COLLECTING INSTITUTE 

- - - - - -

U.VII
CLEARING ENTRIES AND 
EXPENSES ON BEHALF 
OF THIRD PARTIES

(27,610,850) 27,610,850 - 7,934,306 7,934,306 -

TOTAL EXPENDITURE 228,463,050 37,206,686 265,669,736 192,832,563 151,748,709 41,083,854
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CRITERIA FOR CLASSIFICATION 
The University has adopted the accruals accounting as the only model to recognise management events that 
are significant in terms of accounting.
The University’s unified statement of financial accounting is a reclassification of the following items:
• Income and Expenditure Account and Investment budget for the part related to the initial budget and the 

adjusted one;
• Income and Expenditure Account and Balance Sheet (for the only portion relating to actual increases 

in property, plant and equipment and intangible assets) for the part relating to the University Financial 
Statements 2015.

The information contained in the statement is presented by nature, in accordance with the purchasing cycle of 
goods, services and investments as well as the relevant funding.
For the purpose of a correct reading of the summarised statement, it should be pointed that, at the time of the 
preparation of the unauthorised 2015 Unified University Budget based on financial accounting, the University 
adopted the schedule which is set out under Article 7 of Ministerial Decree 19 of 14 January 2014, “Accounting 
standards and financial statement schedules based on accruals accounting for Universities” - Annex 2.
The first version of the Technical and Operational Manual prescribed under Article 8 of the abovementioned 
Ministerial Decree was adopted by a decree issued by the Director General at the Higher Education and 
Research Department of the MIUR, file no. 0003112 of 2 December 2015. It follows that in preparing the initial 
2015 Budget, in the absence of subsequent specific remarks, reference was made strictly to the Ministerial 
Decree.
The guidelines set out in the abovementioned Manual have partly changed the approach adopted in preparing 
the items of this document and justify, at least partially, the differences between the 2015 budget in its initial 
version and the subsequent columns.
In particular, in reclassifying the adjusted 2015 budget:
• the approach for the presentation of “clearing entries” was revised. No values were reported for these entries 

in the adjusted Budget, thus acknowledging the provisions laid down in the “Technical and operational manual 
scheme in Annex 1: Reclassified statement for budgets and final balances – Article 7, annex 2, Interministerial 
Decree 19/2014 of MIUR-MEF. It is specified that in the initial 2015 budget, in the absence of guidance on 
the matter, these entries had been measured and valued to reconcile accruals accounting with financial 
accounting;

• income was reconsidered (both current and capital) by source, observing the distinction made by ISTAT in 
the List of public Authorities; this is particularly clear if account is taken of the “Income from current grants 
from others (public entities)” which had been entered in the initial 2015 budget, while no value was entered 
for income in the adjusted 2015 budget and in the University Financial Statements 2015. The use of the 
List updated by the ISTAT is expressly required in the second version of the “Technical and operational 
manual scheme” published on the COEP (Commissione per la Contabilità Economico Patrimoniale, Accruals 
Accounting Commission) website;

• for the purposes of a clearer and fairer view, the items relating to the payment and repayment of the 
loan raised with the European Investment Bank were stated, in the adjusted budget, in both income and 
expenditure, under “New loans” and “Repayment of loans” respectively. In the initial 2015 budget these 
portions had not been stated, as they were insignificant in relation to the income/expenditure balance;

• as regards the purchases of monographs, magazines and University-owned online databanks, the adjusted 
budget was prepared by implementing Ministerial Decree 19 of 14 January 2014 and in particular, by adopting 
the system providing for the full recognition of the cost of these goods at their annual value in the accounts, 
without making any capitalisation at the end of the year. Accordingly, the sum intended for the acquisition of 
durable goods was reduced in the budget;

• the result for the year, which was not stated in the initial 2015 Budget, can be inferred from the adjusted 
Budget as the difference between total income and total expenditure.
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The basic assumptions adopted for the adjusted 2015 Budget, as required by the Technical and Operational 
Manual, were also obviously used for the preparation of the data stated in the column of “2015 Final Balance – 
Assessment/Commitments”.
In some cases, the amounts reported in the 2015 Final Balance deviated significantly from those stated in the 
adjusted 2015 Budget. This change was due mainly to the planning of costs and revenues for each activity 
entirely in the year in which the project was started and not over its lifetime. This effect is particularly clear in the 
“Income from current grants”, sub-items “from MIUR and other central Authorities”, “from the European Union 
and other International Organisations” and “from others (private parties)”, as well as “Current expenditure”, sub-
point “other staff and related charges”.
As in the adjusted Budget, the final balance also reports the items relating to the payment and repayment of the 
loan raised with the European Investment Bank.
The difference between total assessments and commitments of the 2015 Final Balance, equal to Euro 
2,632,226, is represented by the profit for the year.
As required by the regulations, the column of 2015 Receipts-Payments reports the amounts collected and paid 
with respect to the data reported in the column of the 2015 Final Balance.
The excess amount between 2015 total payments and total receipts was due to the recognition of personnel 
costs, gross of withholding taxes.
Clearing entries, under both income and expenditure, include the values related to receipts and transfers to 
partners in research projects where the University is the lead entity.
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STATEMENTS OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE - 
SIOPE DATA
In compliance with Article 3, paragraph 2), of Legislative Decree 18 of 27 January 2012, the statement below 
reports the data taken from the SIOPE system (Sistema Informativo sulle Operazioni degli Enti Pubblici, 
Information System on Transactions with Public Entities) at 31 December 2015.
INCOME Amount at 31/12/2015
OWN INCOME 123,463,343.74
1111 Fees and dues for the three-year degree and the specialist degree 18,940,337.37
1112 Fees and dues for other degrees 1,566,174.14
1250 Contracts/Conventions/Planning Agreements: with Regions and Autonomous Provinces 95,442,736.16
1290 Contracts/Conventions/Planning Agreements: with other public Authorities 81,000.00
1299 Contracts/Conventions/Planning Agreements: with other entities 583,627.85
1310 Commercial activity 6,035,217.58
1320 Rates for the provision of services to students 140,321.00
1330 Other sales of goods and services 391,999.86
1411 Rent income from buildings 7,163.89
1420 Interest income 1,196.00
1434 Unearned income from intangible assets 273,569.89
OTHER INCOME 1,830,642.57
2110 Recoveries and refunds 343,940.81
2112 Refunds for seconded staff 339,057.11
2120 VAT receipts 882,706.04
2210 Possible income not classifiable in other items 264,938.61
INCOME FROM GRANTS 35,434,521.55
3110 Current grants from the State - Ordinary financing fund 1,167,736.00
3111 Current grants from the State for scholarships 1,222,313.71
3114 Current grants from the State - Other funds for funding to Universities 1,244,555.00
3116 Current grants from the State - Other grants 194,681.00
3210 Current grants from the European Union 2,316,398.84
3215 Current grants from Municipalities 14,500.00
3222 Current grants from Research Entities 243,152.08
3226 Current grants from other Universities 202,907.57
3230 Current grants from other Public Authorities 26,292.61
3233 Current contributions from families 1,750.00
3234 Current grants from private social institutions 1,320,785.34
3235 Current grants from public entities 222,286.47
3236 Current grants from private entities 456,030.27
3320 Grants for investments from the State - Research funding from the Ministry of Universities and Research 589,503.00
3330 Grants for investments from the State - Scientific research funding from other Ministries 321,895.30
3410 Grants for investments from the European Union 10,639,541.79
3412 Grants for investments from Regions and Autonomous Provinces 11,143,379.02
3415 Grants for investments from Municipalities 121,428.71
3422 Grants for investments from Research Entities 1,485,399.23
3426 Grants for investments from other Universities 48,066.45
3430 Grants for investments from other Public Authorities 139,969.01
3431 Contributions and grants for investments from public entities 145,424.50
3432 Contributions and grants for investments from private entities 1,348,260.45
3433 Contributions and grants for investments from families 30,470.00
3434 Contributions and grants for investments from private social institutions 787,795.20
DISPOSALS OF ASSETS AND FINANCIAL ITEMS 1,980.00
4211 Disposal of personal property, machines and equipment 480.00
4312 Disposal of other equity investments 1,500.00
INCOME FROM NEW LOANS 2,560,270.35
5414 Cash advances 2,560,270.35
INCOME FOR CLEARING ENTIRES, SPECIAL ACCOUNTING AND SPECIAL MANAGEMENT 7,991,067.37
6110 Tax Office withholdings 2,289.47
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INCOME Amount at 31/12/2015
6120 Employee social security and welfare withholdings 50.51
6150 Guarantee deposits 77.47
6190 Region/Autonomous Province collection - regional tax for the right to education 2,040,732.02
6230 Other Clearing Entries 5,947,917.90
RECEIPTS TO BE COLLECTED -
9998 RECEIPTS TO BE COLLECTED FOR CASH ADVANCES (collections encoded by the cashier/treasurer) -
9999 OTHER RECEIPTS TO BE COLLECTED (collections encoded by the cashier/treasurer) -
GRAND TOTAL 171,281,825.58

EXPENDITURE Amount at 31/12/2015
HUMAN RESOURCES 52,126,492.48
1111 Fixed amounts to teaching staff and assistant professors under open-ended contracts 18,914,016.96
1112 Fixed amounts to managers under open-ended contracts 74,619.88
1113 Fixed amounts to technical and administrative staff under open-ended contracts 11,554,449.64
1114 Fixed amounts to mother tongue collaborators and language experts under open-ended contracts 761,180.81
1121 Overtime pay to technical and administrative staff under open-ended contracts 55,857.16
1131 Other additional amounts to teaching staff and assistant professors under open-ended contracts 570,585.29
1132 Other additional amounts to managers under open-ended contracts 10,147.74
1133 Other additional amounts to technical and administrative staff under open-ended contracts 901,715.59
1134 Other additional amounts to mother tongue collaborators and language experts under open-ended contracts 9,354.09
1141 Arrears of prior years to teaching staff and assistant professors under open-ended contracts 26,601.47
1143 Arrears of prior years to technical and administrative staff under open-ended contracts 8,290.32
1144 Arrears of prior years to mother tongue collaborators and language experts under open-ended contracts 4,262.84
1211 Supply teaching and credit facilities to teaching staff and assistant professors 438,110.09
1212 Professors under fixed-term contracts 136,553.17
1213 Research grants 7,333,414.94
1214 Managing directors 57,543.06
1215 Managers under fixed-term contracts 169,398.42
1216 Technical and administrative staff under fixed-term contracts 1,463,930.11
1218 Researchers under fixed-term contracts 2,079,316.18
1222 Additional amounts to managers under fixed-term contracts 28,991.54
1223 Additional amounts to technical and administrative staff under fixed-term contracts 42,823.71
1224 Additional amounts to mother tongue collaborators and language experts under fixed-term contracts 6,827.75
1230 Overtime pay to technical and administrative staff under fixed-term contracts 6,756.87
1253 Arrears of prior years to technical and administrative staff under fixed-term contracts 804.35
1320 Staff under temporary work contracts –temporary workers 88,588.55
1340 Continuous Collaboration Contracts (Co.co.co) and Project-based Contracts (Co.co.pro) 2,797,090.30
1414 Compulsory contributions to mother tongue collaborators and language experts under open-ended contracts 1,270.06
1510 Non-teaching staff training 170,360.21
1520 Meal vouchers 334,872.78
1530 Canteen 99,670.48
1540 Fees for examining boards 61,574.68
1550 Subsistence allowance and reimbursement of travelling expenses 3,565,123.67
1570 Welfare contributions for staff 231,645.56
1580 Work-related health checks 75,390.88
1590 Other personnel costs 45,353.33
RESOURCES FOR THE UNIVERSITY OPERATION 24,526,817.10
2110 Travelling and subsistence expenses for institutional bodies 33,277.83
2120 Attendance fees/allowances to members of institutional bodies 244,226.24
2130 Membership fees 116,805.68
2212 Fuels and lubricants 25,197.73
2213 Publications, newspapers and magazines 14,282.81
2215 Stationery and other consumables 399,317.29
2216 Consumables for laboratories 2,024,984.36
2221 Studies, consulting and surveys 3,045,308.34
2222 Advertising 129,045.35
2223 Organisation of events and conferences 983,256.04
2224 Postal charges 146,257.19
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EXPENDITURE Amount at 31/12/2015
2225 Insurance 250,094.68
2226 Purchases of services for entertainment expenses 20,688.22
2227 IT assistance and software maintenance 919,649.72
2228 Expenses for disputes (legal representation) 17,041.00
2229 Hazardous waste disposal 39,781.83
2230 Other costs for services 2,073,370.12
2231 Expenses for the University publications 314,594.23
2232 Current expenses for patents 237.00
2311 Utilities and fees for fixed telephone services 77,996.55
2312 Utilities and fees for mobile phone services 18,368.98
2314 Utilities and fees for electricity 2,686,596.42
2315 Utilities and fees for water 187,656.74
2316 Utilities and fees for gas 1,181,778.99
2317 Other utilities and fees 1,409,687.85
2410 Cleaning 1,944,900.89
2420 Heating and air conditioning 182,423.66
2430 Ordinary maintenance and repair of properties 2,137,185.81
2440 Ordinary maintenance and repair of equipment 601,690.74
2450 Ordinary maintenance and repair of vehicles 7,652.59
2460 Other costs for ordinary maintenance and repair 15,127.17
2470 Ancillary services, removals and porterage 1,669,500.06
2510 Leases 807,189.74
2520 Rentals and ancillary expenses 223,588.21
2540 Software licences 578,057.04
AIDS TO STUDENTS 14,071,860.06
3110 PhD Scholarship 6,866,817.39
3160 Other scholarships 866,187.89
3210 Part-time activities 513,204.75
3220 Mobility programmes and student exchange 2,095,866.12
3240 Other aids to students 3,729,783.91
FINANCIAL AND TAX CHARGES 5.090.572.27
4121 Interest payable to others for short-term loans 119.45
4122 Interest payable to others for medium/long-term loans 215,778.60
4200 Bank charges, brokerage and other financial charges 492.71
4331 Income taxes 135,267.00
4332 Property taxes 25,065.00
4333 Stamp tax 23,679.50
4334 V.A.T. 4,634,475.60
4336 Revenue stamps 32,416.63
4337 Other taxes 23,277.78
OTHER CURRENT EXPENSES 959,520.33
5110 Repayments and reimbursements 288,645.01
5111 Reimbursements of expenses for seconded staff 567,434.04
5112 Tuition fees repaid and contributions to students 16,623.20
5130 Other extraordinary charges 80,015.29
5140 Other current expenses - not-classifiable 6,802.79
GRANTS 1,677,379.11
6132 Current grants to the University Sports Committee 124,358.25
6138 Current grants to public entities 1,112,663.22
6139 Current grants to private entities 440,357.64
ACQUISITION OF DURABLE GOODS AND FINANCIAL ITEMS 14,519,699.73
7212 Construction works on residential buildings for institutional purposes 7,445,662.28
7313 Furniture and fittings for premises for specific use 434,717.95
7315 Hardware 1,436,253.83
7317 Technical-scientific machinery and equipment 2,442,055.15
7319 Bibliographical material 2,497,219.12
7321 Furniture and fittings for accommodation and appurtenances 4,338.32
7323 Systems and equipment 153,679.67
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EXPENDITURE Amount at 31/12/2015
7325 Acquisition or creation of software 76,021.85
7331 Other tangible assets 9,376.28
7333 Intangible assets 9,750.28
7412 Other equity investments 10,625.00
REPAYMENT OF LOANS 2,401,953.83
8414 Repayment of loans to others - in Euros 2,401,953.83
CLEARING ENTRIES, SPECIAL ACCOUNTING AND SPECIAL MANAGEMENT 56,758,327.77
9110 Tax Office withholdings 14,823,695.44
9120 Employee social security and welfare withholdings 34,291,275.13
9130 Other withholdings to staff on behalf of third parties 481,308.28
9140 Advances of bursary funds 66,000.00
9150 Repayments of guarantee deposits 673.39
9180 Payments to the Region- regional tax for the right to education 361,299.50
9220 Other clearing entries 6,734,076.03
PAYMENTS TO BE SETTLED -
9998 Payments to be settled deriving from the repayment of cash advances (payments encoded by the cashier/treasurer) -
9999 Other payments to be settled (payments encoded by the cashier/treasurer) -
GRAND TOTAL 172,132,622.68
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STATEMENT OF PAYMENT TIMES
Law Decree 66 of 24 April 2014, as amended and converted by Law 89 of 23 June 2014, requires the public 
authorities, in accordance with Article 1, paragraph 2, of Legislative Decree 165 of 30 March 2001, to include, 
in the reports accompanying the financial statements, a statement of the total payments related to commercial 
transactions made after the due dates for payment set out under Legislative Decree 231 of 9 October 2002 and 
the annual measure of on-time payments in accordance with Article 33 of Legislative Decree 33 of 14 March 
2013, which must be duly signed by the legal representative and the chief financial officer.
TOTAL PAYMENTS RELATED TO COMMERCIAL TRANSACTIONS MADE AFTER THE DUE DATES FOR 
PAYMENT SET OUT UDNER LEGISLATIVE DECREE 231/2002: Euro 16,915,557
ANNUAL MEASURE OF ON-TIME PAYMENTS IN COMMERCIAL TRANSACTIONS: 5.55
In accordance with Article 9 of Ministerial Decree of 22 September 2014 this measure refers to the average 
number of actual days elapsing between the due dates of the invoices issued for commercial transactions, or 
comparable requests for payment, and the actual date the payment is made to the suppliers.

Trento, 29 April 2016

Paolo Collini
(UNIVERSITY RECTOR)

Alex Pellacani

(CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER)
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REPORT OF THE BOARD OF AUDITORS

To the Board of Directors 
of the University of Trento
We have audited the unified financial statements of the University of Trento for the year ended 31 December 
2015, the preparation of which is the responsibility of the University’s Directors, while our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on these financial statements.
The unified University financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 have been prepared in 
accordance with Legislative Decree 18 of 27 January 2012 and have been presented by the Rector, in 
compliance with both Ministerial Decree 19 of 14 February 2014 and Article 33 of the University Regulations for 
Finance and Accounting; they are comprised of the balance sheet, the income and expenditure account, the 
cash flow statement, the notes to the financial statements and are accompanied by a report on operations.
In compliance with Legislative Decree 18 of 27 January 2012, as well as Decree 19 issued by the Ministry of 
Education, Universities and Research (Ministero dell’istruzione, dell’Università e della Ricerca, MIUR), on 14 
January 2014 and the Directorial Decree issued by the same Ministry in October 2015, whereby the Technical 
and Operational Manual was issued, the University took steps, upon first time adoption:
• To make the required reclassifications of balances at 31 December 2014 in order to bring them into line with 

the new provisions;
• To apply the new accounting standards set out under Decree 19 issued by the Ministry of Education, 

Universities and Research on 14 January 2014.
The significant effects arising from the transition to the new accounting standards and to the new financial 
statement schedules are detailed in the notes to the financial statements and some aspects of the same are 
presented for your attention in the second part of this Report.
During the year, the University revised the University Regulations for Finance and Accounting so as to make 
them consistent with the requirements laid down in the Decrees referred to above. The new Regulations were 
approved by the Board of Directors’ meeting held on 21 December 2015 and were followed by Decree 159 
issued by the Rector on 22 February 2016, which was issued following the approval of the new Regulations on 
the part of the Autonomous Province of Trento.
In the preparation of the attached financial statements at 31 December 2015, the University complied with the 
provisions laid down in the new Regulations and specifically Article 35 of the Regulations themselves.
This Report consists of three parts:
• the first part relates to the overall functions of control over accounting and administrative operations and of 

supervision of compliance with the principles of proper management and the relevant applicable rules, which 
are the responsibility of the Board of Auditors, referred to in Article 16 of the Statute in force and Article 18 of 
the University Regulations for Finance and Accounting;

• the second part relates to the opinion expressed on the financial statements in compliance with Article 
5, paragraph 4, of Legislative Decree 18 of 27 January 2012, and Articles 18 and 33 of the University 
Regulations for Finance and Accounting;

• the third part relates to the observations made by the Board on the Statement of Breakdown of expenditure 
by missions and programmes and the Unified Statement of Financial Accounting.
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Part 1 

Report on the functions of  control over accounting and administrative operations 
and of  supervision of  compliance with the principles of  proper management and 
the relevant applicable rules 
We supervised compliance with the law and the Statute, as well as with the principles of proper management. 
We attended the Board of Directors’ meetings and, in this regard, based on available information, we did not 
report any breach of the law and the Statute, nor was any transaction carried out which was clearly imprudent, 
risky, or such as to result in a potential conflict of interest or to jeopardise the integrity of the University’s assets.
During the meetings we gathered information from the Directors about the performance of operations on the 
part of the University and its subsidiaries.
During the meetings we gathered information from the Directors about the general performance of operations 
and its outlook, as well as about the most significant transactions, due to their size or nature, which had been 
carried out by the University and, based on such information, we have no particular observations to report.
We gained knowledge of and supervised, within the sphere of our responsibilities, the adequacy and operation 
of the University’s organisational structure, including by gathering information from the heads responsible for 
the functions. We note that the significant effort made over the years to equip the University with an organic 
set of internal controls must be accompanied by careful and constant monitoring and adjustments of existing 
procedures, also in consideration of the complexity of the University’s organisation.
We gained knowledge and supervised, within the sphere of our responsibilities, the adequacy and operation of 
the administrative and accounting system, as well as its reliability to give a fair view of the management events, 
through the collection of information from the heads responsible for the function and the examination of the 
University’s documents and, in this regard, we have no particular observations to report.
The Board of Auditors hereby acknowledges that: 
• During the 2015 financial year the Board of Auditors issued the report on the University’s Budget 2016, in 

compliance with Article 50, paragraph 4, of the University’s Regulations for Finance and Accounting, which 
were approved by Rector’s Decree 175 of 25 March 2008 (in force for the time being).

• The Board checked for compliance with the obligations provided for in the stability pact of the Autonomous 
Province of Trento for the 2015 calendar year, as illustrated in an appropriate report.

• During our supervisory activities, as described above, no other significant facts were noted which were such 
as to require to be reported herein. 

• As far as we are aware, the directors did not derogate, in preparing the unified University financial statements, 
from the provisions laid down in Legislative Decree 18 of 27 January 2012, as well as in Decree 19 issued by 
the Ministry of Education, Universities and Research on 14 January 2014 and the Directorial Decree issued by 
the same Ministry in October 2015, which were transposed into the Regulations for Finance and Accounting 
that were approved by Rector’s Decree 159 of 22 February 2016.
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Part 2 

Opinion on the unified University financial statements issued in compliance with 
Article 5, paragraph 4, of  Legislative Decree 18 of  27 January 2012 and Articles 18 
and 33 of  the University’s Regulations for Finance and Accounting.
Below is a summary of the values of the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2015 (as 
expressed in thousands of euros): 

BALANCE SHEET
31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Total Assets 478,937 457,324
Net Assets (including the result for the period) 61,343 43,273
Provisions for risks and charges 31,038 54,415
Employee severance pay 388 365
Total Payables 52,231 54,850
Accrued expenses and deferred income 333,937 304,421
Memorandum Accounts 142,710 5,199

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT
31 December 2015 31 December 2014 

Operating revenues 185,045 182,477
Operating costs (164,070) (164,597)
Difference between operating revenues and costs 20,975 17,880
Financial income and charges (12,523) (8,805)
Extraordinary income and charges (18) 65
Profit before tax 8,434 9,140
Current, deferred and prepaid taxes (5,802) (5,528)
Net profit for the year 2,632 3,612

MEMORANDUM ACCOUNTS
 31 December 2015 31 December 2014 
Third-party assets held under gratuitous loan for use 142,710 0
Debenture loan for university housing 0 5,199

The Unified University Financial Statements 2015 were audited, following an engagement assigned on a 
voluntary basis, by PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A.. 
The Board held information meetings with PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A., obtaining useful information about 
the fact that the information and accounting procedures behind the preparation of the financial statements at 
31 December 2015 were carried out properly and making use of the results from the auditing carried out by the 
independent auditors. Today PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A. issued its report, which expresses an unqualified 
opinion, in the same way as for the University Financial Statements 2014.
For comparative purposes, the unified University financial statements also report the data relating to the 
University Financial Statements 2014, for which we issued our report on 27 May 2015. It should be noted that 
both income and expenditure and balance sheet balances at 31 December 2014 were measured according to 
the previous accounting standards, while their classification in the 2015 financial statements was based on the 
new schedules. Therefore, the comparison for some of the items was affected by the new accounting methods 
applied starting from the 2015 financial statements.
In fact, as noted above and detailed in the notes to the financial statements, the University recognised all the 
changes arising from the firs-time adoption of the new accounting standards under the appropriate net asset 
reserve following the adoption of the new accounting standards and in compliance with the provisions laid down 
under the abovementioned Decrees.
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Specifically, we draw your attention to the following major effects arising from the firs-time adoption of the new 
accounting standards:
• Reversal of funds from the “Provision for risks and charges” for Euro 26,741 thousand, crediting to the 

relevant Net Assets items;
• Readjustment to payables due to employees for Euro 1,833 thousand, debiting to the relevant Net Assets 

items;
• Readjustment to advances for projects for Euro 4,000 thousand, crediting to the relevant Net Assets items;
• Reallocation to “Deferred income” for Euro 13,470 thousand in relation to the grants received from the 

Autonomous Province of Trento at the time of the acquisition of land, debiting to the relevant Net Assets 
items.

As already reported in the notes to the financial statements and for a better understanding of the unified 
University financial statements, we draw to your attention that “Receivables due from Regions and Autonomous 
Provinces” include receivables from the Autonomous Province of Trento for Euro 202.6 million (Euro 181.5 
million at 31 December 2014). Any receivables, the collection date of which is expected to fall beyond twelve 
months, were discounted in order to separate the financial component, thus giving rise to a “Net discounting 
financial charge” of Euro 12.4 million (Euro 8.8 million at 31 December 2014), against an entry under “Deferred 
income”, which therefore amounts to Euro 35.6 million (Euro 23.2 million at 31 December 2014).
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Part 3 

The Board’s observations on the Statement of  Breakdown of  expenditure by 
missions and programmes and the Statement of  Financial Accounting 
The Board has obtained adequate information on the basis of preparation and the principles adopted for the 
preparation of the abovementioned documents; specifically:
1. We examined the Statement of breakdown of expenditure by missions and programmes, which was 

prepared by using information taken from cost accounting, in accordance with the instructions given in 
Decree 21 issued by the MIUR, in agreement with the MEF (Ministero dell’Economia e delle Finanze, Ministry 
of Economy and Finance), on 16 January 2014. The guidelines were also considered, which are laid down 
in the Technical and Operational Manual that was made available during 2015 and which provided additional 
detailed instructions with respect to the abovementioned decree. A review of the statement of expenditure 
reclassification reveals the high quality of the data produced, obtained also through a complete examination 
and an accurate use of the large amount of information deriving from the University’s cost accounting, as well 
as from the use of a large number of parameters of reference for the breakdown of all those costs for which 
allocation to the specific functions defined by ministerial instructions for the University is not immediate. To 
that end, for future years, the implementation of specific processing procedures is recommended, so as to 
obtain automatically – inasmuch as possible – the information necessary to prepare these statements based 
on the IT system of the University’s administrative offices. This process should guarantee the comparability of 
data over time and the possibility to analyse data quality, explaining the differences through the modification 
that might have been made with any changes in the allocation parameters and with the changes in ministerial 
guidelines on the subject.

2. We examined the University Unified Statement of Financial Accounting, which was prepared by 
complying with the instructions given in the ministerial decrees. In the same way as for the statement of 
breakdown of expenditure by missions and programmes, the guidelines laid down in the abovementioned 
Technical and Operational Manual were considered in this case too. In this regard, we audited the 
reconciliation with the items recognised in the income and expenditure account and under property, plant and 
equipment, respectively, as regards investments, considering that the collected/paid amounts reported relate 
respectively to receipts and payments on an accrual basis with respect to the data stated in the column of the 
Final Balance 2015.

We draw to your attention that the documents reported in the appendix attached to the Unified University 
Financial Statements 2015 do not fall within the scope of the audits carried out by the Board of Auditors and, 
therefore, our opinion does not include these data.
In our opinion, making reference to the information reported above, the Unified Financial Statements of the 
University of Trento for the year ended 31 December 2015 present the Entity’s financial position, results of 
operations and cash flows for the financial year ended 31 December 2015 in all material respects. 
Therefore, the Board of Auditors gives a favourable opinion on the approval of the Unified University Financial 
Statements 2015.

Trento, 28 April 2016

The Board of Auditors 

Signed: Maria Teresa Bernelli
Signed: Daniela Collesi
Signed: Marco Bernardis
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UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI TRENTO
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT

To the Board of Directors of

Università degli Studi di Trento

Report on the financial statements

We have audited, following an engagement assigned on a voluntary basis, the accompanying 
Unified University Financial Statements of Università degli Studi di Trento (hereinafter also 
the “University”), which comprise the balance sheet as of 31 December 2015, the income and 
expenditure account for the year then ended, the cash flow statement as of 31 December 2015 and 
related notes.

Directors’ responsibility for the Unified University Financial Statements 

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the Unified University Financial Statements 
that give a true and fair view in compliance with the Italian laws governing the criteria for their 
preparation, including the provisions of Decree no. 19 of 14 January 2014 issued by the Ministry 
of Education, Universities and Research in concert with the Ministry of Economy and Finance 
setting out “Accounting principles and financial statements schemes under accruals accounting for 
universities”.

Auditors’ responsibility

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Unified University Financial Statements based 
on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISA 
Italia) drawn up pursuant to article 11, paragraph 3, of Legislative Decree No. 39 of 27 January 
2010. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the 
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Unified University Financial Statements are 
free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing audit procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the Unified University Financial Statements. The audit procedures selected depend on 
the auditor’s professional judgment, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement 
of the Unified University Financial Statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the University’s preparation of 
the Unified University Financial Statements that give a true and fair view, in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the University’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating 
the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
made by the directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the Unified University 
Financial Statements.
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our audit opinion.

Opinion

In our opinion, the Unified University Financial Statements give a true and fair view of the 
financial position of Università degli Studi di Trento as of 31 December 2015 and of the result of 
its operations for the year then ended in compliance with the Italian laws governing the criteria 
for their preparation, including the provisions of Decree no. 19 of 14 January 2014 issued by the 
Ministry of Education, Universities and Research in concert with the Ministry of Economy and 
Finance setting out “Accounting principles and financial statements schemes under accruals 
accounting for universities”.

Other Aspects

a. This report is not issued in accordance with Italian law, inasmuch as, as laid down in article 5 
of Legislative Decree no. 18 of 27 January 2012, the control over the correspondence of the 
Unified University Financial Statements with the accounting records as well as the evaluations 
and opinions on the administrative and accounting regularity lie with another party different 
from our audit firm.

b. The following annexes are included in the Unified University Financial Statements: (i) the 
statement of breakdown of expenditure by missions and programmes, (ii) the University 
unified statement of financial accounting, (iii) the report 2015 and planning agreements, (iv) the 
statement of income and expenditure of SIOPE data and (v) the statement of payment times. 
Our opinion on the Unified University Financial Statements as of 31 December 2015 does not 
extend to those data.

Trento, 28 April 2016

PricewaterhouseCoopers SpA

Signed by

Alberto Michelotti

(Partner)

This report has been translated into English from the Italian original solely for the convenience of 
international readers.
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